


0-8160-3275-0 $24.95 US 

$31.95 CAN 

Nine hundred years ago Christian Europe 

was seized by a fever that changed the 

world. Inspired by a Pope who offered 

rewards on earth and a certain place in 

paradise thereafter, tens of thousands of 

men, women and children - knights and 

peasants, rich and poor, old and young - 

set out for the Holy Land to recapture the 

Holy City, Jerusalem, and save their 

fellow Christians from persecution by 

the Infidel. 

Crusades, and the television series which 

this book accompanies, tell the dramatic 

story of these events, and the reality 

behind the myths: of Popes motivated by 

greed as well as faith; of power-hungry 

nobles and pilgrims on Crusade who 

murdered, robbed and raped not only 

Muslims but Jews and Christians also; 

of the great kings of the West such as 

Richard the Lion-heart of England, Philip 

Augustus of France and Frederick 

Barbarossa of Germany, who became the 

very stuff of legends; and of Arab heroes, 

Zengi, Nur ed-Din and Saladin, who 

faced the Christian onslaught often with 

much greater tolerance than their 

enemies until finally the Crusaders were 

driven out of the Holy Land. 

This story of battles and betrayals, 

drama and intrigue, is told with wit and 

clarity, and is magnificently illustrated 

throughout in color. The authors show 

how the Europeans used the morality 

of the Crusades to justify the conquest 

and destruction of any society which 

stood in their way, sowing the seeds of 

fear, suspicion and even hatred in the 

Arab world - a legacy which remains 

to this day. 
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Frontispiece 

Pope Urban 11 at Clermont Cathedral in 1095 

preaching the sermon that launched the First Crusade. 

This illustration comes from a French illustrated 

manuscript, Les Passages faits Outremer par les Francis 

contre les Turcs et autres Sarrasins et Maures outremarins, 

produced about 1490. Like all medieval illustrations, 

it is not concerned with literal accuracy. In reality, 

Clermont Cathedral was unfinished in 1095 and was 

too small to hold the crowd that attended. Urban 

preached in the open air. 
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Introduction 

The eleventlvcentury Syrian poet Abu T’Ala abMaarri wrote: 

The world is divided into two sects: 

Those with religion but no brains 

And those with brains but no religion. 

Some forty years after his death, the town where he had lived and from which he 

takes his name, Maarrat amNuman, was invaded by cannibals. These cannibals were 

Christians who had marched three thousand miles on their way to save the Holy 

Land in the name of Jesus. 

One couldn’t get much further away from the teachings of the Sermon on the 

Mount, yet these people were probably sincere in their belief and convinced they were 

doing the right thing. New forces of bigotry and righteous savagery were unleashed 

by Pope Urban n when he preached what later came to be called ‘the Crusades’. 

These forces are still with us. 

The Crusades have never been without a contemporary significance. Right now, 

that significance is associated with the emergence of Islamic fundamentalism, and the 

new confrontations between Christian and Moslem societies in our post^Communist 

world. It is important to know how the old confrontation affected Christian and 

Islamic society and how it contributed to the present mess. 

In this book, and in the television series which gave rise to it, we have tried to break 

away from a purely Eunvcentric outlook and to tell the story of the Crusades from 

the Moslem point of view as well as from the Christian. 

We make no pretensions to extending the bounds of scholarship. This is a book 

for the reader with little or no knowledge of the subject. For those who want to read 

more there is plenty. We hope that this book may be a help in reading the others. 
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1 

The Wot’ld of a Crusader 

F a,. 
and in Jerusalem Moslems stream to the Temple Mount to worship. 

The Temple Mount is dominated by the Dome of the Rock, built over 

1300 years ago. An immense rotunda, decorated with magnificent golden 

mosaics and surmounted by a golden dome, stands over a bare rock. This 

is the Foundation Stone, the rock where, for Jews, Christians and Moslems, heaven 

and earth meet. It is the rock on which Abraham is said to have been ready to sacrifice 

his son: Ishmael, according to the Koran, Ishmael’s brother Isaac according to the 

Bible. It is the rock from which Mohammed is said to have made a miraculous night 

flight to heaven. 

On Friday, 15 July 1099, shortly after midday prayers, a twenty-one-year-old 

Norman knight called Tancred burst onto the Mount with a band of heavily armed 

men. The Crusaders had reached their goal. After three years of marches and battles, 

and having lost perhaps four out of every five who left Europe, they had arrived to 

protect the Holy Places of Jerusalem. 

Tancred and his men smashed their way into the Dome of the Rock and stripped 

it of ‘more than forty silver candelabra, each of them weighing 3600 drams, and a great silver lamp 

The Foundation Stone in the Dome of the Rock, Jerusalem. This 

bare rock is a focal point for three religions: Judaism, Christianity 

and Islam. Until 586 BC it was surmounted by the fabric of 

Solomon’s Temple, from 516 B c to ad 70 by the Second Temple, 

and from AD 132 by a Roman Temple of Jupiter until the 

construction of the present-day Islamic monument in ad 691. 
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weighing forty'four Syrian pounds; as well as a hundred and fifty smaller silver candelabra and 

more than twenty gold ones, and a great deal more booty'. The Moslems fled into the other 

great structure on the Mount, the aLAqsa Mosque. There they surrendered, promising 

a great ransom for their lives and accepting Tancred’s banner as the symbol of his 

protection. Before the sun set, Tancred’s flag, hoisted by Moslems, was flying over the 

most sacred site in Jerusalem. 

The following morning the Crusaders re/entered the abAqsa Mosque and slauglv 

tered every Moslem sheltering there. No-one knows how many died; the Moslem 

chronicler reports seventy thousand. One of the Crusaders reports picking his way 

through a mess of blood and bodies more than kneeMeep. 

The impact of that conquest and that slaughter still reverberates. It began the 

strange history of the Latin Kingdom of Jerusalem — a kingdom which lasted for 

almost two hundred years and which transformed the worlds of Christianity and 

Islam. 

Tancred the Norman 

Cancred came originally from Normandy, in northern France. He was born about 

1076; his ancestors were Vikings, Northmen, and none of them would have been 

Christian two hundred years before he was born. They were a practical people, and 

their religion was practical. Its purpose was to get you easily and efficiently into heaven, 

avoiding the danger of hellffire. That was why they were baptized. Christianity offered 

a very direct route to the afterlife, with firm guarantees, and since the Church also 

allowed these newly/settled landowners to nominate their own priests and bishops, 

the Normans took to it with enthusiasm. 

One of the unforeseen consequences of interesting the Northmen in Christianity 

was that they became keen on pilgrimage. Travel may or may nor broaden the mind, 

but it certainly expands one’s knowledge of which parts of the world are worth 

plundering or taking over. The pilgrimage to Jerusalem became quite popular among 

the Normans, especially on a route which passed through the wealthy and militarily 

weak region of southern Italy. 

Tancred was named after his maternal grandfather, a minor Norman baron called 

Tancred de Hauteville, who had more sons than his land would support. In 1040, 

three of Tancred de Hauteville’s six sons took part in the seizure of the town ofMelfi 

in Apulia. Nineteen years later a fourth brother was proclaimed ruler of Apulia by 

the Pope, and a fifth was about to embark on the conquest of Sicily. 

< 12 > 
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Carving out a new Normandy in southern Italy meant war against two empires, 

one Latin, the other Greek. 

The two Roman Empires 

Start with the Greeks. 

They called themselves Romans. 

The Roman Empire had divided into Eastern and Western halves in the third 

century. The Western Empire had long ago been overrun by pagans in Europe, but 

the Eastern Empire continued. Its capital was New Rome, Byzantium, the great city 

on the Bosphorus. 

Byzantium was also known as Constantinople, after its founder Constantine, the 

first Christian Emperor. The language of the Eastern Empire had become Greek but 

its identity was still imperial Roman. In fact, even today, the Greek word for Greekness 

is Romiosini. 

The Western Empire had been Latin, not Greek, and Charlemagne had re^ 

launched it in ad 800 as the ‘Holy Roman Empire’. Its churches used a Latin 

liturgy and the Holy Roman Emperors saw themselves as the protectors of the Pope 

in Rome, equals in theory to the Emperor in Byzantium. 

Although the city of Byzantium remained huge, wealthy and militarily impreg/ 

nable, the frontiers of Byzantium were crumbling. In the seventh and eighth centuries 

Arabs had occupied central Anatolia, and taken Crete, Sicily and the whole of Syria, 

Egypt and North Africa from the Empire, but between 976 and 1025 the Empire 

reasserted itself. The Arabs were driven back to Jerusalem, Crete was recovered and 

so too was central Anatolia. 

It may have looked as though the Byzantine Roman Empire was being restored, 

but the de Hauteville boys, Tancred’s grearuncles, did not think so. They could tell 

an overextended, clapped/out power when they saw one, and that was exactly what 

they saw in southern Italy. Italy was divided between the two Empires. It was Latin 

down almost to Ban, and then Byzantine Greek in the south. 

To begin with, the Holy Roman Emperor and the Pope were happy to support 

the de Hautevilles, since they would extend the Roman Catholic influence into a 

region that had been under the religious control of Byzantium. 

As the campaign went on, however, it became clear that the Normans were not 

acting out of duty to the Church, but purely in their own interests. They began to 

look more like a serious bandirpower in Italy. The Pope travelled around their 

< 13 > 
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territory and complained to the Byzantine Emperor that the Normans ‘with an impiety 

which exceeds that of pagans, rise up against the Church of God, causing Christians to perish hy 

new and hideous tortures, sparing neither women, children nor the aged, making no distinction 

between what is sacred and profane, despoiling churches; burning them and razing them to the 

ground 

The Pope and the Holy Roman Emperor realized they had a tiger by the tail. In 

1053 the Pope personally marched south with an army, intending to combine with a 

Byzantine army and put the Normans back in their place. The Pope actually declared 

that this was a Holy War, or at any rate one being fought in the name of the ‘patrimony 

of St Peter’. 

The de Hautevilles did not see any of this as much of a problem: they smashed the 

Pope’s forces before he was able to join up with his Byzantine allies, took him prisoner 

and persuaded him to agree that, on mature consideration, it was a very fine thing to 

have Normans in control of southern Italy. Tancred’s family may have been Christian 

but they would never let that interfere with more important matters. 

The Challenge to the Eastern Empire 

’ eanwhile a different variety of barbarian had smashed into the Byzantine Empire 

VI from the east. The Seljuk Turks had taken over central Armenia and advanced 

almost to the Bosphorus itself. 

The vast steppedands of Eurasia had produced, and would continue to produce, 

hordes of horseback warriors who could do as they pleased with settled civilizations. 

The Goths, Huns, Alans and Vandals — the ancestors of the Franks, Germans, 

Lombards and Spaniards — had all come from this immense territory. The bulwark 

against these hordes had been the Caliph of Baghdad. His power had bottled up the 

gap between the Caspian Sea and the Persian Gulf, and stopped the steppe horsemen 

from raiding westwards towards the Mediterranean. But in the eleventh century 

A page from Matthew Paris’s itinerary from London to Jerusalem which laid 

out the journey for medieval pilgrims in the form of a strip^map, c. 1250. Each 

town marked is a day’s journey from the last (indicated by the word Jurnee 

alongside the road). This section starts from the walled City of London (bottom 

left) to Rochester, Canterbury and Dover (top left), and then south from Wissant 

(bottom right) on the French coast, between Boulogne and Calais, to Montreuil, 

St'Riquier, Poix de Picardie and as far as Beauvais on the road to Paris. 

< 14 > 
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Baghdad was disintegrating; the cork was rotting in the bottle. The Turks of central 

Asia, who had already established an empire that stretched from the Punjab to eastern 

Iran, had converted to Islam, moved into Iraq as mercenaries of the Caliph, and 

begun eyeing possibilities further west. 

One clan, who called themselves Seljuks, made themselves masters of Baghdad in 

1055. Over the next fifteen years they began invading Anatolia and in 1071 com 

fronted the most impressive force the Byzantine Empire could muster. They destroyed 

the Emperor’s army at Manzikert and took him prisoner. There was nothing to stop 

their advance towards Constantinople. 

One of Tancred’s great-uncles, Robert Guiscard, saw this as a golden opportunity. 

He took his son across the Adriatic to begin his own assault on the Byzantine Empire. 

As a caring father Guiscard wanted to provide for his son’s future. So he decided to 

give him Greece. All he had to do was conquer it. 

The son’s name was to ring through the history of the Crusades for generations to 

come: Bohemond. 

Fortunately for Byzantium, the conquest of Greece was simply too large a task for 

Robert and Bohemond, and by the time of Guiscard’s death in 1085 it was as far off 

as ever. Bohemond turned his attention back to southern Italy. 

There were other power struggles going on there which could keep a fighting 

knight like Bohemond well occupied. The most interesting was the bitter conflict 

that had developed between the Pope and his would-be protector, the Holy Roman 

Emperor. 

The Revolutionary Pope 

It all started because of one man — Pope Gregory vn — Europe’s first revolutionary 

leader. Before he became Pope he had been associated with the abbey of Cluny in 

central France. Cluny had begun a new kind of monastic movement, committed not 

simply to quiet withdrawal from the world but to the regeneration of Christian society 

in a centralized authoritarian structure under the Pope as Christ’s Viceroy. 

In an age of chaotic violence and banditry, in which the law was simply an 

instrument used by the strong, there was a yearning for some kind of order and settled 

life. Many people, including a large number of knights, began to support the Church 

reformers for the same reason that many people in South America supported 

Communism in the 1960s and 1970s. It offered the only credible programme for 

ending the corruption and violence that surrounded them. 

< 16> 
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Since a knight was trained to understand authority as a hierarchy, with lords who 

had overlords and greater lords over the overlords, he could easily grasp the authority 

of Christ. And, since the Church was Christ’s mouthpiece, Pope Gregory insisted 

that secular lords, including the Emperor, were subject to the authority and judgement 

of the Church. 

On 8 December 1075 Pope Gregory launched his bid for supreme authority on 

earth by threatening the Holy Roman Emperor with ‘the fate of Saulf i.e. the destruc- 

tion of himself and his heirs) unless he stopped appointing bishops and abbots. That, 

Gregory insisted, was the Church’s prerogative. Emperor Henry denounced Gregory 

as a false monk’. Gregory then excommunicated the Emperor, condemning him to 

eternal damnation, and declared that he was deposed as King ot Germany and that 

no-one was obliged to obey him. 

This was spectacular stuff; nothing like it had ever happened before. 

The Emperor, a thousand miles from Rome, declared that, on the contrary, it was 

Gregory who was deposed. Every lord of Church and state in the West was going to 

have to take sides. It was the Emperor who lost. 

The symbolic moment of victory came in 1077, when Emperor Henry 1V humbly 

waited on the Pope in the snow-bound castle of Canossa and begged for absolution. 

From that point on, it was clear that the Pope was capable of limiting the Emperor’s 

power. The de Hautevilles, who were always in favour of weakening emperors, 

suddenly became serious supporters of organized religion. 

In a few years Henry was back on the warpath and Gregory needed military help 

from wherever he could get it. Although Gregory had excommunicated him twice 

over, Tancred’s great-uncle Robert Guiscard went to war on the Pope’s behalf. In 

return Gregory recognized Robert as Duke of Apulia. Two years later, when Henry 

actually captured Rome, it was Robert who rode to the rescue. He released Gregory 

from imprisonment and gave him back his throne. At the same time, his troops 

looted and ravaged Rome, and when the desperate population rose against them, the 

Normans set fire to the city and destroyed the entire area between the Colosseum and 

the Lateran. 

Pope Gregory had been restored to Rome, but his benefactors had demolished the 

city to do it. Understandably, Gregory was profoundly unpopular with the Romans; 

he could not stay once his protectors left and he died in Salerno, the guest — if not the 

puppet - of the de Hautevilles. 

Gregory was shortly followed by Pope Urban 11, who, like Gregory, was a Frank, 

a product of Cluny and was deeply committed to the reform programme and the 
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vision ofthe Pope as supreme monarch. It was Urban who would launch the Crusade. 

He would never have been able to do so without the de Hautevilles. 

The Holy Roman Emperor controlled Rome and for some years Pope Urban 

wandered round southern Italy, dependent on Tancred’s relatives. In 1093 Bohemond 

and his half-brother brought him into Rome by military force. In fact Urban could 

still not get into the Lateran Palace, and it was not until 1094 that he was able to take 

his place on the papal throne — thanks be to God and a little judicious bribery. 

Tancred’s Dilemma 

It was around this time that Tancred was sent from Normandy to be educated in 

Italy. He joined the household of his uncle Bohemond at Taranto. It was Bohemond 

who would take him crusading. 

Tancred’s biographer, Radulph of Caen, paints an interesting picture of the state 

of the young man’s mind in 1096: 

Frequently he burned with anxiety because the warfare he engaged in as a knight seemed to 

be contrary to the Lord's commands. The Lord, in fact, ordered him to offer the cheek that 

had been struck together with his other cheek to the striker, but secular knighthood did not 

spare the blood of relatives. The Lord urged him to give his tunic and his cloak as well to the 

man who would take them away; the needs of war impelled him to take from a man, already 

despoiled of both, whatever remained to him. And so, if ever that wise man could give himself 

up to repose, these contradictions deprived him of courage. 

Given the history ol the de Hautevilles, this may seem surprising. Conscience, after 

all, was not one of their strong points. But these feelings of Christian anxiety were 

clearly affecting a significant number ofknights and played a large part in launching 

the Crusade movement. 

It is worth rereading what Radulph says, putting aside the idea that it describes a 

guilty conscience. It doesn’t. It describes the dilemma of a man with two overlords 

who are giving him different orders. One is his knightly master, his feudal overlord 

on earth, who is telling him to kick ass. That, he is told, is his job. The other is his 

Lord in heaven, Christ enthroned on the summit of the feudal hierarchy, who appears 

to have laid out a quite different set of orders in the Sermon on the Mount. 

In 1095, the year after taking his throne. Urban explained how the conflicting 

claims of knighthood and Church could be reconciled. He had obviously given the 

matter a great deal of thought and produced a wholly original solution. The Crusade. 

< 18 > 
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Preaching the Crusade 

On Tuesday, 27 November 1095, Pope Urban made the speech which changed 

Tancred’s life. Urban had summoned a great Council to Clermont in central 

France and word had gone out that he was going to make a major announcement at 

the end of the meeting. There was tremendous excitement and when the day came, 

the new cathedral was not large enough to hold the crowds. The papal throne had to 

be set up in a field. 

Urban revealed that he had received an embassy from the Emperor of Byzantium 

asking lor help in driving back the Turks. It may be that the ambassadors overdid the 

urgency of the situation. It may be, since they were addressing the Pope, that they 

emphasized the need to protect Christians in the East from savage Moslems. Whatever 

An example of Christian propaganda against the Turks. The decapitation 

of a Christian at the order of the Turkish ‘king’ in front of a golden idol 

indicates Europe’s enduring ignorance of Islam. 
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it was they said, they certainly fired Urban’s imagination and he, in turn, was to fire 

the imagination of the whole of Europe. 

The help the Emperor of Byzantium had in mind was probably a couple of 

thousand mercenaries. What Urban saw in the request, however, was the chance to 

make himself the saviour of the Eastern Church and thus move closer to his goal of 

supremacy over the whole Church. So instead of writing a few letters to the Western 

barons, requesting them to send forces east, the Pope stood up on the rostrum in that 

field outside Clermont, before that vast multitude buzzing with anticipation, and 

made an announcement that would change the world. He summoned all Christian 

warriors to arms in the name of the Church to go and rescue their brothers in the 

East. 

He described, in highly misleading terms, the Seljuk conquests in Christian 

Byzantine lands: 

They have circumcised the Christians, either spreading the hloodfrom the circumcisions on 
the altars or pouring it into the baptismal fonts. And they cut open the navels of those whom 
they choose to torment with a loathsome death, tear out their most vital organs and tie them 
to a stake, drag them around and flog them, before killing them as they lie prone on the ground 
with all their entrails out. They tie some to posts and shoot at them with arrows, they order 
others to bare their necks and they attack them with drawn swords, trying to see whether 
they can cut off their heads with a single stroke. 

(that comes, admittedly, from the most lurid of the accounts of Urban’s speech to have 

survived - we do not have a reliable copy of what he said). 

By summoning an army under the banner of the Cross, the Pope was extending 

the Church’s mantle over all Christendom. This was the idea at the very heart of the 

revolutionary papacy; in place of separate local churches at the centre of discrete 

communities, there was to be one overarching Church, ruled by one overarching 

Pope. The Crusade was to be its expression and its instrument. 

Urban’s army would also rescue Jerusalem, the spiritual (and therefore the physical) 

centre of the Universe. He hoped that the redeemed Jerusalem would be directly ruled 

by the Church. 
Every man who enrolled for the struggle must mark himself out by wearing a cross 

and, most important, vow to continue on his way until he reached Jerusalem. 

Urban’s method of raising this army was completely original; as well as pay, he 

could offer paradise - anyone who took part had all their sms forgiven. ‘Whoeverfor 

devotion alone, not to gain honour or money, goes to Jerusalem to liberate the Church of God can 

substitute this journey for all penance. ’ 
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By saying that carrying out a military/political enterprise would make you a better 

person, wiping out past sins, Urban had invented a way by which every person could 

internalize papal policy. Fighting in the Pope’s cause was not only an obligation, it 

made you righteous. With that one idea, mass political action was launched. With 

that one idea, ideology was born. With that one idea, the Crusade was set in motion. 

Urban did not understand what he had done. 

The Pope's Crusaders 

\dhemar, the Bishop ofLe Puy, immediately rose and asked to join the expedition; 

~Vit had been privately agreed that he was to be Urban’s deputy in construct/ 

ing the seat of the papal monarch in Jerusalem. A few days later messengers from 

Raymond of Toulouse confirmed that he would be joining with many followers. He 

was in his fifties and as the most senior aristocrat involved he expected to be appointed 

as leader of the expedition. Urban, however, would not appoint any layman to that 

role. 

For the next eight months the Pope toured France, wearing a crown and 

accompanied by a huge retinue of Church dignitaries, repeating his message. In place 

of the remote figure of the King, known to most people only from his head on a coin, 

people saw — in the flesh — the representative of God on earth, calling them to war. 

The response to his appeal was quite beyond anything that anyone could have 

imagined. 

The nobility flocked to take the Cross. The younger brother of the King of France, 

Hugh ofVermandois, announced that he would go; like Raymond ofToulouse, he had 

been fighting the Moslems in Spain and saw this as an extension of that war. Crusaders 

also volunteered from inside the Holy Roman Emperor’s own domains; the main 

body was based around the households of three brothers, Godfrey de Bouillon, the 

Duke of Lower Lorraine, Eustace, Count of Boulogne, and Baldwin of Boulogne. 

The medieval world/map was based on a schematic circle, in which a 

T/shaped body of water separated Europe (bottom left) from Africa 

(bottom right) and Asia (the top half of the circle). Jerusalem was in the 

centre of the circle, England on the bottom edge at seven o’clock. 

Assorted monsters were located on the right/hand edge. 

From a thirteenth/century English psalter. 
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Godfrey, the oldest of the three, was in his mid/thirties. He was sympathetic to 

Urban’s ideas and embraced the Crusade with enthusiasm, selling off various of his 

estates to equip a large army. Eustace was not so keen, but was bullied into it. 

Baldwin was as keen as Godfrey, but for quite different reasons. As a landless 

younger son he had been put into the Church, but had a run/in with the reform 

movement and quit. Now he had no job and no land, so the Crusade was his 

opportunity to carve out a new future. 

In Normandy, both William the Conqueror’s eldest son, Robert, Duke of Nor/ 

mandy, and his daughter, Adela, reacted favourably to Urban’s call. Robert put his 

duchy in hock to his brother, William Rufus, King of England, to finance his army, 

while Adela simply told her reluctant husband, Stephen ofBlois, that he had to join 

up and that was the end of it. 

Tancred Reborn 

Che Normans of southern Italy were less interested. In the summer of 1096 

Bohemond and Roger Borsa were busy crushing a rebellion in the merchant town 

of Amalfi. Bohemond had taken Tancred along and they were all camped in the hills 

behind the town, bogged down in a long, boring siege, when parties of armed men, 

with red crosses on their armour, began passing through on their way to Byzantium. 

Tancred’s brother William was among them. And this was how Tancred learnt of 

Pope Urban’s solution to his dilemma. 

Tancred’s problem had been simple. Killing was the duty of a knight but killing 

was wrong in the eyes of the Church. When the Normans killed the English in the 

Battle ofHastings, they had committed a sin and had to do penance for it. But killing, 

the Pope now declared, need not be a sin after all. It depended on who you killed. In 

fact, if you killed the enemies of Christ, killing did not require a penance - it was a 

penance. Holy slaughter could be as effective a devotional activity as prayer, or fasting, 

or pilgrimage. 

Until now you have fought unjust wars: you have often savagely brandished your spears at 

each other in mutual carnage only out of greed and pride, for which you deserve eternal 

destruction and the certain ruin of damnation! Now we are proposing that you should fight 

wars which contain the glorious reward of martyrdom, in which you can gain the title of 

present and eternal glory. 

Or, as one report put it, ‘Soldiers of Hell - become soldiers of the Living God!’ Tancred, 

according to Radulph of Caen, suddenly realized that all his problems had been 
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solved: At last as if previously asleep, his vigour was aroused, his powers grew, his eyes opened, 

his courage was born.’ 

The Pope had also pointed out the importance of rescuing Jerusalem from the 

infidel. He seems to have suggested that ‘rescue’ meant ‘seize and keep’. 

This land you inhabit is everywhere shut in by the sea, is surrounded by ranges of mountains 

and is overcrowded by your numbers ... This is why you devour andfight one another, make 

war and even kill one another... let all dissensions be settled. Take the road to the Holy 

Sepulchre, rescue that land from a dreadful race and rule over it yourselves. 

Suddenly the idea of the Crusade seemed to capture the imaginations of the Normans 

of southern Italy too. In October 1096, a year after the Pope had issued his call, 

Bohemond abandoned the siege of Amalfi and led a large and powerful body of 

fighters across the Adriatic. Among them was Tancred. 

< 2 5 > 



Peter the Hermit, shown here in clerical garb and 

with a monk’s tonsure, points the way for his 

motley collection of followers. He is shown 

without his customary donkey and the knight’s 

horse appears to be his most enthusiastic follower. 

At the bottom of the picture, women react with 

apprehension. From an early fourteentlvcentury 

French manuscript. 
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Of course, Urban had not intended that ordinary people should just 

down their hoes and spades and go on this expedition as individual 

volunteers. That was not how society worked in the eleventh 

century. People were locked into strict patterns of obligations. It 

was necessary for great landowners to accept the Cross and then to 

order their retainers and followers, who owed them duties of military service, to come 

with them. 

But Urban’s words and ideas, repeated by preachers and priests throughout the 

length and breadth of Christendom, touched a chord amongst the common folk. The 

least looked/for response of all came from north-east France and north Germany, 

where evangelical monks began preaching in town after town that people should 

abandon everything and walk to Jerusalem. The most celebrated of these preachers 

was Peter the Hermit (who was actually known by his contemporaries as ‘Little 

Peter’). 

Peter was a small, dirty man with a long face similar to that of the donkey he 

always rode; he went barefoot and lived on a diet of wine and fish. These eccentricities, 

plus a charismatic speaking voice, enabled him to move crowds even if they could not 

understand the language he spoke. Guibert of Nogent, who knew him, said that 

‘whatever he said or did, it seemed like something half divine’. 

Peter’s obsession was pilgrimage. He had almost certainly tried to make a pil¬ 

grimage to Jerusalem, but found his journey blockedTy the breakdown of authority 

in Seljuk-invaded territory. Now he was travelling round north-east France urging 

people to move en masse and re-open the route. 

Pilgrimage was of great importance in the eleventh century. There were good maps, 

and a chain of pilgrim hostels, one day’s journey apart along virtually the whole route. 

<27 > 



THE GREAT ADVENTURE 

<-> 

The Church encouraged the journey as a penance (it got troublemakers out of the 

way for many months), and because travelling in a group of holy pilgrims was a useful 

moral exercise. 

Other preachers took up Peter’s message. Wandering through lands ravaged by 

floods and pestilence in 1094, and drought and famine in 1095, they began to attract 

a following who believed that the end of days was at hand and that they were being 

urged by the Pope to liberate the heavenly Jerusalem. 

The air was thick with future marvels. Europe had been swept by millenarianism. 

It was being said that a huge body of Christian pilgrims assembling in Jerusalem 

could hasten the return of the Messiah; in 1064—5 a party of some seven thousand 

pilgrims had travelled to Jerusalem from Germany. The Messiah did not appear in 

Jerusalem. The Seljuks did. 

Although there is no reason to believe that Christians in Jerusalem were having a 

particularly hard time in the 1090s, pilgrimage had become very difficult as a result 

of the disintegration of authority along the route, as Peter had discovered. Strange 

bands of visionaries, often led by minor German knights from the edge of Christian 

Europe, began converging. Hairs said to be from the tail of Peter’s donkey were 

venerated. One group of pilgrims were said to be following a goose inspired by God. 

These bizarre fantasists were the first forces to advance eastward. They did not 

wait for the official departure date, even if they knew of it. The daughter of the 

Byzantine Emperor, Anna Comnena, did not even connect the Crusade with her 

father’s request to Pope Urban. She believed that it had been conjured into existence 

by the preaching of Little Peter. 

Full of enthusiasm and ardour they thronged every highway\ and with these warriors came a 

host of civilians, outnumbering the sand of the sea shore or the stars of heaven, carrying 

palms and bearing crosses on the shoulders. There were women and children, too, who had 

left their own countries. Like tributaries joining a river from all directions they streamed 

towards us in full force. 

The First Holocaust 

Che first victims of the Crusades, however, were not Turks or Arabs, they were not 

even Moslems, they were the Jews of Germany. 

The systematic persecution and killing of Jews has been such a feature of European 

history that it can be a surprise to realize that it is an inheritance from the Crusades. 

Jewish communities had long been seen as economic assets and were allowed to own 
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tbe Oassacvcs of tb? Jews What is the significance of the massacres of Jews, which were to become 

a hallmark of all Crusades? One answer must be that at the heart of 

crusading lay a deep ambivalence about Christianity and Christ (who 

was, after all, a Jew). On one level, perhaps it was a projection of the Crusaders’ 

own unease about themselves onto their parent faith. They were not really killers, 

it was the Jews who were killers, because they had killed Christ. They were not 

really greedy for wealth; it was the Jews who must be greedy. To purge these 

unclean things about themselves, they must project them onto others who could 

be exterminated. And, of course, the Jews were aliens — so Christ could not 

really be thought of as a Jew. 
Similar anxieties were projected onto the Moslems. Praying to a wooden image 

of Christ could not be idolatry; it was the Moslems who must be idolaters. 

Worshipping the Son, the Father and the Holy Ghost could not be denying the 

single nature of God; it must be the Moslems who worshipped many gods. 

How else can one explain the fact that the author of the Gesta Francorum - who 

came from southern Italy, where Moslems were not unknown, and fought for 

three years against the Turks - assumes that the Moslems were polytheists? He 

has the Seljuk leader Kerbogha swear ‘by Mohammed and by all the names of our 

gods’ - ignoring the most basic tenet of Islam that there is only one God. He also 

refers to them as ‘Christ’s enemies’- again completely ignoring the high regard in 

which Christ is held by Moslems. 
And how can one explain the fact that another famous eyewitness, Fulcher of 

Chartres — who not only went on the Crusade but lived for twenty^seven years 

in Jerusalem, which gave him every opportunity to gather at least a superficial 

picture of Islam - insists that the Moslems worship Mohammed, and not only 

worship him but worship idols in his likeness? All the Saracens held the Temple of 

the Lord [the Dome of the Rock] in great veneration. Here rather than elsewhere they 

preferred to say the prayers of their faith although such prayers were wasted because offered to 

an idol set up in the name of Mohammed. ’ 
The Crusaders had not only taken into themselves the notion that they would 

become better people through violence; they also projected onto the victims of 

their violence their own inner demons. This is probably the most obvious and 

long'lasting heritage of the Crusade. We still do it. 
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Peter’s pilgrim army being attacked by Bulgarians on the road 

through the Balkans. Their white garb is, of course, an 

outward sign of their inner purity. From Les Passages faits 

Outremer..., c. 1490. 
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land, houses and businesses. In 1048, for example, the Bishop of Spier issued a 

charter which reads: ‘Desiring to make a city out of the village of Spier; I have admitted the 

fews... I have thought to multiply one thousand times the honour of our city by gathering the Jews 

within its walls.’ 

In 1096 the Jewish inhabitants of Spier, along with those of Worms, Mainz, 

Cologne, Trier, Metz and many smaller Rhineland towns, were slaughtered by 

Crusaders as a curtain-raiser to their journey of holy murder. The killings were done 

by bands of apocalyptic enthusiasts, loose followers of Peter the Hermit; these were 

people who lacked the cash to go on Crusade and their hatred of the Jews was clearly 

associated with love of, and desire for, gold. There were also some who could not 

understand why, if it was right to kill the enemies of Christ abroad, they should not 

also kill Christ’s enemies at home. 

When bishops defended the Jews, they were attacked too. At Spier the Bishop’s 

intervention saved many lives but at Worms the killers were more determined. Led 

by Count Emich of Leisingen, a petty lord with a reputation for brigandage, they 

invaded the Bishop’s palace and killed some five hundred Jews sheltering there. At 

Mainz they drove out the Archbishop and destroyed his palace in order to remove 

the Jews’ protector. 

The Chief Rabbi of Mainz escaped with some fifty followers to Rudesheim, where 

the Archbishop had taken refuge in his country villa, and begged asylum there. 

Unfortunately the Archbishop could not resist using this golden opportunity to try 

to convert them, whereupon the Chief Rabbi was so enraged that he seized a knife 

and attacked his protector - with the result that he and all his followers were also 

killed. 

Count Emich and his followers, their pogrom accomplished, moved into Hungary. 

They were not the only ones. Another group, having moved on from killing Jews in 

the Rhineland to killing Jews in Prague, tried to do the same in the Hungarian town 

of Nitra but was scattered by the Hungarian army. Another, led by an old sidekick 

of Peter the Hermit, Gottschalk, made itself so unpopular during its brief march 

across Europe (massacring Bavarian Jews for example) that it was disarmed by the 

Hungarians and then was itself massacred. When Emich arrived with the largest 

force so far - and equipped with siege artillery - the King of Hungary decided he 

had had enough. He refused the Crusaders entry and when they forced their way over 

the border he finally destroyed them. 

These bands of German thugs offered easy ammunition to Pope Urban’s enemies, 

who were particularly numerous inside the Holy Roman Emperor’s own German 
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kingdom. Ekkehard, the Abbot of Aura in Germany, writing in about 1115, reported 

that many people thought the whole idea of the Crusade was vain and frivolous. The 

short life of the German Crusaders was seen by some as proof of God’s disapproval. 

But the dominant mood was of feverish support for the Crusade. 

Peter’s March 

In the meantime the biggest unofficial army of all, led by Peter the Hermit, was 

taking the traditional pilgrim route through Hungary into Byzantine territory. The 

first Byzantine city they came to was Belgrade. The Empire was taken completely by 

surprise by an advance group of Frenchmen under Walter Sans*-Avoir (Walter the 

Penniless). Since the harvest was not in, and the local governor had no instructions, 

they were blocked and food was refused them. So Walter’s men started pillaging 

around Belgrade. There was a violent clash, in which several of his followers were 

killed, before the Emperor got his act together and had them escorted to Com 

stantinople. They had set out in April 1096 and arrived in July. 

Peter was a few days behind with a much larger party. It was so much larger that 

the governor of the Hungarian border town of Semlin was frightened by it and tried 

to limit its freedom of movement. Bad temper and a complete absence of discipline 

soon led to a riot in which Peter’s pilgrims stormed the citadel, killed four thousand 

Hungarians and then forced their way over the River Save and on to Belgrade. 

Belgrade was hurriedly evacuated; the pilgrims sacked and burned it. On they 

marched, to be met by an imperial escort which they soon began to fight. The escort 

was left with no choice but to be ruthless. By the time Peter’s force reached Sophia it 

had been subdued but a quarter of his enthusiastic volunteers had been killed or taken 

into slavery. 

They arrived at Constantinople on 1 August, to be greeted by a politic message 

from Emperor Alexius saying that the expedition had suffered enough and the 

pilgrims were forgiven for their outrages. But the Emperor was not taking any chances. 

Peter’s followers were causing enough trouble camped outside the city walls, burgling 

suburban villas and stripping the lead off church roofs. Small parties were allowed 

in for sightseeing, but most were kept firmly shut out. 

There was plenty for the sightseers to gawp at. 

Latin Europe had nothing to compare with Constantinople. London and Paris 

might have had ten thousand inhabitants, Cologne twenty thousand, Rome thirty 

thousand. The triple walls of Constantinople enclosed at least a quarter of a million 
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people. The city was dominated by the huge new palace complex, the Blachernae, 

whose gardens housed a menagerie of exotic beasts, by the Emperor Justinian’s great 

church of Haghia Sophia, whose immense dome appeared to float weightless over 

the space below; and by the gigantic sports arena, the Hippodrome. They could also 

see the collection of holy relics, which included the Crown of Thorns, the Seamless 

Garment, a cloth imprinted with Christ’s face. Saint Luke’s portrait of the Virgin, 

the hair of John the Baptist and many other wonders. It was a pilgrim’s paradise. 

But were Peter’s followers pilgrims or invaders; Alexius could not take any 

chances, nor could he risk Peter’s violent rabble being augmented by even larger 

armies which, he was told, would soon be on their way. 

Just five days after Peter’s force arrived everyone who had come to Constantinople 

was ferried over the Bosphorus into Asia. Alexius warned Peter that he should wait 

close to the shore for more professional forces to arrive, but Peter was not in charge of 

his army. 

No-one was. 

Into Asia 

Che land the Crusaders now entered, Anatolia, was controlled by the Turks to 

within a few miles of the Bosphorus. Most of the population were Christians, but 

they had not felt any need to appeal for help when they found the Turks in charge. 

On the contrary, since many of them followed heretical Christian sects - Jacobites, 

Nestonans, Armenians - they found life much easier under Islamic law. They were 

allowed freedom of worship and found their taxes somewhat lower; their writers, far 

from protesting about the rule of their conqueror, Malik Shah, sang his praises for 

bringing a restoration of order after the chaos ol invasion. 

Sultan Malik Shah had died in 1092. His sultanate was one of the great empires 

of history, stretching across Anatolia, down into Syria and Palestine, and eastward 

Overleaf 

The walls of Constantinople. This restored section 

shows the triple line of defences built by Theodosius 11 in the 

first half of the fifth century AD, which successfully protected 

the city for eight hundred years. It was actually more impressive 

than it looks, as the moat has been filled in. 
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through Baghdad across Persia, Afghanistan and northern India. His power, exer/ 

cised in the name of the puppet Caliph of Baghdad, covered the whole region from 

the Mediterranean to China. His name really says it all — Malik is Arabic for King, 

Shah is Persian for King and Sultan is Arabic for Ruler. 

When he died in 1092, his empire disintegrated into competing emirates. Western 

Anatolia became the Sultanate of Rum — ‘Rum’ being Rome. Its sultan was a 

teenager, Kilij Arslan ibn Suleiman, the son of the emir who had conquered Anatolia 

for Malik Shah. His capital was Nicaea (the modern Iznik), a historic Byzantine city 

less than a hundred miles from Constantinople. 

Alexius and Kilij Arslan were, when push came to shove, enemies, but they were 

not on particularly bad terms. Indeed, it was on Alexius’s advice that Kilij Arslan 

had killed his fatherffndaw, the powerful and ambitious Emir of Smyrna (Izmir). 

They both benefited from his death. 

The Crusaders, of course, had no grasp of the niceties of politics in the region. 

They could not even tell Christians from Turks. 

The horde that Peter now led into Anatolia consisted of Germans, Italians and 

Frenchmen. It was not really an army, though it included many knights; it was a vast 

pilgrim force including many women, children and old people. The different groups 

had little in common; the French quickly quarrelled with the others, who broke away 

and elected an Italian, Rainald, as their leader. The rival groups shared a camp at 

Civetot, on the Sea of Marmora. From there they set about what they saw as their 

God/given mission to torture, pillage and massacre the locals. The snag, of course, 

was that most of the locals were Christians. 

In September the French raided the suburbs of Nicaea, treating the Christians of 

the region with legendary nastiness: burning babies on spits, that sort of thing. They 

returned to camp very pleased with themselves and their booty. Whereupon the other 

lot decided to go one better. 

A force of several thousand, including priests and bishops, marched beyond 

Nicaea to a castle called Xengordon, where they settled in. Kilij Arslan sent a force 

to surround the castle and the Crusaders then discovered that they had made a serious 

miscalculation. Xerigordon’s water came from outside the castle. It took eight days 

for them to surrender, by which time they were dying of thirst, having learned that 

the blood of their animals and their own urine was no substitute for cool water. The 

terms of surrender were straightforward; either convert to Islam (and be sent into 

captivity) or die. 

Conversion to Islam is very simple. All that is involved is to say ‘God is great and 
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Mohammed is his prophet’ and, if you are an uncircumsised male, to undergo a 

simple operation. Rainald, the leader of the gang, decided that the Pope’s guarantee 

of a place in heaven had lost its appeal; he gritted his teeth and offered up his foreskin. 

Others found it easier, for whatever reason, to embrace martyrdom. 

Kilij Arslan then sent agents into Civetot to spread rumours that Nicaea had been 

captured and that the victorious Crusaders were keeping all the loot for themselves. 

This triggered such excitement amongst the French that, even when they learned the 

terrible truth, the cries for booty turned into cries for vengeance and they set off anyway. 

Peter had gone back to Constantinople to try to get some help from Alexius; he 

was not around to try to restrain them. Some twenty thousand men set out at dawn 

on 21 October and walked straight into a trap. They were ambushed three miles 

down the road and the People’s Crusade was wiped out. 

The Turks then stormed the camp. The entire process of destruction took about 

five hours. ‘When they gathered up the remains of the fallen_’wrote Anna Comnena, 

1they heaped up, I will not say a mighty hill or peak, but a mountain oj considerable height and 

depth and width, so huge was the mass of bones/ Alexius sent ships to gather up the few sur/ 

vivors and bring them back to safety. Meanwhile much more menacing forces were 

advancing on Constantinople. 

The Official Crusade 

Che first of the official armies to arrive was led by Hugh of Vermandois. He had 

written ahead to the Emperor of Byzantium to tell him exactly who he was: ‘Know, 

Emperor, that I am the King of Kings, the greatest of all beneath the heavens. It is my will 

that you should meet me on my arrival and receive me with the pomp and ceremony due to my 

noble birth. ’ 

Hugh’s letter may have been written to impress on Alexius that his expedition was 

properly organized and financed, and not to be confused with the rabble that had 

accompanied Peter the Hermit, but it roused the scorn of the Emperor’s daughter 

Raymond of Toulouse and Bishop Adhemar 

on their way to the Holy Land 

being ambushed in Bulgaria. 

From Les Passages faits Outremer..., c. 1490. 
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Anna, who ridiculed it as ‘absurd’. Perhaps Anna embellished on its absurdity when 

she recorded the letter for posterity — but hers is the only version we have. 

Whatever his intentions, Hugh’s arrival was anything but dignified. He was 

shipwrecked on the eastern coast of the Adriatic. The local Byzantine Governor 

rescued the bedraggled Count and entertained him to a magnificent banquet and 

‘fine promises’. He was then escorted under close surveillance to Byzantium. Once 

there, he was showered with gifts and fine words, but he was kept under such close 

supervision that he was virtually a prisoner — a fact which apparently rankled with 

some of his followers but which Hugh seems to have been happy to ignore. 

In fact, Hugh felt honoured to swear an oath, when asked, that he would be the 

Emperor’s liege/man. It would be his duty to return to the Emperor any lands taken 

from the Turks. This was to be the Emperor’s policy to all those who were to follow. 

But, of course, it was not going to be as simple as all that. 

The next army to arrive was from the Channel coast and Lorraine: the brothers 

Godfrey, Eustace and Baldwin with a substantial following of leading knights. Hugh 

was sent to invite Godfrey to take the oath of homage to Alexius. 

Northern Europeans were not generally broadminded people and they did not like 

Byzantine civilization. It was court/based, dense with etiquette and ordered by a 

bureaucracy that had about a thousand years of experience to draw on. Back in the 

960s Bishop Liudprand of Cremona had visited Constantinople and reported that 

in his objective view the inhabitants were ‘soft, effeminate, long-sleeved, bejewelled and 

begowned liars, eunuchs and idlers’. (He had been arrested trying to smuggle Imperial 

purple silk out of the country.) Most Franks and Germans shared Liudprand’s view. 

Godfrey had no intention of becoming the Emperor’s liege^man. He wanted to 

wait for the other Crusading lords to arrive, which was exactly what Alexius was 

anxious to avoid. The Emperor wanted to get the oath and move this dangerous force 

over the Bosphorus before they received reinforcements. Above all, he wanted to 

prevent Bohemond from meeting up with Godfrey’s army under the walls of Com 

stantinople. Alexius tried cutting off their food supply. 

Since Godfrey and his men had expected to be welcomed with open arms (after 

all, they had come a huge distance at their own expense to help the Empire and were 

about to fight its battles), this did not go down at all well. The army responded with 

a little controlled ravaging, and Alexius restored the food supply. 

But the stand-off continued and in March 1097 Alexius heard that more armies 

were on their way. In desperation, he cut off supplies once more. This time God/- 

frey, by way of further demonstration, launched a fulkscale assault on the city. It 
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created panic among the populace and Alexius sent out messengers to say that he 

would transport the Crusaders over the Bosphorus without waiting for Godfrey s 

oath. 

The messengers, however, were attacked before they could open their mouths, 

whereupon Alexius had had enough. He sent out a real army to teach Godfrey s 

followers a lesson. On Easter Sunday, a chastened Godfrey, Baldwin and their 

followers swore to acknowledge Alexius as overlord of any conquests and to return 

to the Empire lands which they took from the Turks. They were immediately shipped 

over to Asia. 

When new groups of Crusaders loosely attached to Godfrey arrived in unruly 

bands over the next couple of days, they were brought to heel and taken to the Palace 

to make the same oath. Godfrey and Baldwin were brought back to watch. When 

one of these knights insisted on sitting on the Emperor s throne, Baldwin had to 

explain to him that he must not be deliberately offensive. Their resentment of the 

court manners of Byzantium was profound. 

Bohemond at Constantinople 

On 9 April, just three days after Godfrey’s army was ferried over the Bosphorus, 

Bohemond arrived. Alexius had just managed it in time. 

Bohemond may have come on his way to attack the Turks but that did not mean he 

hated Islam. Sicily had been ruled by Arabs until his uncle conquered it, and mosques 

were allowed to continue there after the conquest. Indeed, he used Moslems to run 

his administration and southern Italy had begun to flourish with a stunningly brilliant 

melange of Arab science and architecture, Byzantine craftsmanship and Norman 

practical sense. A Moslem source recounts how, when he was urged to attack North 

Africa and Christianize it, the Norman ruler of Sicily ‘lifted his foot and made a great 

fart, saying “By my faith, here is far better counsel than you have given”.’ 

Unlike the Byzantines, the Arabs did not make it quite so obvious that they 

regarded Europeans as smelly, ignorant barbarians. The Normans did not hate the 

Arabs, but they did hate the Greeks ofByzantium. And here they were in Byzantium. 

Bohemond’s army, which waited under Tancred s command some distance away, 

was smaller than Godfrey’s, but it was well equipped and effective. Bohemond was 

about twenty'two years older than Tancred and a striking figure. Normans were 

generally short and stocky - the Germans used to make fun of them for it - but 
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Bohemond was an exception. Anna was fascinated by him, and described him in 

detail in the memoirs she wrote in her old age: 

Bohemond’s appearance was, to put it briefly, unlike that of any man seen in those days in the 

Roman world, whether Greek or Barbarian. The sight of him inspired admiration, the 

mention of his name terror. I will describe in detail the Barbarian s characteristics. His stature 

was such that he towered almost a full cubit over the tallest men. He was slender of waist 

andflanks, with broad shoulders and chest, strong in the arms; in general, he was neither 

skinny nor heavily built and fleshy, but perfectly proportioned... His hair was lightish- 

brown and not as long as that of other barbarians (that is, it did not hang on his shoulders); 

in fact, the man had no great predilection for long hair, but cut his short, to the ears... His 

eyes were light blue and gave some hint of the mans spirit and dignity... There was a certain 

charm about him, but it was somewhat dimmed by the alarm his person as a whole inspired; 

there was a hard savage quality to his whole aspect, due, I suppose, to his great stature and 

his eyes; even his laugh sounded like a threat to others. Such was his constitution, mental 

and physical, that in him both courage and love were armed, both ready for combat. 

Bohemond was no boor; he knew exactly how to behave. That made him all the 

more threatening. Alexius had no doubt about Bohemond s intentions, the question 

was, how was he going to try to achieve them? Alexius asked indirectly. Bohemond 

smiled. 7 come of my own free will as Your Majesty’s friend. ’ He would take the oath 

without question. Of course. After all, it meant no more to him than it did to Alexius. 

Bohemond was taken to luxurious quarters, but refused to touch the food prepared 

for him. Alexius had expected that; the chefs produced the raw ingredients for 

Bohemond’s own cooks. The next day the charade continued. After the oath-taking, 

Bohemond was led to a chamber filled with gold, silver, rich cloths and other luxuries. 

7/7 had such wealth’, he said, 7 would long ago have become master of many lands.’All this’, said 

the man, ‘is yours today - a present from the Emperor. ’ 

Finally, Bohemond issued his terms: he wanted to be Alexius’s deputy in Asia. 

Alexius prevaricated, as Bohemond had expected. On 26 April his army was ferried 

over the Bosphorus to join Godfrey’s Lorrainers. Tancred, who was baffled by what 

was going on, slipped through the city by night to avoid taking the oath. 

Emperor Alexius standing before the throne of Christ. 

His daughter Anna described Alexius as not very tall, 

broad-shouldered and deep-chested, with curving eyebrows 

and flashing eyes, a high colour and a thick 

beard. From a twelfth-century Greek manuscript. 
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There were two more armies to come — the Franks, under Raymond of Toulouse, 

and Robert of Normandy’s Normans. Raymond arrived on the day Bohemond’s 

forces crossed the Bosphorus. He did not like the idea of taking an oath to Alexius 

and modified it so that he did not acknowledge the Emperor as an overlord, but 

Alexius was satisfied. Privately, Alexius told him that he would never give an imperial 

command to Bohemond and Raymond decided that he and Alexius could get on 

just fine together. 

Finally Robert of Normandy’s group arrived, after spending many months with 

their relatives in southern Italy. Alexius treated them warmly (he had got rid of the 

main forces by now) and gave each of the leaders the feeling that he was the Emperor’s 

special, trusted ally. Stephen of Blois was particularly susceptible to this and wrote an 

enchanting letter to his wife revealing that he had fallen hook, line and sinker for 

Alexius’s flattery. Adela would not have been pleased by Stephen’s comparison 

between Alexius and William the Conqueror: ‘Your father, my love, made many great 

gifts, but he was almost nothing compared to this man. ’ 
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a single army. It was an international gathering, divided by language, 

culture and loyalties. The latest estimate of this uncounted host is that 

it may have included sixty thousand combatants, but to those must be 

added women and children (some of them families of Crusaders who 

intended to settle in Jerusalem), old people who were making the pilgrimage as a final 

act of piety, clerics and vague hangers-on, including the remnants ofPeter the Hermit’s 

horde of enthusiasts. 

Their leaders were at least as suspicious of each other as they were of the Turks or 

Byzantines. But for now they agreed that their first objective was to take the town of 

Nicaea - the capital of Kilij Arslan’s Sultanate, which stood proudly on the eastern 

shore of Lake Iznik. 

The Capture of Nicaea 

Kilij Arslan had not expected this lot to be any more problem than the last bunch 

and had gone off to fight his neighbour, the Emir Danishmend. When he heard 

that the Crusaders had launched an attack on Nicaea, he patched up a hasty alliance 

with Danishmend, hurried back to raise the siege, and found he had been wrong. 

Kilij Arslan threw his forces against the section of besiegers commanded by 

Raymond of Toulouse. This was the first battle between a full army of European 

knights and Turkish horsemen, and there was not simply a clash of arms, there was 

a clash of fighting cultures. 

The Normans had brought to horse-riding the mentality of boat crews. They 

expected to work together as a group and that was how they worked as cavalry. Instead 
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of throwing their lances and wheeling away, they preferred to bear down on the enemy 

in a massed charge with their lances firmly wedged under their arms or held aloft 

ready for pigsticking. 

They had developed deep saddles and long stirrups so that the rider could be 

wedged firmly into place, bracing himself between stirrup and saddle-back. Since 

there was no easy way of getting off, these soldiers did not even think of fighting on 

foot. 

Their horses were little fighting stallions, selected for power, weight, and a broad 

flat back that could support a man wearing a mail shirt that came down to his knees. 

This, with his thick padded long jerkin (an aketon — a corruption of the Arabic aU 

Qutun, meaning cotton), added two stone to the rider’s weight. All European knights 

now fought this way, riding in tight formation, galloping straight at the enemy and 

expecting to demolish him by sheer power; Anna Comnena wrote that ‘a Frank on 

horseback could knock a hole in the walls of Babylon. 

But the knights’ charge was only effective against an enemy who stood still to be 

charged at - and the Turks could and did get out of the way. They rode long-legged 

mares, chosen for speed, agility and responsiveness; they did not fight in formation, 

but wheeled in and away, shooting arrows from their short, highly tensioned bows. 

They depended above all on numbers — an endless, terrifying assault by wave after 

wave of deadly sharpshooters, who could fire as readily when they were retiring as 

when attacking. The whole emphasis was on speed; they wore little armour and used 

small, light shields. 

The real deciding moment of a conflict between the two forces would be when the 

knights had finished their charge. If they remained together as a pack, and used their 

swords on horseback as an armoured group, they were virtually invulnerable, but if 

they broke apart they could be individually surrounded and brought down. 

This battle was a learning exercise on both sides. The Crusaders suffered heavy 

casualties, but there was no way the Turks could break up their force and Kilij Arslan 

had to withdraw. 

The Crusaders could now concentrate on breaking into the city. The trouble was 

that their siege artillery only hurled small rocks. It was excellent for forcing defenders 

to keep their heads down, but could make little impression on a thick wall. It was 

used as a crude form of psychological warfare lobbing fire bombs, severed heads, and 

even beehives at the besieged. The Crusaders’ best hope was to starve the city out, 

but since they had no boats, they could not stop the Nicaeans getting supplies from 

across the lake. 
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In this thirteentlvcentury version of the Crusaders’ attack on 

Nicaea, baskets of severed heads are being hurled at the walls. 

Early siege artillery was not much use at demolishing masonry: 

the most effective ammunition was either psychological (as 

here) or bacteriological - infected or rotting animals 

were popular for this. Even hives of bees were sometimes thrown 

onto the defenders. From William of Tyre’s History of Deeds 

done beyond the Sea. 
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Six weeks later they were still stuck there. Emperor Alexius decided it was time 

he showed the Crusaders how to do it. He transported a fleet of boats overland, put 

them on the lake, made a secret deal with the Turkish commanders in Nicaea and 

then slipped his men across the lake in the dead of night. When dawn broke on 19 

June 1097, the Crusaders, who were all geared up for a final assault on the walls, saw 

to their dismay the Emperor’s flag flapping languidly over Nicaea. 

The Crusaders were not overjoyed by this victory, even though it secured the first 

strategically vital city on the road to Jerusalem. They were livid. Alexius had snatched 

their booty. According to the accepted conventions of the time, a city that was stormed 

could also be sacked. A city that surrendered would only yield a ransom for its leading 

citizens. And the Byzantines had even rescued those, hustling Kilij Arslan’s wife 

and children and all their movable property off to Constantinople. 

So far as Alexius was concerned, Nicaea was his city (most of its inhabitants were 

still Greeks) and the prisoners would be extremely useful to him. In fact he exchanged 

Kilij Arslan’s wife for the Emirate of Smyrna. But to many Crusaders it seemed 

ridiculous to protect the infidel from their holy wrath and criminal to deprive them of 

their sacred right of plunder. 

Alexius acted as a generous feudal lord. He presented food to every Crusader and 

offered large gifts of gold to their leaders. But he also insisted that Tancred would 

only receive his portion once he gave the oath that he had so far evaded. Tancred 

insisted that his loyalty lay to Bohemond, not Alexius, and he demanded that he be 

given as much gold as everyone else combined, plus the Emperor’s own tent filled 

with gold. It took serious pressure from Bohemond before he gave in. Tancred took 

oaths and obligations very seriously; that was what had so troubled him in the past. 

But he was young and would learn. 

The Battle of Dorylaeum 

It was the end of June 1097; the coast of Anatolia was at its most pleasant, and the 

Crusaders were only about seven hundred miles from Jerusalem. ‘In Jive weeks’ time,’ 

wrote Stephen of Blois to his wife, ‘we shall he at Jerusalem, unless we are held up at Antioch. ’ 

It was going to take two years. 

Kilij Arslan had retreated into the mountains. As the Crusaders began their 

eastward march, he and his new ally, Danishmend, brought their combined forces 

into an ambush position. The Crusaders’ force was too large to travel as a single mass, 

and the Franks and Lorrainers formed a rearguard group under Raymond, one day 
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behind the Normans and others who accepted Bohemond’s leadership. Four days from 

Nicaea, on the road to Dorylaeum (Eskiehir), the Turks fell on the leading group. 

There was panic among the Christians when the attack began and if it had been 

allowed to continue, the Crusade would have been over in an hour. But Bohemond 

immediately took command. He had seen what had happened at Nicaea and had no 

intention of fighting with half an army. Instead, he invented the tactic that would be 

reinvented eight hundred years later to fight the horse^archers of the American West. 

He drew the wagons into a circle and sent an emergency message to the cavalry over 

the hill. Bohemond forbade anyone to charge the Turks and those who disobeyed soon 

found themselves in deep trouble. The Crusaders suffered terribly under the assault, 

but their will to fight was unbreakable. After all, they were fighting in a holy cause. 

During the battle a Norman eyewitness noticed that the Turks went into the attack 

with a distinctive war-cry: ‘These Turks began, all at once, to howl and gabble and shout, 

saying with loud voices in their own language some devilish word which I do not understand. 

Tancred’s biographer, Radulph of Caen, explained that this ‘devilish word’ was 

!Allachibaf, that is, Allah aTAkhbar or ‘God is great’. The two sides were hurling 

themselves into battle against each other, one side yelling ‘God’s will! God s will! 

God’s will!’ and the other ‘God is great!’ Both sides were addressing the same god. 

Neither could understand what the other was saying. 

After about six hours God’s forces were definitely winning. The Turks were 

breaking through the Crusaders’ defences. Then, suddenly, God s other forces came 

to the rescue. Raymond’s men appeared, fresh and eager for battle. Now Bohemond 

brought out his line of knights, which joined with the newcomers to form an ap/ 

patently endless wall, thundering forward against the tiring Turks. The Turks broke. 

The Crusaders had suffered significant casualties (including Tancred’s brother, 

William), but this had been a battle of wills and their will had proved the stronger. 

The Turks would not seriously challenge them again on the long march through 

Anatolia. 

Overleaf A head/tcvhead conflict between charging lines of knights and 

‘Saracens’, as depicted here, was not a likely evenras Turkish horsemen 

preferred to swoop in and out again. The battle of Nicaea must have been 

enlivened by the fact that the knights’ chargers were stallions, whereas 

Turkish archers rode mares; as the battle took place in June, many of the 

mares may well have been on heat. From the fourteentlvcentury 

Chronicles of Godfrey of Bouillon. 
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The March across Anatolia 

Che fastest route was straight through the middle. It had to be fast, as it crossed a 

waterless salt desert. The huge, slow-moving body of Crusaders could not hope 

to survive it in midsummer. So, instead, they skirted the edge of the desert, lumbering 

along an endless, hot, difficult road under the foothills of the Taurus mountains. 

The temperature mounted steadily through August; the chronicler Albert of Aix 

describes the suffering on a single day in August as men, women, children and 

animals died of thirst, women gave birth at the roadside and abandoned their infants. 

When they finally reached a river, ‘many who had been weakened, as many men as beasts of 

burden, died from drinking too much 

Finally, in September, they reached the Cilician Gates, the only pass over the 

Taurus mountains towards Antioch, and decided not to take it. They had just been 

attacked by the first substantial Turkish force since Dorylaeum and although they 

had sent it packing, they were in poor shape. The pass was steep and narrow, ideal 

ambush territory. It was also very hot and dry. Many of the pilgrims were severely 

weakened; horses and donkeys had perished in such numbers that some knights were 

riding oxen and carts were being pulled by dogs. Instead of attempting another 

endurance test, they turned towards the woods and pastures that lay to the north-east. 

This route would take them into friendly Armenian-held lands. They would find a 

pass up there, over the Anti-Taurus mountains, and approach Antioch from the east. 

The Armenians were Christians who felt no loyalty to Byzantium. Driven from 

their homeland in the southern Caucasus by Byzantine armies as well as Islamic ones, 

they disliked the Greeks as much as the Crusaders did. They now lived in the 

mountains and coastal plain of Cilicia, in the area of the Anti-Taurus to the north¬ 

east, and across to the Euphrates. The Crusade leaders were very interested in the 

Armenians. 

Baldwin, the young brother of Godfrey of Lorraine, was particularly interested in 

the Armenians. At Nicaea he had become friendly with an Armenian called Bagrat 

whose brother was Vasil the Robber (Kogh Vasil), a princeling who ruled to the east 

of the Anti-Taurus. Bagrat had been in Alexius’s service; now he was in Baldwin’s. 

He was urging Baldwin to go to the aid of the Armenians. It was a proposition that 

held rather attractive possibilities for a fortune-hunter like Baldwin. 

Tancred also had a pet Armenian. This man told Tancred that the inhabitants of 

Tarsus, the town immediately to the south of the Cilician Gates, were prepared to 

throw off their Turkish garrison and welcome him as their overlord. So Tancred 
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persuaded his uncle Bohemond to let him take a party of a hundred knights and two 

hundred infantrymen through the Cilician Gates to Tarsus. Unfortunately it was not 

a large enough force to dispatch the Turks of Tarsus quickly. After three days, however, 

a more substantial army of five hundred knights and two thousand infantrymen was 

spotted coming to join him. The Turks fled and the townspeople happily raised 

Tancred’s banner. 

But this new force had not been sent as a reinforcement for Tancred. It was a quite 

separate expedition which had left the main Crusade under the command of Baldwin. 

Baldwin and Godfrey had no intention of letting Bohemond and Tancred win 

control of the coast. Baldwin’s expedition had come through the Gates in a blocking 

move, and now he peremptorily demanded that Tarsus be surrendered to him. 

Tancred, whose forces were much smaller, resentfully complied. When a further 

group of Bohemond’s followers arrived a few days later, Baldwin refused to open the 

gates for them and they were massacred outside the city walls by the Turks. So much 

for solidarity. 

Tancred now moved west to Adana, where the Turkish garrison fled, and then to 

Mamistra. Again the small force of Turkish occupiers withdrew and the Armenian 

population welcomed him in. Baldwin followed and the two Crusader forces actually 

fought each other before agreeing that they would both pull out. 

Crossing the AntuTaurus 

eanwhile the mam Crusade had been crossing the mountain range known as 

vl vUhe AntkTaurus. It had been unexpectedly horrific. The road was only capable 

of bearing a small, fit company and in the heavy rams of October the steep mountain 

paths disintegrated under the weight of tens of thousands of people and their baggage^ 

trains. Sinking in the mud, weighed down by their arms and equipment, they endured 

a nightmare. Some tried to sell their armour, others simply threw it away. Entire 

baggagemrams slid over precipices. 

When Baldwin rejoined the main army, after it had made its painful way down 

the other side of the Anti/Taurus, he found it was significantly smaller, and his own 

wife was dying. Godvere of Tosm was the daughter of one of the richest men in 

Normandy. With her death, Baldwin’s one chance of inherited wealth disappeared. 

That settled matters. A few days later, with just a hundred knights, he set off to find 

an Armenian kingdom worth keeping. Bagrat rode with him. Their target was not 

a Moslem city but the Christian city ofEdessa. 
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Left The capture of Antioch was a landmark in the success of 

the First Crusade. This fifteentlvcentury picture shows the key 

moment when Bohemond’s men were let into the towers 

at night by a traitor. The massacre that followed is 

also faithfully recorded [below left]. The slaughter of infidels — 

men, women and children — and the desecration of their 

tombs were clearly nothing to be ashamed of. 

V-i 

Above The moral purity of the Crusaders was considered to be 

an important factor in their military strength and defeats were 

often attributed to sexual indulgence. This fifteentlvcentury 

illustration shows women being expelled from the camp at 

Antioch at a time of crisis. 
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Baldwin Takes Edessa 

€dessa, on the east side of the Euphrates, was the richest and most important of the 

Armenian towns. It was reputed to be the birthplace of Abraham and the locals 

told the story of how King Nimrod had captured Abraham and had him catapulted 

from the citadel rock into a blazing bonfire below. However, as Abraham was sailing 

through the air, God changed the flames to water and the logs to fish, so Abraham 

landed safe and sound in the pools of the town that still to this day bear his name. 

Edessa was surrounded by rival Seljuk emirates who were keen to gobble it up. Its 

ruler was an Armenian Christian by the name of Thoros, who had managed to 

capture the city from the Turks two years before. He was now surviving only because 

his Turkish neighbours were too suspicious of each other to cooperate against him. 

He was most anxious for Baldwin’s help. 

The population were delighted to welcome Baldwin as their saviour, but Baldwin 

insisted that Thoros and his wife adopt him as their son and — more to the point — 

heir. This ceremony, which was designed for the adoption of infants, was rather 

curious. It involved Thoros putting on a doubly wide shirt. Baldwin, stripped, got 

in the shirt with Thoros and the two rubbed bare breasts together. Baldwin then 

had to go through the same process with Thoros’s wife — much to the amusement of 

the onlookers. 

This happy little family didn’t last for long. 

About four weeks later, by an extraordinary coincidence which Baldwin’s friends 

insisted had absolutely nothing whatever to do with Baldwin, Thoros found himself 

faced by a popular revolt. When the old man was torn to pieces by a mob as he tried 

to escape from a palace window, Baldwin felt it was not his place to interfere. Thoros, 

it seems, had always been unpopular because he belonged to the Greek Orthodox 

Church, not the Armenian, and held a title from Alexius. 

And so Baldwin became the sole ruler of Edessa. It was a pity that the Crusade’s 

first independent conquest was taken from Christians rather than from Moslems, and 

it was a slight snag that it really belonged to Byzantium, but Baldwin was untroubled 

by such details. The new Count of Edessa found an immense treasure stacked away 

and used it to buy up the nearest emirate. He married an Armenian princess and so 

acquired control of a substantial principality around the city. Baldwin had his own 

state, rich, reasonably powerful, and to hell with his oath to the Emperor. What was 

more, he was protecting the west flank of the Crusade, which had now settled down 

to the long and painful business of besieging Antioch. 
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The Siege of Antioch 

Antioch was almost as important as Constantinople in the symbolic Christian 

* V geography of the road to Jerusalem. It was here that the word ‘Christian’ was first 

used, when Saints Peter, Paul and Barnabus established the first Christian community. 

The Patriarch of Antioch was a rival in authority to the Patriarchs of Jerusalem and 

Constantinople. Even though the city had fallen to the Turks in 1084, its people were 

still Christian — Greek, Armenian and Syrian — and they still continued to worship 

as they always had. 

And since Antioch controlled the route from Asia Minor into Syria, it was vital 

for the Crusaders to capture it. 

The sight of the city must have staggered them. Its walls stretched over twenty 'five 

miles, guarded by four hundred towers, and over such difficult terrain that they could 

never be fully surrounded. Its water supply was excellent. It had huge pasture areas 

within the walls. It was considered impregnable and had only fallen to the Turks 

through treachery. As a precaution, the Turkish Governor, YaghESiyan, expelled 

the leading Greek and Armenian Christians, and imprisoned the Patriarch. 

The siege dragged on. In the four months it had taken to reach Antioch, the 

expedition had only seen four days of fighting, but now they were subject to continuous 

sallies and ambushes as the garrison of Antioch tried to disperse them. It was not 

even possible to block all the gates of the city and prevent these attacks. And just to 

taunt the Christians, YaghESiyan would from time to time have the Patriarch of 

Antioch dangled over the wall in a cage. 

YaghESiyan had survived by the same techniques as Thoros in Edessa - playing 

off the surrounding Seljuk rulers against each other. Now he had to appeal to them 

for help. The rulers of Damascus and Aleppo made attempts to break the siege, but 

were beaten off. As winter went on, the besiegers ran out of food even faster than the 

besieged. Foraging parties travelled up to fifty miles looking for supplies. Thousands - 

perhaps ten thousand of the poorest Crusaders - literally starved to death. 

Stephen of Blois tried to put a brave face on it, writing home to his wife Adela: 

‘You may be very sure, dearest, that the messenger I sent with this letter left me outside Antioch 

safe and unharmed. ’ But he could not disguise their sufferings through the winter: ‘We 

have endured many sufferings and innumerable evils. Many have already spent all they have, and 

many would have died from starvation if the kindness of God had not saved them. We suffer from 

excessive cold and enormous amounts of rain. ’ 

Everyone on the expedition was self financing, or was financed by their lord; food 
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had to be bought and as minor nobles ran out of cash, anyone who depended on them 

became destitute. The Crusade was blocked and dying, and more and more people 

began to desert. Peter the Hermit himself deserted, and had to be forcibly dragged 

back by Tancred. 

Spirits somewhat rallied in the spring, when a fleet arrived carrying much needed 

supplies and building materials from Constantinople, shipped in by an exiled claim/ 

ant to the English throne, Edgar Atheling. Edgar had commandeered an English 

fleet that was carrying Italian pilgrims to the Holy Land; it was quite clear to anyone 

who thought about it that pilgrimage was proceeding quite normally by sea and 

Jerusalem was perfectly accessible the whole time. 

Then ambassadors arrived from the Vizier of Egypt. The Egyptians had lost 

control of Palestine to the Seljuks in the early 1070s and had been delighted to 

learn that Alexius was receiving help from the West to expel them. The Egyptian 

ambassadors explained that as the Christians were recapturing Byzantine lands, so 

Egypt would recapture its own lost territories from the Turks. Egyptian forces were 

poised to recover Palestine, including Jerusalem. Of course, the Vizier would be more 

than happy to restore free access to all Christians: (We shall restore the holy city and the 

Tower of David and Mount Zion to the Christian people/ 

The Pope had called for an expedition to save Christians and their churches from 

the ‘vile Turks’. Now the Egyptians were saying there was no need for them to conquer 

Jerusalem. But the Crusade had taken on a life of its own. The Crusaders had come 

too far, suffered too much, seen too many of their comrades perish. 

From now on the Crusade assumed a new feeling - more fanatical, more savage, 

more visionary. The soldiers of Christ began to see themselves as the new Children 

of Israel, marching in the company of angels to the Promised Land. Their suffering 

was purgation. Even their horses were dead; they had nothing, but to bring on their 

millennial victory, they had only to be purified. The Bishops decreed that all immoral 

acts must cease, all profiteering end, and women be expelled from the camp; that 

way the Crusaders would deserve and be granted victory. But they could not afford 

to wait for it. 

Adhemar, the Pope’s legate, holds up the Holy Lance after the peasant, Peter Bartholomew, 

had dug it out of the floor of Antioch Cathedral following his dream. The miraculous 

‘discovery’ was seen as an affirmation of divine approval and protection for the Crusade at its 

most desperate moment. From Les Passages jaits Outremer..., c.1490. 
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The Capture of Antioch 

Word reached the besiegers in May that Kerbogha, the mighty Emir of Mosul, was 

on the way to Antioch with an army of terrifying proportions — easily capable 

of crushing the Christians between itself and the defending garrison. The Crusaders’ 

only hope was to get into the city before he arrived. 

Tensions rose in the Christian camp, probably helped by Bohemond whose spies 

kept spreading rumours about the impossibility of the siege being successful. Faced 

with the certainty of extinction once Kerbogha arrived, more and more Crusaders 

were deserting, and Bohemond was probably hoping that his rivals amongst the 

leaders would be among their number. In the end, the only leader of note to desert 

was Stephen of Blois. On 2 June he abandoned the camp, taking with him a 

considerable number of Frenchmen. Fie chose his day badly. A few hours after he 

left the Crusaders captured Antioch. 

As YaghFSiyan had always suspected, the only way Antioch could be taken was 

by treachery. Bohemond’s spies had discovered that the guard in the Tower of the 

Two Sisters was not a happy man. Firouz was an Armenian armour^maker who had 

converted to Islam but who was now disenchanted with his position. His conv 

manding officer had fined him for hoarding grain and, according to some reports, 

seduced his wife. Firouz was ready for revenge. 

Bohemond had the key, but before he would turn it he insisted on his terms. He 

told the other leaders that he wanted to be left in control of Antioch. Then he 

instructed Firouz to let his men in through a window. 

By that night there was not a Turk left alive in the city, nor a Frank left sober. 

Firouz had his revenge. But in their blooddust the invaders killed many Christians 

too. The murderous rage that had marked Peter the Hermit’s disastrous Crusade had 

taken over. The Crusaders were saving their souls not just by holy war, but by blood 

sacrifice. 

Once in control of the city, however, the Crusaders discovered what a good job 

they had made of starving it out. There was practically no food left. Then Kerbogha’s 

multitude arrived. The besiegers became the besieged - and starving! Soon a gold 

coin would buy a small loaf of bread. Two coins bought an egg. A chicken cost three 

gold coins. The only hope for the Crusaders was that the Emperor would come to 

their rescue with the imperial army. And sure enough he was on the way. 

Unfortunately, before the Emperor had got very far, he bumped into the retreating 

Stephen of Blois, who regretfully explained that Antioch was lost and that the 
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Crusaders must surely all be dead by now — there was no point in continuing. Alexius 

agreed. Jerusalem had fallen to the Fatimids, who were his allies; the Turks had been 

defeated in western Anatolia; and since Antioch was not to be his, he turned round 

and went home. 

But in Antioch twenty thousand halPcrazed and starving survivors of the Crusade 

were pulling down heaven and wrenching a miracle out of it. 

The Miracles at Antioch 

On io June 1098 a shabby peasant with a reputation for drinking and womanizing 

demanded an interview with Count Raymond and the Bishop of Le Puy. When 

the two nobles reluctantly met this man, Peter Bartholomew, he claimed that St 

Andrew had come to him in a series of visions and revealed to him that the Holy 

Lance which had pierced Christ’s side was buried in the Cathedral at Antioch. 

More visions were reported by others — saints, Christ himself and a meteor were seen. 

People who tried to desert by climbing down ropes over the wall were confronted by 

their dead comrades who told them to climb back in. They did. 

Finally on 14 June an excavation was conducted in the Cathedral, but nothing 

was found. Everyone was just about to give up, when Peter Bartholomew leapt into 

the pit, clad only in his shirt, told everyone to pray and then triumphantly pulled 

out a length of iron. The Holy Lance had been found. God and his saints were with 

them. 
The Pope’s legate, the Bishop of Le Puy, ordered a three/day fast to begin on 24 

June and then would do battle. 

A fast was just what they needed. They had nothing to eat anyway, they were 

chewing leather and boiling tree^bark. 

At dawn on 28 June the starving Crusaders attended mass, confessed their sins 

and opened the gates of Antioch. They stood no mortal chance. They had only two 

hundred living horses and had no strength. Only two hundred of them stayed behind 

to guard the city, under Raymond, who was too weak to walk. 

They marched out behind the Holy Lance, and with whiteHad priests bearing 

crosses praying aloud. But the miracles had not finished. As they stumbled towards 

the great Turkish army ‘there appeared from the mountains a countless host of men on white 

horses, whose banners were all white/ wrote the anonymous chronicler of the Gesta Frany 

corum. ‘When our men saw this, they did not understand what was happening. ’ Battle was being 

joined by an army of ghosts - charging under the command of St George, 
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St Demetrius and St Mercury. ‘Then we called upon the true and living God, and charged 

The Turks saw — whatever they saw — and turned and fled. 

It was a miracle. There could be no other explanation — although, of course, 

there was. 

Kerbogha’s mighty army was actually made up of levies from Baghdad and Persia, 

Palestine and Damascus, and the internal quarrels amongst the emirs took precedence 

over any unity against the Franks. The only thing that united his allies was a common 

fear of Kerbogha himself. The Emir of Damascus convinced the others that Ker^ 

bogha’s real goal was the conquest of all their lands. If Antioch fell, he would be 

invincible. If it did not, well, who would suffer? The Byzantine Empire was simply 

recovering its own city from YaghFSiyan; so what? 

The emirs decided to humble Kerbogha and they abandoned him at the critical 

moment. There was no miracle; just normal Turkish politics. But there were few 

Crusaders who now believed that the Eloly Lance was a trick or who shared 

Bohemond’s contempt for miracles. ‘Let the cupidinous count Raymond and his foolish crowd 

assign the victory to the Lance,’Bohemond declared. 

They did. 

And, miracle or not, Antioch was now well and truly in the hands of the 

Crusaders. 
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❖ 
Tbe March to Jerusalem 

By the end of August 1098 Hugh of Vermandois, the first of the great 

lords to leave Europe, was already on his way home with his troops. 

The road to Jerusalem was open; the Egyptians had ejected the Turks 

' from the Holy City, establishing their frontier just north of Beirut, 

and guaranteed free access to Christian holy sites. There was general 

confusion about what to do next. 

The man who should have made the decisions was the Bishop of Le Puy, who had 

been appointed as the Pope’s surrogate and leader of the expedition, but he had died, 

a victim of an epidemic that swept Antioch during July. With his death on 1 August, 

the influence of Rome over the Crusade ended. From now on, it was the Crusaders’ 

own ideas of their purpose that would decide matters. But they lacked a commander. 

Since it had been the Pope’s intention to establish his own primacy at Jerusalem, 

the centre of the universe, the leaders invited him to come and do just that. They sent 

a letter to Rome early in September, explaining that they had ‘transferred the whole city 

of Antioch to the Roman religion and faith’ and the next move was up to him. 

In the meantime the leaders of the Crusade were locked in dispute about who was 

to rule Antioch. Bohemond’s claims were disputed by Raymond who insisted that, 

by right, the city should be handed over to the Emperor, in fulfilment of their vows. 

But while the nobility argued and waited, there were plenty of lesser Crusaders 

who had a very clear idea of their next move. They declared that they were going to 

march to Jerusalem and if the great lords continued to squabble over Antioch, they 

would raze the walls to the ground. 

Some Flemish followers of Peter the Hermit, having lost everything, had begun to 

behave as holy savages; they were known as ‘Tafurs’ ('Tafuria is Arabic for ‘penniless’), 

and were led by a mythical King Tafur. They became fanatical zealots, thinking of 
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themselves as the men of pure motives. The Tafur fantasy was developed a few years 

afterwards in a popular tale, the Chanson d'Antioch: it was the poor who were destined 

to take Jerusalem as ‘a sign to show dearly that the Lord God does not care for presumptuous 

and faithless men. ’ 

In the raiding parties that were organized to collect food, destroy Turks and keep 

the troops occupied, the Tafurs became notorious. ‘Some of the poorest people in the 

crusading army, ’ wrote Guibert of Nogent, ‘always marched barefoot, bore no arms, themselves 

had absolutely no money but, entirely filthy in their nakedness and want, marched in advance of all 

the others and lived on the roots of plants. ’ These holy madmen among the Crusaders 

became an increasingly powerful party in their own right, and it was partly to keep 

them quiet that an attack was organized on the strategically important town of 

Maarrat an/Numan. 

It took two weeks to capture the town and once again the rivalries between 

Bohemond and Raymond dominated the assault. Raymond’s men were the first to 

enter, but in an attempt to forestall him, Bohemond had it announced that he would 

grant amnesty to all inhabitants who assembled in a hall near the main gate. A lot of 

citizens were persuaded to surrender to him in this way. But Bohemond’s promises 

were never worth staking your life on. The next day his troops entered the building 

and slaughtered everyone there who had accepted his protection. 

Still the advance to Jerusalem was delayed. As at Antioch, the troops occupying 

the city found there was no food left. They got hungry ... very hungry indeed, and 

in the end resorted to some radical cookery. Radulph of Caen, who was presumably 

told the tale by Tancred, reported that ‘our troops boiled pagan adults in cooking pots; they 

impaled children on spits and devoured them grilled’. The official excuse, offered in a letter to 

the Pope, was that they were hungry. 

Those with religion but no brains now threatened to pull down the walls of 

Maarrat unless their leaders stopped bickering over Antioch and led them to battle 

at Jerusalem. Their object was not to rescue the Christians there, nor to free the holy 

Jerusalem as portrayed in a French Book of Hours of 

1270. This is obviously based on direct observation: the 

Church of the Holy Sepulchre in the foreground is 

immediately recognizable, and its details are accurately 

drawn - even down to the right-hand door of the church 

which is still blocked up to this day. 
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places — the Christians in Jerusalem did not need rescuing and the holy places were 

already open for business again — but to fight a mythic war against the ‘Infidel . 

Raymond was forced to concede that Bohemond, the man with brains but no religion, 

could keep Antioch arid he, Raymond, would lead the Jerusalem forces. Tancred, 

who would have to keep an eye out for the family’s interest in whatever was captured 

next, joined up with Raymond. 

In January 1099, with the sixty^year/old Raymond in the lead as a barefoot pilgrim, 

some five thousand ardent Franks began walking south. They left Maarrat in flames. 

The Egyptian Vizier, baffled and disturbed, sent an urgent emissary to Alexius asking 

what his men were up to. Alexius replied that he had no control over them; he did 

not support what they were doing and he reaffirmed his alliance with Cairo. In fact 

the leaders of the Crusade themselves had no more control than Alexius. In the 

Chanson d’Antioch they are made to admit: ‘All of us together cannot tame King Tafur1. 

Nothing could. 

Advance on the Holy City 

Che Holy City now lay about three hundred miles ahead — a brisk two^week walk 

for pilgrims. The Crusaders took six months. 

This was not because they were fighting for their lives. Most of the local rulers were 

only too anxious to hurry this dangerous throng on and out of their own territories as 

quickly as possible. The Emir of Shaizar, for example, provided them with guides 

and cheap provisions, and - for all anyone knows — probably wished them a pleasant 

onward trip. The Lord of Masyaf hastily drew up a treaty with them. 

On the way to the coast, however, they fought what must be one of the most curious 

battles of all time. They besieged a castle that was defended entirely by sheep. The 

local inhabitants had driven their flocks into the disused fortress known as Hosn ah 

Akrad (‘citadel of the Kurds’). When the Crusaders attacked, the peasants rather 

craftily released a few of the animals and the Christians — predictably — went chasing 

off in pursuit. This gave the locals a chance to slip away into the night, leaving their 

flocks behind them. When the Crusaders resumed the siege, they couldn’t understand 

why no one was fighting back. They suspected it was yet another peasant ruse, whereas 

in fact it was the purely technical problem sheep have in mounting any sort of armed 

resistance. 

The Crusaders, however, were eventually able to get the better of the sheep, and 

decided that this was a good spot in which to rest up for a few weeks. Raymond held 
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court amidst the empty ruins, while the local emirs hurried to pay their respects and 

offer gifts to the invaders. 

There is an Arab saying, ‘Kiss any arm you cannot break — and pray to God to 

break it.’ 

The Emir of Tripoli rather overdid the friendliness. He invited the Crusaders to 

send emissaries to Tripoli to discuss a possible alliance. These emissaries were so 

dazzled by the prosperity and wealth of the city that the word ‘alliance’ was replaced 

in their minds by the word ‘acquisition’. They duly reported back to Raymond and 

the Crusade lurched forwards towards the rich pickings. 

So while the Emir of Tripoli was waiting for a response to his offer, he learnt that 

his proposed allies were at that moment besieging the second largest city of his realm — 

Arqa. Not that they wanted to capture it. Raymond was hoping that the Emir would 

give him a large sum of money to go away. 

Within a couple of days the Crusaders had also captured the port of Tortosa. 

News of this got back to Antioch and persuaded Godfrey of Lorraine and Robert of 

Flanders that they ought to get a piece of the action. In the meantime, however, the 

siege of Arqa had turned out to be a pig’s ear. Raymond had encountered a much 

more spirited defence than he had anticipated. He pleaded with Godfrey and Robert 

to join him. This was a mistake. The princes immediately started quarrelling again 

over the leadership of the Crusade, and of course the antagonism quickly spread 

through the ranks. Soon the Normans and the Provencals were - as usual - at 

loggerheads. 

This time, however, the squabbles centred on Peter Bartholomew, who was still 

having visions by the dozen. Were they all a put^on or not? The Normans were 

convinced they were, because all the saints who appeared to Peter seemed to side with 

the Provencals against the Normans. Eventually the Normans publicly denounced 

Peter as a fraud and even called into question the authenticity of the Holy Lance, 

whereupon Peter indignantly demanded to be tested: he would undergo an ordeal by 

fire. God would enable him to walk through it unscathed. 

A pile of logs was duly blessed by all the bishops and this was then set on fire in a 

narrow passage. Peter took the Holy Lance in his hand and dashed through the 

flames. What happened next depended on who was watching. Peter emerged into a 

scrum and fell, terribly burnt. The believers claimed he had been pushed back into 

the flames, the sceptics said he had been burnt in the ordeal. The only thing both 

sides could agree on was that twelve days later he was definitely dead. 

Audience ratings for the Holy Lance slumped, never to recover. 
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Raymond was finally persuaded to abandon the siege of Arqa and the whole 

Crusade marched on Tripoli. There the terrified Emir hurried to release Christian 

prisoners, provided the Crusaders with horses and provisions, and even, it is said, 

offered to become a Christian himself. 

The same sort of reception awaited them as they moved on down the coast into 

Fatimid territory, through Beirut and Acre. The real feelings of the locals, however, 

were exposed when a hawk killed a carrier pigeon flying over the Crusaders’ camp. 

Tied to its leg was a message from the Governor of Acre (whose generosity they had 

just been enjoying) urging Moslems to rise up and destroy the invaders. 

As they drew closer to the Holy City, envoys suddenly arrived from Bethlehem, 

whose Christian population requested instant deliverance from Moslem rule. Tancred 

was only too happy to oblige and made the detour to be welcomed as liberator. When 

he left to rejoin the main army the next day, his banner was flying above the birthplace 

of Christ. An eclipse of the moon added to the Crusaders’ growing euphoria — the 

eclipse of the Crescent was imminent. 

Finally they breasted the hill called Montjoie and caught their first sight of the 

place they had been dreaming and talking about for so long. They had been on the 

road for nearly three years. But there in the distance — finally — were the walls of 

Jerusalem. By the end of that day, 7 June 1099, they were encamped beneath the 

walls of the fabled city. 

The Capture of Jerusalem 

As the Egyptian Governor of Jerusalem, General Iftikhar akDaula (‘Pride of 

ArV State’), watched the approach of the Crusaders he may not have felt too worried — 

the usual pre^battle butterflies in the tummy maybe, but not that dreadful sinking 

feeling of impending doom. He had captured the city from the Turks the year before, 

using a huge and welkequipped force, including forty rather effective siege^machines - 

large wooden catapults of the latest design, which could and did batter holes in the 

walls. Even so, it had taken six weeks. Now he had repaired and strengthened the 

The siege of Jerusalem is here depicted as a physical assault on the Heavenly City, and 

scenes from Christ’s Passion are shown in the background. The siege tower can be 

clearly seen in the front of the picture. From a fourteentRcentury manuscript of 

William of Tyre’s History. 
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walls and he knew that the Crusaders did not have such machines themselves. Nor 

could they build any — he had had the trees cut down for miles around. 

There were not all that many attackers — no more than twenty thousand — and the 

city was strategically positioned with deep valleys on three sides. The Governor had 

stocked up vast quantities of provisions and poisoned all the wells around the city. 

His biggest problem was manpower. Many people had fled from the Seljuk 

invaders in the early 1070s and the Seljuks had massacred a large part of the remaining 

Moslem population when they rebelled in 1076. Almost all the Jews had left. Iftikhar 

himself had killed or expelled the Turks and now he felt obliged to throw out the 

Christians in case they betrayed the city to the Crusaders. He was left with a few Jews 

(mostly belonging to a sect that believed they had to live in the Holy City), some 

Moslem civilians (also mostly there for religious reasons), his Arab cavalry and 

Sudanese archers. In a city that could house up to seventy thousand people, there 

were less than thirty thousand now. But he had informed his master, aLAfdal, the 

Vizier of Egypt, of the Crusaders’ arrival and had been promised a relief force by the 

end of July. 

His confidence must have been boosted even further over the next few days, by the 

extremely odd behaviour ot the Crusaders. On 13 June the massed ranks of attackers 

suddenly flung themselves at the walls of the City without scaling ladders or sieges 

towers. What on earth had got into them? How could they hope to achieve anything 

like that? 

In fact an aged hermit had promised instant success if they attacked at once — 

without any siege equipment. God’s failure to fulfil his contractual obligation (as 

represented by the hermit) produced a profound depression amongst the Crusaders. 

In the cold light of the next dawn they realized that their situation was not 

encouraging. It was characterized chiefly by the word ‘lack’. They had a lack of siege 

equipment, a lack of wood to build such equipment, a lack of men, a lack of food, a 

lack of time (the Egyptian army was coming), a lack of faith (according to the aged 

hermit) and - perhaps worst of all - a lack of water. Conditions were becoming 

intolerable in the burning heat of summer and every effort to find water in unpolluted 

wells brought about fresh reports of casualties, as the Moslems sprang ambush after 

ambush. Morale plummeted. 

One of the first cheering bits of news came as a result of the looseness of Tancred’s 

bowels. Tancred had been suffering from dysentery for some time. Nevertheless he 

still went off at the head of a foraging party to find wood for siege towers. They were 

not having much success. His biographer Radulph writes: 
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He had almost given up the search when the accustomed trouble struck again. So he pulled 

away from the others and dismounted. He hoped he would be able to avoid the gaze of his 

companions, but on looking back he saw that he had not done so. He therefore sought 

concealment Jurther away, but again he could see a few men wandering about, so he changed 

his position a third and a fourth time, until in a deep recess beneath a hollow rock, surrounded 

by trees and bristling shade he found peace. Good gracious! Who but God?... For while 

Tancred was relieving himself there, he found himself facing a cave where four hundred 

timbers lay open to view. 

The discovery of this cache of timber was followed by the arrival of six ships at Jaffa, 

bringing much needed provisions. Two of the ships were dismantled to provide more 

wood and the construction of the siege^towers got seriously under way — one under 

the auspices of Raymond and the other under Godfrey. 

At this point the whole Crusade was boosted once again by a vision. The late 

Bishop Adhemar appeared to a priest and gave detailed instructions on how to capture 

Jerusalem. The Governor was baffled to see the attackers kick off their shoes and 

march barefoot round his city, singing hymns. His army gathered on the battlements 

and hurled ridicule and abuse at the procession as it made a circuit of the wralls and 

then continued its way onto the Mount of Olives for a few rousing sermons. The late 

Bishop had guaranteed that if they did this, the city would fall within nine days. 

Five days later the siege^towers had been completed and during the night the 

soldiers struggled to move them into position, fighting against a barrage of arrows 

and Greek Fire (the medieval equivalent of napalm). Godfrey’s tower, topped with 

its golden cross, was in place by the morning of the 15th and by lunchtime his men 

had managed to get a bridge across from the top of the tower to the wall. Two Flemish 

brothers, Litold and Gilbert of Tournai, leapt across and the north wall of Jerusalem 

fell to the Crusaders. 

The Massacre at Jerusalem 

In later years Arabs would recall that when the Caliph Umar had captured Jerusalem 

from the Christians in 638, he had assured the Patriarch that Christian lives and 

property would be respected. He then requested a tour of the Christian holy sites. 

Overleaf The Dome of the Rock, built c. ad 700, is a building of astonishing grace. 

The Crusaders, after looting it, turned it into a church. 
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When invited to unroll his prayer mat in the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, he refused 

out of respect for the Christians, fearing that Moslems would want to appropriate the 

spot where the conqueror of Jerusalem had prayed. A treaty was then signed which 

precisely listed the legal rights of Christians: ‘This peace ... guarantees them security for 

their lives; property churches; and the crucifixes belonging to those who display and honour them 

... There shall be no compulsion in matters of faith. ’ 

The Crusaders took a different approach. Fulcher of Chartres wrote: 

Our Squires and footmen ... split open the bellies of those they had just slain in order to 

extract from the intestines the gold coins which the Saracens had gulped down their loathsome 

throats while alive... With drawn swords our men ran through the city not sparing anyone, 

even those begging for mercy ... They entered the houses of the citizens, seizing whatever 

they found in them ... Whoeverfirst entered a house, whether he was rich or poor... was to 

occupy and own the house or palace and whatever he found in it as if it were entirely his own 

... In this way many poor people became wealthy. 

It is impossible to know what was going through the minds of the Crusaders as they 

rampaged through the Holy City — but it certainly was not the Sermon on the Mount. 

As the first wave of Crusaders swept down from the north wall, the Moslems fell 

back to the Temple area to seek refuge in the Dome of the Rock and the al-A qsa 

Mosque, but in vain. Tancred and his men pursued them. He desecrated and pillaged 

the Dome of the Rock and bottled the Moslems up in the ahAqsa Mosque and on its 

roof. 

Raymond penetrated the south of the city and besieged General Iftikhar in the 

Tower of David. Unexpectedly, Raymond suddenly halted the attack and proposed 

a safe^conduct for the Egyptian Governor and his men if they would surrender the 

Tower. Fearing the worst but with little other choice, the General surrendered and 

the Franks, rather to the surprise of the Arabs, kept their word. Iftikhar and his men 

were the only Moslems in Jerusalem to escape with their lives. 

The next day a band of Crusaders forced an entry into the aEAqsa Mosque and — 

despite the protection of Tancred’s banner Hying above the building — slew everyone 

there, men, women and children, among them a large number of Imams [religious leaders] 

and Moslem scholars, devout and ascetic men who had left their homelands to live lives of pious 

seclusion in the Holy Place’. At the same time the synagogue in which the Jews had 

sought shelter was set on fire and everyone in it was burned alive. 

This was not the normal pillaging and looting of a conquering army — there were, 

for example, no reports of rape. It was a ritual slaughter. And then they gave thanks 

to God in the Church of the Holy Sepulchre. ‘Oh day so ardently desired! 'wrote Fulcher 

<7 4> 



THE MARCH TO JERUSALEM 

<■ > 

of Chartres, ‘Oh time of times the most memorable! Oh deed before all other deeds!... They 

desired that this place, so long contaminated by the superstition of the pagan inhabitants, should be 

cleansed from their contagion.’ 

In the days that followed, one of the main problems was disposing of the corpses. 

One of the Frankish chronicles records a scene that has echoes of Auschwitz: 

They also ordered that all the corpses of the Saracens should be thrown outside the city 

because of the fearful stench; for almost the whole city was full of their dead bodies. The 

Saracens who were still alive dragged the dead ones out in front of the gates, and made piles 

of them, as big as houses. Such a slaughter of pagans no one has ever seen or heard of; the 

pyres they made were like pyramids. 

The fanatical blooddust of the Crusaders at Jerusalem would never be forgotten. 

For the general public in Europe, the story was one of miraculous achievement. 

For the Emperor Alexius it was more problematic. A Frankish knight had set himself 

up as the ruler of Edessa. Another had seized Antioch. A band of bloodthirsty 

butchers had expelled his Fatimid allies from Jerusalem and done no good at all to 

the orthodox Christians there whom the Emperor regarded as his own subjects. 

Pope Urban had no comment on the victorious outcome to the campaign of 

bloodshed that he had unleashed four years before. He died a few days before news of 

the capture of Jerusalem reached Rome. 

The New Jerusalem 

/^X'Aost of the Crusaders, having done what they came for, went home. 

Vl^/Less than three thousand Franks seem to have stayed on. Probably only three 

hundred of them were knights. Having killed almost the entire population, they were 

in possession of a large, empty city which was, of course, the biggest tourist centre in 

the world. 

It had been in the hands of the Moslems for 461 years. Nonetheless, the majority 

of the population had remained Christian. During most of that time the Moslems 

had protected the rights of the Christians. Of course, the Moslems retained overall 

control - even today the key to the Church of the Holy Sepulchre remains entrusted 

to a Moslem. His name is Museba and his family has been responsible for locking 

and unlocking the most sacred Christian church in the world every day, according 

to their own account, since Moslems first captured the city. 

With the triumph of the Latin Christians, however, things were going to change. 

They had come to rid Jerusalem of all other religions and to make it a purely Christian 
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city — and, what’s more, Christian in their terms. The Orthodox Greek Christians, 

the Georgian Christians, the Armenian Christians, the Jacobite Christians and the 

Coptic Christians, who had been expelled in the lead-up to the siege, quickly 

discovered that victory had not been on their behalf. Their priests were banished from 

the Church of the Holy Sepulchre. They were not even allowed to hold services 

there. Meanwhile the ecclesiastical hierarchy of Jerusalem became exclusively Latin. 

Most insufferable of all was the fact that the new Patriarch, Arnulf of Rhodes, 

proved himself to be quite capable of torturing his fellow Christians, in order to find 

out where they had hidden their portion of the True Cross. Torture appears to have 

loosened their tongues, but it also hardened attitudes between the Oriental and 

Western Churches. The Orthodox Christians learnt to hate the Latins with a deep 

and burning ferocity. Their feelings were still strong centuries later; in 1806 they held 

a religious procession carrying the bones of the boyAing Baldwin v, who had died 

when he was eight, to a gorge outside the city and hurled them down into it with 

solemn curses. 

The Crusaders now voted on which of their leaders was to rule Jerusalem. The 

first vote went to Raymond, but he declared that he would not wear a crown in the 

very city where Christ had worn the crown of thorns. The next vote went to Godfrey 

of Lorraine, who accepted the post, but agreed that no-one should wear a crown in 

the Holy City. He therefore resorted to that most powerful of political weapons — the 

euphemism. He declined the rank of king and took instead the title Advocate (or 

Defender) of the Holy Sepulchre. 

Godfrey’s reign as almost Aing was to last only a year, but in that time the fledgling 

state which was to become the Kingdom of Jerusalem took shape. As long as 

the princes could bury their differences they were more or less invincible, as was 

demonstrated when the combined forces of Raymond and Godfrey routed the Egyp- 

tian relief force that eventually turned up outside Ascalon. But such cohesion was the 

exception, not the rule. 

Soon after Godfrey’s election, the new papal legate — Urban’s replacement for the 

Bishop of Le Puy — arrived from Rome to be appointed Patriarch. He was an 

ambitious Italian by the name of Daimbert, whose mission was to establish Urban’s 

dream of ecclesiastical rule over the Holy Land. He was not, however, fool enough 

to imagine that God would grant him such pre-eminence without military backing. 

The de Hautevilles had backed Gregory vn and Urban 11 - they would back him. 

Daimbert secured the support ofBohemond and Tancred. In return he recognized 

Bohemond as Prince of Antioch and Tancred as Prince of Galilee — both of whom 
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in this way declared their independence of Godfrey. Since Antioch was clearly 

supposed to be returned to Alexius, it was also a declaration of hostility to Con-' 

stantinople. 

Godfrey was not strong enough to resist Daimbert’s demands and by the time he 

died, he had even promised that the Patriarch should inherit control of both Jaffa and 

Jerusalem. The papal dream of theocratic rule was about to be realized. But Daimbert 

was outmanoeuvred by the laymen. 

When Godfrey died, the Patriarch was off with Tancred attacking Haifa and 

word was secretly sent to Godfrey’s brother, Baldwin of Edessa, to come to Jerusalem 

and take control. Baldwin was no friend of the church radicals. By the time Daimbert 

heard of Godfrey’s demise, it was almost too late. In a panic he offered the government 

of Palestine (under his authority) to Bohemond. He instructed Bohemond to prevent 

Baldwin from marching on Jerusalem — by force if necessary. The Patriarch was 

prepared to stir two Christian princes to war against each other, to fulfil the ecclesk 

astical ambition of temporal power in the Holy Land. The letter, however, was 

intercepted and Bohemond never learnt of the generous offer until it was too late. 

The dice were rolling in Baldwin’s favour. Bohemond was captured by the Turks, 

while on an expedition, and Baldwin was able to march triumphantly into Jerusalem — 

grieving a little, his chaplain Fulcher of Chartres tells us, for the death of his brother, 

but rejoicing more at his inheritance. 

Baldwin had no compunctions at all about being called king. On Christmas Day 

I ioo, in the Church of the Nativity at Bethlehem, Daimbert gritted his teeth and 

crowned Baldwin King of Jerusalem. Three months later Tancred, who had been 

Baldwin’s enemy since their confrontation at Tarsus, gave up his princedom in Galilee, 

and moved north to take over Antioch whose ruler, Bohemond, was still in a Turkish 

prison. The third Crusader state, Edessa, was given to Baldwin’s young cousin, 

Baldwin of Le Bourg. Three young men who had come out with nothing - Baldwin, 

Tancred and Baldwin of Le Bourg - were now masters of the Levant. 

The following year three armies of Europeans passed through Constantinople on 

their way to Jerusalem. Full of enthusiasm and inspired by the glorious example of 

the Crusade, they rode proudly into Anatolia. All three were destroyed there. The 

Crusade had not opened the pilgrim route; it had simply poisoned relations with 

Byzantium and left the Turks in control of central Anatolia as they had been. 

But Europe now had three colonies in the Moslem East - Jerusalem, Antioch, 

Edessa. The question was - with so few Crusaders actually settling there - for 

how long? 

< 79 > 



Square in Baghdad. The city was the political and religious centre of Sunni 

Islam, and its main communications lay northwards along 

the Tigris/Euphrates valleys, and eastwards into 

Persia. Palestine was a fringe region. 
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Tbe Arab Response 

t s the Franks were still arguing over the booty, Moslem refugees 

began to arrive in Damascus during Ramadan, the month of 

fasting. Their tales of the hardships they had undergone and the 

m horrors they had seen were so harrowing that they were allowed 

—Ji^^to break the fast. 

In Baghdad, the centre of Islamic authority, nothing happened at all. The Iraqi 

poet, abMuzaffar abAbiwardi, did his best to whip up some sort of response: 

This is war, and the man who shuns the whirlpool to save his life shall grind his teeth in 

penitence. 

This is war, and the infidel’s sword is naked in his hand, ready to be sheathed again in men’s 

necks and skulls. 

But there was nothing. 

I see my people slow to raise the lance against the enemy: I see Faith resting on feeble pillars. 

In the best tradition of politicians throughout history when faced with an urgent 

problem, the Caliph, abMustazhir Billah, took the whole affair very seriously and 

appointed a committee of inquiry. And in the best traditions of committees ofinquiry 

throughout history, the committee ofinquiry produced no action at all. Baghdad was 

impotent. 

Baghdad had once been the largest and most civilized city in the world. Before the 

Turkish invasions it had enjoyed free hospitals, public baths, a postal service, a water 

supply, a sewage system, as well as several banks — with branches in China. Under 

the rule of Caliph Harun abRashid three hundred years earlier, it had ruled over 

an Islamic empire that included North Africa, Palestine, Syria and Iraq, and 
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beyond to Persia and Afghanistan, and to Azerbaijan and the southern shores of 

the Caspian Sea. 

In those days Islamic culture had opened itself up to the influence of other civiE 

izations. Ever since the days of Caliph aEMamun (d. 833) Moslems had had the 

benefit of permanent endowments to support their cultural life, rather than the chance 

largesse of rulers. AEMamun had established colleges of translators who made the 

wealth of knowledge contained in Greek, Syriac, Persian and Sanskrit writing 

available in Arabic. He established the great Hall of Science with its library and 

astronomical laboratory in Baghdad. 

Further north, in the city of Harran, a school of science had grown up which was 

centuries ahead of the West. By the time the Crusaders first achieved sword/contact 

with the Islamic world, one Harran scientist, Albatanius, had already correctly 

calculated the distance from the Earth to the Moon, while another, Jabir bin Hayyan, 

had suggested that if the atom could be divided it might release enough power to 

destroy a city the size of Baghdad! 

Arab medicine was also highly developed. To practise medicine required a know' 

ledge of surgery, anatomy and the circulation of the blood (four hundred years before 

Harvey). There were specialists in eye surgery, breast tumours, epilepsy, preventative 

medicine and - perhaps most important of all - hygiene. Arab doctors even used 

anaesthetic. A sponge was soaked in a mixture of hashish, opium, darnel and 

belladonna, and then left to dry in the sun. When it was needed, the sponge would 

be remioistened and placed in the nostrils of the patient, who was - perhaps not 

surprisingly — plunged into a deep sleep. 

Why was such a relatively sophisticated society so slow to respond to the Christian 

aggression from the West? How could two or three thousand Europeans maintain a 

hostile kingdom in the Middle East? This was a question that also haunted many 

Arabs at the time. 

There were two big problems for Islam. The first was that the sense of outrage 

felt by those who suffered directly from the fall of Jerusalem was not, at first, 

widely shared. Invasions were commonplace. It would be a while before it was 

generally understood that the new occupiers of Jerusalem had a very different agenda 

from the Byzantines, Turks or Egyptians. The Crusaders had come not merely to 

exact tribute and taxes, but to impose their own civilization and their own Roman 

Christianity. 

This was not simply an invasion; it was a colonizing war by one civilization against 

another. As this understanding grew, voices began demanding a concerted response 
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by the entire Arab world. And this was the second great problem. There was no 

such thing as a united Arab world in the late eleventh century. North Africa had 

split away when the Fatimids came to power and the Seljuks had taken control of 

everything else. They, of course, were not Arabs at all. 

The Divided Turks 

Baghdad remained the notional centre of authority; it was still the home of the 

Caliph. But he, like all Arabs, had no place in politics in the Seljuk Empire. His 

Turkish overlord took the title Sultan. The Caliph was a religious figurehead. ‘Men 

of the Turban’ (religious and legal officers) and ‘Men of the Pen’ (administrators) 

might be Arab, but ‘Men of the Sword’, who were Turks (and usually illiterate), had 

all the power. And if they didn’t, they fought each other for it. In the three years after 

the Christian capture of Jerusalem, Baghdad changed hands eight times, as the sons 

of Malik Shah fought for supremacy. The city was in chaos. The Turkish rulers were 

not prepared to take seriously the plight of Jerusalem and other towns on the western 

edge of the Seljuk world. 

Away from the centre, each emir maintained his own independence and was 

terrified of his neighbour. The ruler of Damascus, Duqaq, was the brother of Ridwan 

of Aleppo. Ridwan had already killed three of his brothers and Duqaq was sure he 

was next on the list. As for Kerbogha in Mosul - they both knew he would have 

them from breakfast, given the chance. And in dozens of smaller emirates, politics 

was played by the rule ‘My brother’s enemy is my friend’. The emirs did not consider 

that the Franks were a greater enemy than any other individual emir amongst them/ 

selves. 'Informer times almost every [Middle Eastern] city had its own rulerwrote 

William of Tyre. ‘Those who feared their own allies not less than the Christians could not or 

would not readily unite to repulse the common danger or arm themselves for our destruction. 

It would not have been hard to cut off Edessa and Antioch from Jerusalem, for 

example; Tripoli lay between them, unconquered, and it controlled the notorious 

pass of Nahr ekKelb. When Baldwin was racing down from Edessa to Jerusalem to 

claim the kingdom on the death ofhis brother Godfrey, Duqaq, the ruler of Damascus, 

wisely decided to ambush him there. But the Emir of Tripoli, Fakhr akMulk, did 

not like the idea. 
Fakhr akMulk had only enjoyed being Emir of Tripoli for a year and he had no 

intention of letting Duqaq gam a spectacular victory over the Franks and thereby - 

perhaps - impose himself over all Syria. So Fakhr al/Mulk did the obvious thing: he 
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Opposite The peaceful life of an Islamic village. Although it is widely 

believed in the West that the Koran forbids representational images, that 

is not strictly true. Iconoclasm only appears in the later Hadith 

(traditions) and was ignored in many periods of Islamic history. 

From an Arab manuscript of 1237. 

Below The ‘madrassah’, or school, was a central element in Islamic life, 

and the teacher/doctor/religious leader was a leader of the community. 
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sent a messenger to Baldwin and warned him about the ambush. Baldwin lived to 

become perhaps the greatest king the Kingdom of Jerusalem ever had. 

Nor did the story stop there. 

A year later Duqaq took his revenge on the Emir of Tripoli. Raymond of Toulouse 

had turned up outside the walls of Tripoli with an absurdly small force ol no more 

than three hundred men. The Emir sent word to Duqaq in Damascus and to the 

ruler of Homs that here was a chance to knock the Count out for the count (as 

it were). They duly turned up and surrounded Raymond — the Moslem forces 

outnumbering the Franks by as many as twenty to one. 

And yet, when it came to battle, the men of Homs and the men of Damascus 

deliberately pulled out in order to give the victory to Raymond. This certainly gave 

Duqaq his revenge on Fakhr akMulk, but it paved the way for a fourth Crusader 

state — the Kingdom of Tripoli — and provided the vital bridge between the northern 

states and Jerusalem. 

The Assassins 

y\othing symbolizes the internal divisions of the Arab world more poignantly than 

I the Assassins. Indeed without the Assassins’ murder of Nizam aFMulk, the 

Crusades might not have got as far as they did in the first place. 

The Assassins were an extremist Shi’ite sect which had been founded - only five 

years before Pope Urban preached the First Crusade — as a reaction to Sultan Malik 

Shah’s devotion to Sunni Islam. 

The Sunni/Shi’a split has its roots in a civil war soon after Mohammed’s death. 

The Prophet’s sondivlaw, Ali, who had become the fourth Caliph or ‘successor’, 

was murdered; so were his sons and grandson. The Shi’ites (,Shiat1 Ali means ‘the 

party of Ali’) hold that Ali was the first true successor to the Prophet and they 

regarded the Sunni Caliphate in Baghdad as corrupt and based on the shedding of 

sacred blood. 

The Assassins’ were Ismailis - mystic Shi’ites who believe in the divinity of the 

seventh Imam, Ismail ibn Jafar, and who traditionally maintain that it is the duty of 

the community to share its wealth evenly. The word Assassin’, however, is an invention 

of the West’s. It was supposedly coined because of the hashish with which its adhere 

ents - the hashishi - were thought to be drugged when executing their kamikaze 

missions. 

This militant arm of the Ismaili movement was founded by a cultivated man of 
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poetry and science, Hasan as-Sabah, who had been born in 1048, and had seen 

Shi’a-dominated Persia overrun by the Sunni Seljuk Turks. Hasan as-Sabah resolved 

to turn his world back to the path of Shi’a, so in about 1071 he fled to Egypt. Fatimid 

Egypt had its own Shi’ite Caliph; that was the basis ofits split from the Sunni Caliph 

of Baghdad. Hasan quickly discovered that the real power in Egypt did not lie in the 

hands of the Caliph but in those of his Armenian Vizier. But at least Cairo was full 

of like-minded militants and Hasan helped to forge a new revolutionary movement. 

The plan was to be set in motion the moment the old Caliph died. His son, Nizar, 

was to seize power from the Vizier, attack the Seljuks and bring the entire Moslem 

world back into the Shi’ite fold. In the meantime Hasan was to return to the areas 

now dominated by the Seljuks and prepare a ‘fifth column’ that could spring into 

action the moment Nizar took command in Egypt. 

This Hasan did. He created one of the most effective terrorist organizations in 

history. His weapon was political murder. These murders had to be carried out against 

the most public figures possible in the most public way possible (usually after Friday 

prayers at the mosque). The Assassin had therefore to expect to be cut down himself. 

Each mission was a suicide mission. 

Such a murder removed a dangerous enemy of the sect, it intimidated other enemies 

of the sect, and it demonstrated the determination and fanaticism of the sect’s adherents. 

The Assassins scored a spectacular success with their first murder. They killed 

Malik Shah’s Vizier, Nizam al-Mulk. Malik Shah died immediately afterwards and 

his Empire shattered into countless fragments. Nizam was the only man who could 

have held the Empire together — the way was clear for a Shi’ite revival. 

But events did not unfold as they were supposed to. In Cairo, instead of Nizar 

inheriting the Caliphate from his father, it was the ruthless al-Afdal who inherited 

the Vizierate from his. And al-Afdal was not the sort of chap who was going to wait 

around for an insurrection to happen. He knew exactly who the trouble-makers were 

likely to be and he had them liquidated. Nizar himself, by way of an example, was 

buried alive. 

Hasan as-Sabah thus found himself with a fully paid-up organization of kamikaze 

commandoes raring to go and demonstrate their dedication, self-sacrifice and ferocity, 

but with no immediate political agenda. His ultimate objective was still the destruction 

of the Sunni Caliphate and so Hasan set about doing everything he could to make 

that likely. He gave up on Cairo and began acting on his own account, undermining 

and destabilizing Sunni Islam wherever and whenever he could. 

Because he was now estranged from the Fatimids (who were still nominally the 
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heads of the Shi’ite movement) Hasan found that he was now not only the enemy of 

the Sunni Caliph but also of the Shi’ite Caliph. He was thus pitted against the entire 

Islamic establishment and discovered that his natural allies wrere more often than not 

the invading Christians. 

For the next half century, the Sunni world had this counterforce eating it away 

from the inside. From his stronghold near the Caspian Sea, Hasan, now known as 

the ‘Old Man of the Mountains’, actively stirred up dissension amongst the emirs of 

Syria, helping to keep emir against emir and brother against brother. And wherever 

and whenever it suited his purpose he became an active ally of the Franks. 

The Beginnings o/Jihad 

At the end of the first decade of the twelfth century calamity seemed about to engulf 

►■the Moslems of North Syria. In July 1109, the Franks finally sacked Tripoli after 

a siege that had dragged on for over five years. That elegant, affluent city of learning 

and craftsmanship was destroyed. The great library, the Dar ahllm, was pillaged and 

its hundred thousand books burned - their contents lost to posterity for ever. The 

inhabitants were sold into slavery or simply kicked out of their homes. 

Then, in May mo, Beirut, the place where St George was fabled to have slain 

the dragon, was overrun by the Franks and its inhabitants massacred in revenge for 

their stubborn defence. Terrified by this example, the city of Sidon capitulated. In 

eighteen months, three of the most famous cities of the Arab world had fallen to the 

invading Christians. Imad ed^Din quoted a survivor: 

I do not know whether it is pasture for wild animals or my house, my birthplace, I turn to it, 

my voice full of tears, my heart torn with suffering and love, and ask: House, why did destiny 

pronounce such an unjust sentence on us? 

Damascus and Aleppo were filled with refugees who had lost everything. People 

were evacuating whole towns ahead of the Franks; when Tripoli fell, some Aleppans 

fled before they too wrere conquered. 

The citadel at Aleppo. This magnificent entrance was built 

after the Crusades, but the defences were robust enough to prevent 

the Crusaders ever capturing the strongpoint. Had they done so, 

they would have transformed their prospects of survival. 
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7 know nothing but weeping\ 

The streets ofMoslem cities in Syria were filled with desperate people not knowing 

what to do. One refugee from Maarrat wrote: 7 come from a town which God has condemned, 

my friend, to be demolished. All the inhabitants perished. They passed their blades through old men 

and children. ’ 

A few Moslems, Arabs rather than Turks, saw these events in a wider context. 

Less than four hundred years earlier their ancestors — their own families, in the case 

of many refugees — had taken these lands from Byzantine Christian rulers in th e jihad, 

the Holy War for Islam. In many places, lands which had been granted to warriors 

of the jihad had been held in trust by the same Arab clans ever since. Now the 

Christians were recovering by war what had been taken away by war. There must 

surely now be a new jihad, a war of defence, led by the successor to the Prophet, the 

Caliph of Baghdad, and his Sultan. 

One of the most persistent promoters of this idea was a qadi, or judge, in Aleppo. 

His name was Abu abFadl ibn abKhashshab and he was the most prominent Arab 

citizen of Aleppo. He was the ra’is, a position with functions rather like a mayor. He 

represented the interests of the merchants, commanded the militia and, most important 

of all, represented the people to their Turkish ruler, Ridwan. 

Ridwan had decided to adopt a conciliatory attitude to the Franks. This stuck in 

the throats of his Arab subjects - a fact which Ibn abKhashshab never tired of 

pointing out to him. When Tancred had forced Ridwan to attach a crucifix to the 

minaret of the great mosque in Aleppo, Ibn abKhashshab had organized a riot to 

have it removed. Now Tancred had imposed a treaty upon the Aleppans, by which 

they had to pay him twenty thousand dinars a year. Ridwan had even agreed to hand 

over his ten finest horses. What is more, all the trade routes to the Mediterranean were 

now under the control of the Franks and profits were suffering. The situation was 

intolerable. 

Once again, Ibn abKhashshab turned up at Ridwan’s citadel to recite the com-' 

plaints and demand a delegation be sent to Baghdad to get help from the Sultan. This 

was the sort of help Ridwan needed like he needed a dose of dysentery. To tell the 

truth he was even more scared of the ambitions of his cousin the Sultan than he was 

of the Franks. But he had to keep his qadi quiet somehow, and in any case previous 

delegations to Baghdad had never achieved anything, so he reluctantly agreed. 

Ibn abKhashshab set off for Baghdad with a band of Sufis - Moslem ascetics - 

merchants and lawyers. He had a secret agenda which he had neglected to tell Ridwan 

about. He had no intention of relying solely on words to persuade the Sultan. Once 
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in Baghdad, the worthy qadi set about organizing a full/scale riot in favour of action 

against the Franks. 

On Friday, 17 February mi, he and his companions burst into the Sultan’s 

mosque, forced the preacher to descend from the minbar and then proceeded to smash 

it to pieces. ‘They wept and groaned for the disaster that had befallen Islam with the arrival of 

the Franks,’ wrote Ibn aFQalanisi, for the men who had died and the women and children who 

had been sold into slavery.’ To keep them quiet (because they were interrupting prayers) 

the religious officials who were present made various promises ‘on the Caliph’s behalf 

that troops would be sent to support Islam against the inf del’. But, of course, nothing hap/ 

pened. And the following Friday the same thing was acted out again - this time in 

the mosque of the Caliph. 

The Caliph was furious and wanted to punish the offenders, but what could he 

do? He was only sovereign in name. The real power lay with the Turkish Sultan and 

it suited him to espouse the rioters’ cause, as a means of restoring Baghdad s power. 

He had a first/class military commander in his general, Mawdud, who was prepared 

to reassert control over the independent emirs of Syria. Mawdud had captured Mosul 

for him and was now its governor. The Sultan ordered the army to prepare for ‘Holy 

War against the infidel enemies of God’ and sent Mawdud to the rescue of his cousin 

Ridwan in Aleppo. 

Ridwan must have heard the news of his rescue with a sinking heart. He had no 

doubt that this was a campaign as much against him as against the Franks. He did 

not dare resist at first. In fact he asked Mawdud to hurry to his aid. Once Ridwan 

saw that Mawdud’s forces were reasonably small, however, he barricaded the gates of 

Aleppo, arrested Ibn aFKhashshab and his colleagues, and told Mawdud to go away. 

Mawdud’s troops did what they could to ravage the environs of Aleppo and then 

broke up without striking a single blow against the Franks. Nothing, it appeared, 

was going to prevent the onward march of the Christian soldiers. 

The Great Fear of the Franks 

Of course, if you were on the other side of the fence things looked somewhat different. 

The Franks were very few in numbers, surrounded by enemies and very far from 

home. Fulcher of Chartres vividly captures ‘The Great Fear Which Then Possessed 

Everyone’: 

At that time it was impossible, because of the snares of the enemy, for a messenger sent by 

any of us to venture forth to the king nor one from him to come through to any of our cities, 
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Hence it was not known by the towns what the king was doing, nor could they tell him what 

they were doing. 

In many fields the ripened harvest withered 

And no one went into the fields to gather it [Matthew 9:37] 

For none dared to do so. 

The Franks were weak, but the Sultan could not deliver a knock-out punch. He 

assembled another army under Mawdud. This time Mawdud arrived not at Aleppo 

but Damascus; he was not an altogether welcome guest here either. Still, the Emir of 

Damascus was being attacked by King Baldwin and needed help. He did his best to 

pretend to be firmly behind Mawdud and his mission. One day, however, while the 

General was leaving the great mosque in the centre of Damascus, an Assassin leapt 

out and stabbed him twice just above the navel. ‘Mawdud never lost his head. He walked 

as far as the north gate of the mosque and then collapsed.1 

Mawdud’s assassination at the very moment he was about to wage jihad against the 

Franks gave Baldwin a golden opportunity to indulge in an enjoyable bit of Moslenv 

baiting. He sent a message to the Emir of Damascus informing him that a nation that 

kills its leader in the house of its God deserves to be annihilated. Fulcher of Chartres 

heaved a sigh of relief at the disappearance of so able a foe: ‘The Lord permitted him to 

scourge us for a while but afterwards willed that he should die a vile death and by the hand of an 

insignificant man. ’ 

Clearly Sultan Mohammed had to establish his authority over the Emirs of Syria 

before he could attack the Franks. In 1115 he despatched yet another army into Syria, 

under the command of the picturesquely named Bursuq ibn Bursuq. This time its 

purpose was unequivocal; to bring the squabbling emirs to heel. Bursuq arrived to 

find his army confronted by the whole power of Syria — the troops of Damascus and 

Aleppo in alliance with the Franks of Jerusalem, Antioch and Tripoli! Confronted 

by the might of Baghdad, the emirs of Syria and the Franks of Syria had simply 

closed ranks. 

In effect, a new regional identity was being born. It was not going to be possible 

to organize jihad against the Franks from Baghdad; the Turkish rulers of Syria valued 

their independence too much. It was clear that the Franks had settled in; they were 

part of the structure of Syria. The massacres of their original conquest were now in 

the past; the troops were under better control, and no longer burned with ferocity 

against the infidel. They had got used to things. And they were learning about their 

new home. 
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The very next year King Baldwin took his troops on a holiday to the seaside ‘to see 

what he had not seen and perchance to find something on the way that he might want.’ They 

returned from their trip to the Red Sea in high spirits and with lots of sea^shells to 

show off! ‘When they told us what they had seen, ’ writes Fulcher of Chartres, ‘we were as 

delighted with their tales as by the sea shells and certain precious stones which they brought and 

showed us. ’ 

The New Franks of the East 

It really seemed as though the Franks were becoming a permanent part of the 

landscape. About 1125 Fulcher of Chartres, who had been at Clermont when the 

Crusade was announced, wrote, ‘We who were Occidentals have now become Orientals. He 

who was a Roman or a Frank has in this land been made into a Galilean or a Palestinian ... We 

have already forgotten the places of our birth ... He who was born an alien has become as a native. ’ 

In 1118 King Baldwin of Jerusalem died. His successor was his cousin Baldwin of 

Le Bourg, the ruler ofEdessa. Baldwin 11 inherited a feudal kingdom like any in 

Europe; he had tenantsdn/chief, who held lands on condition that they supplied 

knights to their king. But there was one crucial difference between this kingdom and 

any in Europe. The rulers were Latin Christians from Europe. Their subjects were not. 

There were always at least seven times as many natives as Franks in the kingdom and 

probably never more than two thousand Frankish knights. The Frankish overlords did 

not farm the land themselves; they stayed in the towns and left the land to the native 

Christians and Moslems. Europeans were desperately needed to swell the population 

and every effort was made to encourage peasants to come and settle in manors in the 

countryside. The kingdom was always very conscious of its weakness. Edessa, Tripoli 

and Antioch were especially vulnerable; they did not attract the steady flow of 

armed pilgrims who came to visit Jerusalem. 

But now a new generation was growing up: Franks who had been born and 

brought up in this land. They were called ‘pulani’— ‘chickens’ — and they could never 

regard themselves as aliens. Syrian manners were becoming the norm; bathing was a 

regular habit, men sometimes even wore turbans, and they lived in palatial homes of 

a kind which did not exist in Europe. Amongst the established Frankish families, 

the hatred of Moslems that had inspired the first Crusaders had died away, but there 

was still a constant flow of newcomers with a less sophisticated view of Islam. They 

were usually shocked by the extent to which the old/timers had gone native and did 

all they could to revive the xenophobia of the past. 
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A Syrian nobleman, Usama, who had friends among the knights of Jerusalem, 

once described what happened when he was praying on the Temple Mount in a spot 

set aside for the purpose. He was on his knees, praying towards Mecca, when a Frank 

picked him up bodily and turned him to face East, insisting that this was the correct 

direction for prayer. Usama’s friends rushed over and apologized, explaining that this 

ruffian had newly arrived in the East and had never seen anyone praying in any other 

direction before. 

However much the Franks believed they were in Syria to stay, they were still 

regarded by the Moslems as aliens and usurpers. 

The Search for a Leader 

Arabs who wanted jihad to be waged against the Frankish settlers would have to 

k-stop looking towards Baghdad and find a leader within Syria. That was clearly 

the conclusion drawn by the qadi Ibn al/Khashshab in Aleppo. The death ofRidwan 

at the end of 1113 gave him the chance. He installed Ridwan’s sixteen/year/old son, 

Alp Arslan, as the new ruler and appeared to have him firmly under his influence. 

But it quickly became apparent that the new ruler had a few disturbing quirks. 

Having beheaded most of his father’s supporters, Alp Arslan appeared to develop a 

taste for that sort of thing. He executed two of his brothers and then started on the 

domestic staff and anybody else who didn’t take his fancy. Soon no-one dared to go 

near the Emir except for his eunuch Lulu (Pearls) and even he had had enough after 

ten months. In September 1114, Lulu killed his master and tried to take over the 

government himself. Within three years, Lulu was himself murdered and Aleppo 

plunged into turmoil. 

Ibn al/Khashshab assembled the worthies of the city. They needed a strong ruler 

to rescue them from the current mess and also to fight the Franks. They had to forget 

about Baghdad; their fate was in their own hands. The most likely candidate was the 

Emir of Damascus, but such was the hatred and distrust between the two cities 

that he was out of the question. Ibn al/Khashshab therefore made a most unlikely 

proposition. 
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This picture of a Christian and a Moslem playing chess (a 

game which originated in Persia — ‘checkmate’ was originally 

‘Shah mate' meaning ‘The Shah is dead’) beautifully 

illustrates the kind of integration which appalled newly/ 

arrived Crusaders. The Moslem, playing Black, appears to 

have the game sewn up. The Christian has a resigned look 

and is signalling 'pax' while his opponent seems to be 

indicating it is time for a drink. 
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Ilghazi 
Ilghazi, the Turkish Emir ofMardin (to the east of Aleppo), was a drunkard who 

had supported the Frankish alliance against the Sultan Mohammed s attempt at 

jihad. There would have been a few raised eyebrows when the qadi suggested Ilghazi 

as the new Emir of Aleppo. But these were desperate times. Ilghazi was a fine general 

(despite his penchant for the bottle) and, most important, he had the will to fight. So 

Ilghazi was invited to take over Aleppo and — by implication — the struggle against 

the Franks. Within the year this unlikely policy had produced a spectacular result. 

At the start of the summer of 1119 Ilghazi combined with the Emir of Damascus 

and assembled a huge army. They then marched towards Antioch. Both Tancred 

and Bohemond had died of fever and Antioch was now ruled by Tancred s nephew 

Roger. King Baldwin told Roger to wait for him while he collected the army of 

Jerusalem. The Franks clearly took the threat very seriously for Baldwin even armed 

his force with a portion of the True Cross. 

But Roger decided not to wait for reinforcements. He marched the entire army of 

Antioch out towards Aleppo and there prepared to encounter the Moslems. He 

realized his mistake only when it was too late. On Saturday, 28 June, the Franks 

awoke to find their camp surrounded and outnumbered by a vast Moslem army. 

Roger and his men must have known their number was up, and there are echoes of 

Custer’s Last Stand as the Archbishop of Apamea confessed the entire army before 

the hopeless battle. 
The Moslems charged with the qadi Ibn abKhashshab riding at their head. Accord' 

mg to Ibn abQalanisi, who was in his midTorties at the time, m less than an hour.; the, 

Franks were all lying dead... horses bristling like hedgehogs with the arrows sticking out of them.’ 

According to Kemal ad'Din, the historian of Aleppo, only twenty Moslems were 

killed and only twenty Franks escaped. Amongst the dead was the reckless Roger 

himself, crumpled at the foot of his jewelled cross with his head cleaved through to 

his nose. 
The Frankish prisoners who were left alive were then dragged across the plain in 

chains and then tortured and killed by the Turcoman troops. The entire Norman 

knighthood of the Latin East was wiped out. The battle was remembered ever after 

in the Frankish Kingdom as the Field of Blood . 

News of the disaster electrified Antioch. With Roger dead, the Patriarch took 

control and began to arm the merchants and even the clergy, in preparation for the 

onslaught that must surely follow. 
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Nothing happened. 

Ilghazi distributed the booty to his men and then retired back to Aleppo to 

celebrate. There was plenty to celebrate. After all the uncertainty and doonv 

mongering of the previous years, Aleppo went wild. Ilghazi was the hero of the hour: 

After God it is you whom we trust’, sang the poets in the city streets. The celebrations 

went on for days. The trouble was that when the city finally stopped celebrating, their 

hero just went on and on and on ... when he finally stopped celebrating it was only 

because he was too ill. 

Three years later, Ilghazi died, his health broken by alcohol, without having 

achieved another such decisive stroke. But from now on Syrians would not look to 

Baghdad for leadership against the Latin invasion. 

Balak — the Raging Dragon 

In the meantime, however, another star had appeared in the Moslem firmament. This 

was Ilghazi’s nephew Balak — a sober man, just turned forty and a brilliant general. 

In his brief career, his name lit up the hopes of Moslems and spelt terror to the Franks. 

For a surprising number of pages, ‘Belek’ dominates the nightmares of Fulcher of 

Chartres. 

Balak’s reputation had started to swell when he captured King Baldwin 11’s cousin 

Joscelin in 1122. It swelled even more the following year when he also made a prisoner 

of King Baldwin himself. In 1124 Balak succeeded in making himself ruler of 

Aleppo and from there he began what appeared to be a steady reconquest of Frankish 

outposts in the north. 

When a slight hiccup occurred in this triumphal progress, Balak acted with 

ruthless determination. In August, Joscelin and Baldwin managed to become masters 

of the fortress in which they were imprisoned. Joscelin then escaped through enemy 

territory, crossing the Euphrates with the aid of two inflated wineskins (he was a 

nomswimmer), and eventually got the news of their adventure to Jerusalem. 

But before a rescue could be mounted, Balak stormed the fortress and recaptured 

it. Balak’s harem had been in the castle and it had probably been broken into. He 

was taking no chances. Everyone who had defended the castle against him - whether 

Frank or Armenian, man or woman, was flung off the battlements. Only Baldwin 

and two others were spared. 

In 1124 Balak received an urgent call for help from the people of Tyre, who were 

holding out against a Frankish siege. Balak was himself besieging a castle called 
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Manbij, but he immediately decided to go to the rescue. As he was making a last tour 

of inspection of the siege arrangements at Manbij, however, a chance arrow struck 

him in the chest. He wrenched the shaft out of himself and, spitting in the air, 

murmured, ‘That hlow will be fatal for all the Muslims. Then he fell dead. 

Balak could well have been the great leader of jihad that Ibn ahKhashshab had 

been praying for. Certainly when ‘the raging dragon’ bows out of the pages of Fulcher 

of Chartres’ chronicle, the historian makes no secret of the relief amongst the Franks: 

And we all praised God because Belek, the raging dragon who had oppressed and trampled on 

Christianity was suffocated at last.’ 

With Balak gone, Tyre capitulated. The Franks now held the whole coast from 

Egypt to Antioch. Aleppo floundered under the inept rule of Timurtash, Ilghazi s 

nineteen year-old son, whose only contribution to the Holy War was to release King 

Baldwin for a ransom of twenty thousand dinars, and thus rekindle the energies of 

the Franks. 

A year later an even more deadly blow was dealt to the cause of jihad, not by the 

Franks but by the enemy within - the Assassins. The man who had tried hardest to 

kindle the flame of Holy War amongst the Moslems, Ibn ahKhashshab, was no friend 

of the secretive sect of the Assassins. For him their collusion with the Franks was rank 

treason. Ridwan had allowed Assassins to settle in Aleppo and Ibn ahKhashshab 

had shown them no mercy after Ridwan s death. It was inevitable that the organization 

would take its revenge. One day in the summer of 1125 he was assassinated while 

leaving the mosque. 
During the next few years the Assassins set about undermining almost the whole 

of Moslem Syria, murdering the new emirs of Mosul and Aleppo, establishing 

themselves firmly in Damascus and all the time forging closer and closer links with 

the Franks in Jerusalem. It was the blackest of times for the Arab world, but salvation 

was at hand. ‘Syria would have been left completely at the mercy of the Franks/ wrote Ibn ah 

Athir, ‘with no one to defend its inhabitants; but God in His mercy to the Moslems was pleased 

to raise to power Imad ed'Din! This was Zengi, the leader they had been praying for. 
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v,} n many ways, Imad ed^Din Zengi was an unlikely champion of Islam. His 

■ first decisive act, in 1126, was to put down an uprising in Baghdad organized 

IH by the leader of the Islamic world — the Caliph, who wanted to free himself of 

l|| his Seljuk overlords. But Zengi was to be hailed as the man who set the Islamic 

world on the road to recovery of its shattered pride. ‘Before he came to power the 

absence of strong rulers to impose justice, and the presence of the Franks close at hand, had made the 

country a wilderness, but he made itflower again,’ wrote Ibn abAthir. 

Zengi seems to have a been a simple, austere man, who could be found sleeping 

on a straw mat in his tent more often than in one of the many palaces at his command. 

He was a heavy drinker, but he imposed the strictest discipline on his troops. The 

Arab chroniclers are unanimous in their praise for the way in which Zengi protected 

civilians from the sort of depredations that were normally inflicted by armies. 

Kemal ed/Din, the historian of Aleppo, records how, when Zengi’s troops were 

leaving Aleppo, they were under strict orders not to trample on any of the crops, and 

they obeyed so conscientiously that ‘they seemed to be walking between two ropes’. 

Zengi clearly inspired fear in even the most important of his followers. Ibn ab 

Athir tells the story of an emir who had billeted himself on a Jew in the city of 

Daquqa, which he held from Zengi as a fief. The Jew didn’t enjoy the Emir’s 

company that much and appealed to Zengi, who thought he had a point. Zengi 

didn’t need to reason with the unwanted lodger — ‘He had only to give the Emir a look to 

make him pack his bags and move’. 

Zengi’s rise to the top had begun soon after he suppressed the Caliph’s revolt. The 

Sultan of Baghdad rewarded him with control of Mosul and then acquiesced in his 
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seizure of Aleppo. This was a strong base from which to challenge the Franks, but it 

was nine years before Zengi attacked the Crusader kingdom. 

In 1131, King Baldwin 11 of Jerusalem died. His successor was his somindaw. 

Count Fulk of Anjou. In 1137 Zengi ambushed Fulk’s army, and the King and his 

bodyguard took refuge in a fortress north/east of Tripoli. They were surrounded and 

soon ran out of provisions. They had been reduced to eating their own horses when 

Zengi offered them terms of surrender. Hardly daring to believe their luck, they paid 

him 50 000 dinars and were allowed to leave unmolested. 

It was not long, however, before the Franks were kicking themselves, for a huge 

relief force under the command of the Emperor of Byzantium was close at hand. If 

they had held out just a bit longer, Zengi would have had to raise the siege. It was a 

great victory for the Moslem leader, and one which enabled him to bring back 

prosperity to the region. 

With his prestige on the rise, Zengi’s eyes inevitably began to stray towards Danv 

ascus. The Frankish chronicler William of Tyre was very sniffy about such ambitions: 

‘Zengi, mightily puffed up hy his successes, like an ever-restless worm, dared to aspire to conquer 

the kingdom of Damascus. ’ 

Nor were the people of Damascus themselves over/enthusiastic about his attentions. 

They didn’t trust Zengi one inch. 

Their fears were not assuaged when Zengi captured the nearby town of Baalbek 

from them. Having sworn on the Koran that he would spare the lives of the defending 

garrison if they surrendered, Zengi proceeded to crucify thirty^seven of them and had 

the commander burnt alive. If he wished to offer the good citizens of Damascus his 

protection, it was a kind of protection they thought they could well do without. 

In fact the Governor of Damascus, Unur, was so unenthusiastic that he sent an 

envoy to King Fulk of Jerusalem proposing an alliance against Zengi, whom he 

dubbed ‘this cruel enemy, equally dangerous to both kingdoms’. Unur’s overtures were web 

corned by the Franks and the astounded world witnessed the extraordinary sight of a 

large Frankish army, under the King of Jerusalem, riding to the aid of its Moslem 

neighbours in Damascus. 

Zengi beat a retreat and the Frankish army joined forces with the Damascenes to 

recapture the fortress ofBanyas, which had gone over to Zengi s side and which Unur 

had promised to hand over to the Franks in return for their help. ‘Then might have been 

witnessed a strange and novel sight,’ wrote William of Tyre, a hostile people encouraging their 

enemy to the fiercest warfare, and as an ally, actually in arms for the destruction of a common foe 

Christians and Damascenes were equal in courage and united in purpose. 
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Banyas eventually surrendered and was duly presented to the Franks in an unusually 

civilized and orderly fashion. There was no massacre of civilians, no pillaging, and 

the exdEmir of Banyas was even granted a pension from the revenues of the public 

baths and orchards to live on in his retirement! 

Zengi Captures Edessa 

Co win Damascus, Zengi would have to undermine its allies, the Franks. So he 

now set his sights on what he saw as the weakest Christian outpost, Edessa. In 

1144, after King Fulk’s death, Joscelin of Edessa fell out with his neighbour and 

overlord, Raymond of Antioch, to the point that ‘each rejoiced in the distress of the other 

and exulted over any untoward mischance.’ That helped. Towards the end of 1144 Zengi 

lured Joscelin away by attacking another Turkish prince with whom Joscelin had just 

signed a treaty of alliance. As soon as Joscelin and his army marched off to defend 

their new ally, Zengi turned round and started to besiege Edessa. 

The defences of Edessa were not what they had been. The previous lords of Edessa 

had actually lived in the city and made sure that it was well supplied with everything 

necessary for any possible siege. Joscelin, however, had taken up residence at Turbessel 

far from the disturbances caused by his enemies’, says William of Tyre disapprovingly. 

The native inhabitants of Edessa, continues the chronicler, ‘were utterly ignorant of 

the use of arms and familiar only with the business of trading ... The protection of the city was 

entirely in the hands of mercenaries. ’ What was more, these mercenaries were not being 

paid and their numbers were therefore dwindling. William of Tyre blamed not only 

Joscelin but also the Archbishop of Edessa, the Very Reverend Hugo: Although he 

was said to have amassed great riches, which he might have used to pay troops for defending the city; 

he preferred, like a miser, to store up his wealth rather than to consider his perishing people. ’ All 

of which was probably well known to Zengi, for he had his network of spies 

everywhere. 

The walls of Edessa were massive and protected by lofty towers. But, as William 

of Tyre puts it, ‘walls, towers, and ramparts avail but little if there are none to man them.’ For 

four weeks Zengi threw everything he had at the city. Finally, on Christmas Eve 

1144, Zengi himself personally went into the tunnels that the miners had dug under 

the great walls. His inspection complete, he gave the orders to set fire to the wooden 

props and beams that supported the tunnels. Once the fire had taken hold, the wooden 

supports collapsed, bringing down with them the walls of Edessa. Zengi’s troops 

poured in. 
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Under the first onslaught, the desperate citizens rushed for the shelter of the citadel. 

But a horrible shock awaited them. Archbishop Hugo had ordered the gates of the 

citadel to be closed against them. In the panic that followed, thousands of men, 

women and children were trampled to death. The rest, including the Archbishop 

himself, were slaughtered by Zengi’s troops. Many at the time blamed the Archbishop. 

An unsavoury reputation will ever attend his memory’, mutters William of Tyre. ‘For terrible 

are the words of Scripture concerning men of his sort: “Thy money perish with thee”.’ 

Zengi finally stopped the massacre of citizens. He slew the Frankish men and sold 

their women into slavery, but he protected the native Christians. He also destroyed 

the Latin churches but left the Armenian, Jacobite and Greek churches unmolested. 

He made it quite clear that his jihad was against the Franks — not against all Christians. 

He even showed favour to the Syrian bishop, Basil, who, when questioned about his 

future loyalty, proudly replied that his loyalty to the Franks showed how capable he 

was of loyalty. 

Zengi basked in unparalleled glory. He was the toast of the Arab nations and he 

accumulated titles by the score, as the chronicler Ibn abQalanisi recorded: 

The Emir, the general, the great, the just, the aid of God, the triumphant, the unique, the 

pillar of religion, the cornerstone of Islam, ornament of Islam, protector of God s creatures, 

associate of the dynasty, auxiliary of doctrine, grandeur of the nation, honour of kings, 

supporter of Sultans, victor over the inf dels, rebels and atheists, commander of the Moslem 

armies, the victorious king, the king of princes, the sun of the deserving.... 

And so on and so on. 

In fact Ibn abQalanisi apologizes for not using all Zengi’s correct titles every time 

he mentions him, on account of the fact that if he did, he wouldn’t have room for 

anything else. 

The taking of Edessa raised spirits and morale throughout the Moslem world. The 

first conquest of the Crusaders had been wrested back from them. The others, it 

seemed, were sure to follow. And from the ranks of the refugees new voices were heard 

proclaiming that the jihad was not just a war of defence, but a counter^crusade. a Holy 

War to drive the Franks from the Holy Land and restore Jerusalem to Islam. 

But it would not be Zengi who did that. 

Two years after capturing Edessa he was sleeping in his tent after a particularly 

heavy bout of drinking, ‘gorged with wine and unusually drunk, sniffs William of Tyre. 

He woke up to see one of his eunuchs drinking from his own goblet. Zengi muttered 

a few drunken threats about what he would do to the fellow and then fell fast asleep 

again. The eunuch was so terrified that as soon as he was certain that the great man 
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was safely snoring again, he snatched up a knife and stabbed him all over in a frenzied 

attack. The assailant then fled. 

And yet he slumbered amidst a proud army, ringed by his braves with their swords. He perished, 

neither riches nor power of use to him/ wrote Ibn al'Qalanisi. 

Nur ed'Din — the Saint'king 

Che discipline that Zengi had enforced with such an iron hand dissolved like starch 

out of a stiff collar. His treasury wras plundered and his enemies suddenly came 

out of the woodwork. ‘His treasures now became the prey of others, dismembered by his sons 

and adversaries’, recorded Ibn al'Qalanisi. At his death his enemies rode forth, brandishing the 

swords they dared not brandish while he lived. ’ Towns and fortresses were seized back by 

those from whom Zengi had taken them and the Franks began raiding across the 

borders again as his eldest son, Saif ed'Din, rushed to Mosul to claim his inheritance 

in the east. 

His second son, however, paused amidst the uproar in the camp to make a symbolic 

gesture which would grow in significance as the years went by. He strode into the tent 

where his father’s body still lay, took Zengi’s signet ring off his finger and placed it 

upon his own. Then he sped to Aleppo, accompanied by his faithful general, Shirkuh, 

to take over. 

‘Nur ed^Din was a tall, swarthy man with a beard but no moustache,’ Ibn al'Athir wrote 

in his eulogy. He had ‘a fine forehead and a pleasant appearance enhanced by beautiful, melting 

eyes.’ More significantly, he was the Turkish equivalent of a pulan: he belonged to a 

new generation of Turks who were much more Arabized than their fathers. 

Being Arabized meant entering more fully into the world of religion. Nur ed'Din 

held scholars and men of religion in high esteem and would even go as far as to ‘rise 

to his feet in their presence and invite them to sit next to him’. ‘He studied many religious books ... 

applied himself assiduously to prayer... ardently desired to do good. ’ 

Where Zengi had been cruel and unscrupulous, Nur ed'Din believed he should 

appear upright and just. Where Zengi had no qualms about hitting the bottle, Nur 

ed'Din disapproved of alcohol and in 1148 he banned the use of wine in his camp. 

He even stopped his troops listening to music, and proscribed instruments such as 

‘the tambourine, the flute and other objects displeasing to God’. Nur ed'Din was, in short, an 

Islamic fundamentalist. 

7 have read the lives of the kings of old,’ writes Ibn al'Athir, ‘and after the right'guided 

Caliphs and Umar 11 [the ideal rulers of orthodox Sunni tradition] I have not found one 
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more upright or a sterner advocate of justice ... Among his virtues were austerity; piety and a 

knowledge of theology.’ He turned his back on extravagance and presented an image 

of poverty and humility. Nur ed/Din’s wife once complained about this excessive 

austerity, 

and so he allotted to her, from his private property, three shops in Homs that would bring her 

in about twenty dinar a year. When she objected that this was not much, he said: 7 have no 

more. Of all the wealth I have at my disposal, 1 am but the custodian for the Moslem 

community, and I do not intend to deceive them over this or to cast myself into hell'fre for 

your sake.’ 

Kemal ad'Din adds: ‘Nur ed-'Din abandoned luxurious garments and instead covered himself 

with rough cloth.’ He even insisted on calling himself not Nur ed'Din (‘Light of 

Religion’) but plain ‘Mahmud’. Before battle he would pray: O God, grant victory to 

Islam and not to Mahmud. Who is this dog Mahmud to merit victory ? ’ 

The only snag about all this humility and piety was that they were also good 

politics and his enemies did not hesitate to accuse him of hypocrisy. What is more, 

Nur ed'Din himself exploited them for all they were worth. He constructed a vast 

propaganda machine, a network of scholars and writers, who poured out speeches, 

sermons, poems, books, circulars, letters and inscriptions. In short, he propagated the 

image of himself that he wished people to believe. 

So one has to view the eulogies of court writers like Ibn aLAthir with a certain 

circumspection, and yet, for all that, there does seem to have been something quite 

remarkable about this twentymine/year/old man who took over the front line against 

the Franks in 1146, and few would call his sincerity into doubt. Even his Frankish 

enemies confirmed his statesmanship and piety. ‘Nureddin ... was a wise and prudent man, 

and, according to the superstitious traditions of his people, one who feared God,’wrote. William 

of Tyre. 

The goals that Nur ed^Din had set — from the very moment he came to power — 

were expressed in the slogan ‘jihad and unity’. ‘Unity’, of course, meant ‘unity beneath 

the banner of Aleppo’. This was why the Governor of Damascus was less than 

enthusiastic about the caus e. Jihad meant alhout war and the restoration of Jerusalem 

(whose importance as an Islamic shrine was now being emphasized more than it had 

been in the past). Nur ed^Din even had a pulpit built in Aleppo, ready and waiting 

to be installed in the aLAqsa Mosque in Jerusalem when the great day arrived. 

Now it might seem obvious that any leader who was prepared to declare jihad in 

this way would receive the unbounded support of all men of religion. But this was 

not actually the case. The men of religion in the Islamic world had shown no particular 

< 106 > 



THE FIGHT BACK BEGINS 

<-» 

enthusiasm for jihad over the previous half century of Frankish occupation. There 

were exceptions like ahHarawi in Damascus and ahKhashshab in Aleppo, but in 

the main the energies and enthusiasms of the religious establishment were focused 

on the internal struggle against co/religionists who held slightly different views — 

particularly the Shi’ites. The battle against unorthodoxy seemed far more important 

to most Sunni Islamic leaders than the threat of the Western Christians. 

It was also important to Nur ed^Din himself. In 1149 he banned Shi’ites from 

Aleppo and by 1157 he was even prepared to put down a Shi’ite rebellion in his 

capital by brute force. Nur ed^Din fused the concept of jihad with Sunni orthodoxy. 

The two became so inextricably linked that the Sunni religious leaders became his 

most enthusiastic supporters. 

Nur ed'Din also had fewer distractions than did Zengi. Zengi had been master 

of Mosul as well as Aleppo; Mosul was far to the east and Zengi had had to take as 

much notice of the problems of Baghdad as of the Frankish frontier. That Iraqi side 

of the inheritance, though, passed into the hands of Nur ed^Din’s brother, Saifed^ 

Din. Wonder of wonders, these two brothers actually helped and supported each 

other, so that Nur ed/Din was able to concentrate on his western neighbours. 

The Loss and Recapture of Edessa 

As soon as Nur ed^Din took over the reins of power, he was in control. Joscelin, 

XV the ex/lord of Edessa, tried to reclaim his old city and - with the connivance of 

the Armenian Christian inhabitants - established himself back in the town. Nur ed^ 

Din acted with such promptness and determination that it took everybody by surprise, 

especially the languid and pleasuredoving Joscelin, ‘a lazy, idle man,given over to low and 

dissolute pleasures’, as William of Tyre fondly remembered him. 

Within fewer days than anyone would have thought possible, Nur ed/Din had 

Overleaf 

The Pools of Abraham, Edessa (modern Sanli 

Urfa in southern Turkey), outside one of the several 

reputed birthplaces of Abraham. Legend has it that 

when Nebuchadnezzar fired Abraham from a catapult 

from the citadel high above into a bonfire below, God 

turned the bonfire into this pool so that Abraham 

landed wet but unscathed. 
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surrounded Edessa. There was panic amongst the Christians. Joscelin and his col- 

laborators, who had had no time to construct defences, ran around like headless 

chickens. Eventually they decided on that time-honoured military manoeuvre known 

as ‘making a run for it’. 

The Armenian civilians who had assisted them were also left with no choice but 

to flee with the Frankish troops; otherwise they faced reprisals as traitors. The gates 

were flung open and chaos ensued as ‘a great multitude of all ranks and classes' scrambled 

to get out while, at the same time, the Turks tried to get in. Writes William of Tyre: 

There might have been seen a most piteous spectacle. A helpless throng of unwarlike citizens, 

old men and sick people, matrons and tender maidens, aged women and little ones, even babes 

at the breast, all crowded together in the narrow gateway. Some were trodden under the feet 

of the horses; others, crushed by the oppressing multitude, were stifled to death; while still 

others fell under the merciless sword of the Turks. 

Eventually the panic of those trying to leave prevailed. The Franks cut a way through 

the besieging troops ‘and our people spread out over the plain,’ says William. But to no 

purpose. Nur ed-Din pursued them and cut them down. 

This was a crucial triumph for Nur ed-Din. Edessa was the symbol of his father’s 

glory and thus vital to his prestige. The speed with which he accomplished this 

impressed friend and foe alike. It certainly impressed Unur, the Governor of Dam¬ 

ascus, with the need to keep on the right side of the new master of Aleppo. He 

hurriedly offered his daughter’s hand in marriage to Zengi’s son. And, of course, it 

suited Nur ed-Din to accept. 

It did not follow, however, that Unur now trusted his new son-in-law. On the 

contrary, the Governor of Damascus still preferred an alliance with the infidels. It 

would take an extraordinary man to persuade Unur to tear up his alliance with the 

Franks and throw in his lot with the Emir of Aleppo. And yet that is what was soon 

to happen. The man responsible was not even a Moslem. He was a Christian monk 

living some three thousand miles away. His name was Bernard. 
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like wildfire. Pope Eugenius ill immediately called for a second 

Crusade, but without a great deal of response. In France, King Louis 

summoned his bishops and nobles for the usual Christmas thrash and 

took the opportunity to present them with his scheme for rescuing the 

Holy Land. But the suggestion went down with the members of the court like a lump 

of leftover Christmas pudding. 

Enter Bernard, Abbot of Clairvaux! Almost single-handedly he swung the whole 

thing around. 

Bernard was one of the most powerful men in Europe at this time. He had helped 

establish Pope Innocent II back in 1130 and the present Pope had been his pupil. 

Bernard was a charismatic orator. He had such power to sway men’s souls — even to 

persuade them to give up everything they possessed — that it was said that when 

Bernard was around ‘mothers hid their sons and wives hid their husbands’. 

Bernard was not exactly an intellectual — in fact he was more of an anti-intellectual. 

There was no room for ‘reason’ in Bernard’s style of religion. His interest was ‘the 

heart’ — the passion of belief. This was to prove fatal to the people whom Bernard 

persuaded to journey east. 

On 31 March 1146, Bernard mounted a stage in a field outside the town of Vezelay 

and delivered his first Crusade sermon. It was the medieval equivalent of a pop 

concert. Massed crowds, too big for any building, gathered for a day out in the open, 

with a world-famous figure to entertain them. Bernard was not the sort of rock ’n 

roller to disappoint them. The crowd went wild. After the performance, so many 

mobbed the stage to take the Cross that Bernard ran out of ready-made ones and - in 
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what must have been a moment of pure theatre — tore off his own garments and cut 

them up into crosses for the crowd. 

Everywhere Bernard went he was a sensation. Crusade fever swept across Europe. 

Bernard promised would-be Crusaders not just the Earth, but Heaven too! God will 

1award to those fighting for him wages: the remission of their sins and everlasting glory’. And he 

had no qualms about appealing to his audience’s mercenary instincts: ‘If you are a 

prudent merchant, if you are a man fond of acquiring this world’s goods, I am showing you certain 

great markets; make sure not to let the chance pass you by ...’ Don’t miss this golden 

opportunity, folks! Instant Salvation Guaranteed! Available only for a limited time! 

Hurry! Hurry! 

For Bernard, the fall of Edessa was not a set-back, but an unrepeatable, oncedm 

adifetime opportunity, provided exclusively for You, by God, to atone for your sins 

and win His grace! ‘This is a plan not made by man, but coming from heaven and proceeding 

from the heart of divine love. ’ 

As usual, this particular manifestation of divine love sparked off massacres of Jews 

throughout Germany. Bernard was asked to come and restore order. He had opposed 

a rival Pope who had Jewish origins with the slogan: ‘It would be an insult to Christ if 

the offspring of a Jew occupied the throne of St Peter.’ But he was not, by the standards of 

his day, a fanatical anti/Semite. Bernard ordered the monk who had been inspiring 

the massacres back to his monastery and started to preach the Crusade in Germany 

himself. 

The German Crusaders even though his sermons were having to be delivered via a German interpreter, 

Bernard was a wow. 7 opened my mouth,’ Bernard wrote with some complacency to 

the Pope, 7 spoke; and at once the Crusaders have multiplied to infinity. Villages and towns are 

now deserted. You will scarcely find one man for every seven women. Everywhere you see widows 

whose husbands are still alive.’ No wonder mothers hid their children and wives their 

husbands whenever Bernard the Abbot was around! 

The King of Germany himself broke down under one of Bernard’s harangues. 

Bernard turned upon the great man and, taking on the voice of Christ himself, 

thundered in his ear: ‘Man, what ought I to do for you that I have not done?’ Stumped for 

an answer, Conrad is reported to have burst into tears and taken the Cross then and 

there. 

The German Crusade set off in May 1146, followed by the French in June. 
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Ibn abQalanisi confirms the sense of foreboding that permeated the Arab world at 

this time: 

Reports kept coming in —from Constantinople, from the territory of the Franks, and from 

neighbouring lands too — that the kings of the Franks were on their way from their countries 

to attack the land of Islam. They had emptied their own provinces, leaving them devoid of 

defenders, and had brought with them riches, treasures, and immeasurable material. They 

numbered, it was said, as many as a million foot'soldiers and cavalry, perhaps even more. 

Of course there were nothing like a million — but there were tens of thousands. 

The Germans made their way through Hungary without too much incident. 

Once they got into Byzantine territory, however, Conrad’s control began to slip. At 

Philippopolis a local juggler tried to earn an honest penny by displaying his talents 

to the Crusaders. He was so convincing that some of the Germans accused him of 

witchcraft. A not developed and the suburbs of the town were burnt to the ground. 

At Constantinople Emperor Manuel, like his grandfather Alexius, considered 

one crusading army at a time quite enough to deal with and persuaded Conrad to 

move on, without waiting for the French. When he reached Nicaea, Conrad split his 

forces in two, sending the non-combatants by the coast road while he and the main 

army took the shorter, more dangerous route straight across Anatolia. William of 

Tyre relates how the Greek guides led them by unfrequented ways into a wilderness 

and then suddenly deserted them. True or not, his analysis of why it happened 

illustrates Latin feelings about the Greeks: 

It was common talk, and probably quite true, that these perilous wanderings were devised 

with the knowledge and at the command of the Greek Emperor, who has always envied the 

successful advance of the Christians. For it is well known that the Greeks have always 

looked with distrust on all increase of power by the western nations (as they still do), 

especially by that of the Teutonic nations, as rivals of the empire. They take it ill that the 

king of the Teutons calls himself the Emperor of the Romans. For thereby he seems to 

detract too much from the prestige of their own Emperor. 

Near Dorylaeum they were suddenly ambushed by a large Turkish army, led by the 

son of Kilij Arslan, come to revenge his father’s defeat by the Crusaders in this very 

spot fifty years before. The Christians were weary and thirsty and taken completely 

by surprise. Weighed down with their armour, they were unable to engage the Turks 

in close combat. After a short battle ‘thesegreat Christian princes, whose arms and strength, 

courage and numbers had seemed incomparable, suddenly collapsed. Barely one tenth of that 

great expedition escaped. Conrad himself just made it back to Nicaea. 
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The Frankish Expedition 

ere the remnants of the German army joined up with the Franks under King 

X ) Louis vn, and together they decided to take the coast road on which the nom 

combatants had been sent. Conrad, however, took a boat back to Byzantium. He 

was ill, although William of Tyre suspected another motive: ‘perchance he found the 

arrogance of the Franks unendurable’. 

And so they moved on in the worsening winter conditions. Provisions began to 

get low and discipline went to the wind. Even when they arrived at the port of Attalia 

St Bernard, portrayed here in his 

Abbey of Clairvaux, stoutly 

resisting the devil. From a French 

manuscript c. 1445. 
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(modern Antalya) they found that food was in short supply, since the surrounding 

countryside was in the possession of the Turks and the people of Attalia relied on 

supplies arriving by sea. Worse still, the fleet provided by the Emperor of Byzantium 

to take them the rest of the way turned out to be far too small. The situation became 

even more acute as the food shortage began to take its toll; ‘in factsays William of 

Tyre, ‘the survivors of the army, and above all the poor, nearly perished of famine’. 

They were unable to get away, and yet they were unable to stay where they were. 

In this crisis the King of France showed the mettle of a true aristocrat. He packed the 

available ships with his own household and what cavalry he could, and cleared off— 
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abandoning the foot^soldiers and the unarmed pilgrims under his protection to their 

fate. He did leave 500 marks with the Governor of Attalia, for provisioning them, 

but the Governor refused to keep them within the safety of the city walls. Outside, 

they had little chance of surviving the Turkish archers and so these wretched creatures, 

starving, leaderless and unprotected by knights, limped along the road towards 

Antioch. Less than half of them made it. 

King Louis at Antioch 

King Louis arrived at Antioch amidst pomp and ‘the greatest magnificence’. Prince 

-Raymond of Antioch feasted the new arrivals, gave them the best acconv 

modation, distributed gifts and generally made them feel glad to be in such a civilized 

place. It was spring. The sap was rising. The air was full of optimism, camaraderie 

and romance. 

It was not to last. 

Prince Raymond was particularly relieved to see even the reduced force that arrived; 

he was desperate to smash the rising power of Nur ed'Din. He ‘felt a lively hope that 

with the assistance of the king and his troops he would be able to subjugate the neighbouring cities, 

namely; Aleppo, Shaizar, and several others ... For the arrival of King Louis had brought such 

fear to our enemies that now they not only distrusted their own strength but even despaired of 

life itself’ 

But Raymond did not know Louis. The King was still under the spell of the 

Abbot Bernard. His heart was fixed on Jerusalem. Besides, he felt his own force alone 

was too small to rescue Edessa and Conrad had already sailed on to Acre. Relations 

between the two men soured. Neither was the situation helped by the flowering 

relationship between the dashing Prince Raymond and Louis’s wife, the famous, the 

glamorous, the clever, the cultured, the incredibly wealthy Eleanor of Aquitaine. 

Eleanor had already complained that when she married Louis she thought she had 

married a man but found she had married a monk. She cannot have been encouraged 

by Louis’s determination to lead a religious life for the duration of the Crusade, 

which, presumably, involved very little in the way of sexual recreation. Whether this 

is so or not, there were soon rumours flying round Antioch that the fair Eleanor (aged 

twenty'six) had found an admirable substitute in her uncle Raymond (aged forty^ 

nine). King Louis found his honour in jeopardy and himself in danger of becoming 

a laughing stock. 

What made matters worse was the fact that Eleanor made no secret of her support 
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Rut’ ed-Din's Warriors Nur ed/Din’s army was unusually committed to the idea of Holy War. It 

was an unusual army. Most Turkish rulers relied on Turkish soldiers; 

Turcoman tribesmen and Mameluks who came from the regions north 

of Persia. Turcomen were usually new converts to Islam; Mameluks were children 

bought as slaves from pagan tribes on the steppes and reared as soldiers. When 

Nur ed'Din had lost the Iraqi section of his father’s domain to his brother, he 

had also lost a large part of the army. In their place, he recruited Kurdish warriors. 

The Kurds had been Moslems for centuries and lived in Armenia, Georgia, 

Northern Iraq and Eastern Anatolia. In the early twelfth century thousands of 

Kurds were driven out of these regions by a new Christian power in Georgia. 

The Georgian Christians were waging a crusade of their own, in a manner 

copied from the Latins. Armies led by priests and bishops, and with knights 

wearing the cross, were creating a new Eastern Christian empire. Nur ed'Din s 

Kurdish troops were refugees who had been forcibly educated in the concept of 

Holy War. 

for her uncle’s plan and her utter contempt for Louis’s decision to do nothing until 

he had visited the holy shrines of Jerusalem. Finally, when Louis publicly announced 

his intention of leaving for Jerusalem, the spirited Eleanor announced her intention 

of staying in Antioch and of seeking a divorce. Louis’s response was effective but 

ignominious. He kidnapped his wife, had her dragged to the ship by force and set 

sail for Acre. 
In Jerusalem, however, there was general relief that Louis had not stayed in 

Antioch. A council was held at the court at Acre to consider how ‘they might endeavour 

to enlarge the kingdom and add to the glory of the Christian name. Never had so many stars 

of court, church and battlefield gathered for such a glittering occasion in the short 

history of the Kingdom of Jerusalem. 

After a thorough discussion, the leaders, counsellors, advisers and wise men of the 

Franks, the Germans and the Kingdom of Jerusalem came to the unanimous decision 

that the most sensible thing would be to attack their only Moslem ally. To the 

newcomers, it must have looked obvious. Aleppo did not mean anything to them, but 

Damascus was a name they knew from the Bible. It was Moslem, it was strategically 
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important, and it would put Nur ed/Din on the defensive. But those who had been 

there longer should have known better. 

On 25 May 1148 the combined Christian armies set out for the attack on Danv 

ascus. The ruler of Damascus, Unur, had by this time plenty of warning of the 

approaching armies. He blocked off water/holes, strengthened his fortifications and 

sent off pleas for help to his Moslem rivals, including Nur ed/Din. 

The spirit of St Bernard hovered in the air. It was Bernard who had fired the people 

of Europe with the idea of the Crusade. It was Bernard who had given the Crusade 

its highly religious profile. He had not been there to take the decision to attack 

Damascus, of course, but it had been taken in his spirit — putting religious conviction 

before reason and common sense. Having said that, one can excuse the Frankish 

military planners for not knowing one thing. They could have had little idea of the 

effect that Nur ed/Din’s propaganda war was already having upon the Damascenes. 

Debacle at Damascus 

Damascus at this time was surrounded by orchards and the Crusaders decided that, 

if they captured these first, the city would be a piece of cake. These orchards, 

however, were not simply pretty little groves of fruit trees, they formed a quite for/ 

midable defence for the city, as William of Tyre describes: 

... the orchards stretched outJive miles or more in the direction of Lebanon and, like a dense, 

gloomy forest, encircled the city far and wide. To indicate the limits of each orchard and also 

to prevent trespassers entering at will, these groves are enclosed by walls of mud.... These 

orchards are of the greatest protection to the city. The vast number of trees planted close 

together and the narrow paths made it difficult - in fact, well nigh impossible -for anyone to 

approach Damascus from that side. Yet, from the very first, our leaders had determined to 

lead the army through the orchards and in this way open an approach to the city. 

It must have been a pretty nerve/racking business to be in that first wave of attackers. 

There were high towers spaced out amongst the orchards from which defenders 

constantly rained down arrows. As the Franks made their way down the narrow 

mud/walled paths, at any moment they might be stabbed by a lance thrust through a 

peep/hole in the walls. Many died in this way. 

On the first day of attack the Damascenes came out of the city to fight. The Arab 

chroniclers record that the regular militia of the city was supported by volunteers 

fighting for the faith’. Hatred of the Franks was at grass/root level. Striding ahead of the 
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Turkish soldiers and Arab enthusiasts was an elderly lawyer by the name of al- 

Findalawi. Unur rushed up to him and told him he was far too old to fight the Franks 

and that he should leave it to others. But al-Findalawi turned and, referring to a 

passage in the Koran, said: 7 have offered myself for sale and He has bought me. By God, I 

neither agreed nor asked that the contract should be annulled!1 The old man continued on into 

the battle and fought until he was cut down. Al-Findalawi’s sacrifice was to be long 

remembered. His grave became a place of pilgrimage; the jihad had found one of its 

first martyrs. 

For all their enthusiasm, however, the Damascenes were driven back into the city 

and the Franks took possession of the orchards. During the engagement Conrad is 

supposed to have slain a courageous Turkish knight in a remarkable way: ‘With one 

blow of the sword, he severed from the body of his enemy the head and neck, the left shoulder with 

the arm attached, and also a part of the side. ’ 

The citizens were in desperate straits, but then the situation changed. Reinforce- 

ments began to pour into Damascus from the north and the attackers were held at 

bay for several days. The Crusaders then made a fatal error. They decided to abandon 

their hard-won position in the orchards and establish themselves on a more open 

plain to the east of the city. The Moslems reoccupied the orchards immediately. The 

Crusaders found their new site was without water and also faced the strongest section 

of city wall. It was completely untenable and the opportunity of taking Damascus 

evaporated before their eyes in the pitiless heat and dust of the Syrian July. 

At dawn the next day, the Crusaders bowed to the inevitable, packed up their bags 

and slunk away ‘in miserable confusion and disorder’. Harassed by the Damascene archers 

every step of the way, their route became littered with corpses of men and their 

‘splendid mounts’ — ‘the bodies stinking so powerfully,1 says the Damascus chronicler, ‘that 

the birds almost fell out of the sky!’. 

St Bernard’s Crusade ended in fiasco. The post-mortem and the recriminations 

were not long in following. 

The Post-Mortem 

CTor a start, how on earth did the leaders come to evacuate the orchards and take up 

J an indefensible position; William of Tyre wrote that he ‘often interviewed wise men and 

those whose memory of those times is still fresh’, but he could never get to the bottom of the 

matter. He was certain of one thing, however: it was the local barons who had 

provided the bad advice — but what were their motives; 

< 122 > 



ST BERNARD’S DOGS 

<--> 

One view was that the old hands of the Kingdom of Jerusalem were getting their 

own back on the new boys from Europe. The local barons had assumed that Danv 

ascus was to be an addition to their own kingdom. They had been astonished to 

discover that the newly-arrived Kings of France and Germany were intending to 

hand the city over to one of their own cronies — the already wealthy Count Thierry 

of Flanders! ‘They preferred that the Damascenes should keep their city rather than to see it 

given to the count 

Others ascribed the action of the local lords to the baleful influence of Raymond 

of Antioch, still itching to get even with Louis. Still more put the treachery down to 

a deal between the local Franks and Unur. Money had undoubtedly changed hands 

at some stage, although it was later discovered to have been counterfeit. 

Back in Europe, most of the opprobrium inevitably fell on the instigator of the 

whole enterprise — Abbot Bernard of Clairvaux he who had promised so much on 

behalf of God. Had he not proclaimed that the Crusade was planned in heaven? That 

it could not fail? A German monk in Wurzburg condemned it all as the work of the 

devil and, pointing his pen at Bernard, denounced the ‘pseudo'prophets, sons of Belial 

and witnesses of Anti-Christ, who hy stupid words misled the Christians and hy empty preaching 

induced all sorts of men to go’. Bernard himself was as bewildered as anybody and could 

only complain to the Pope that it seemed ‘to point an end almost to existence itself. His 

only comfort was that it was probably all the fault of those iniquitous Greeks. 

But if the causes of the disaster were debatable, there was little doubt about the 

results. The Kingdom was permanently weakened. From that time on, the nobility 

who had come in such numbers from the West to aid the Kingdom of Jerusalem 

‘looked askance at the ways of our leaders’’ said William of Tyre. 

They justly declined all their plans as treacherous and showed utter indifference about the 

affairs of the kingdom ... their influence caused others who had not been present there to 

slacken in love towards the kingdom. As a result, fewer people, and those less fervent in 

spirit, undertook this pilgrimage thereafter. Moreover, even to the present day, those who 

come fear lest they be caught in the same toils... From this time on, the condition of the 

Latins in the East became visibly worse. 

The Franks had turned Damascus into an enemy and given Nur ed^Din s career the 

very boost it needed. 
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Arab Unity 

In 1150 Nur ed-Din camped outside Damascus with his army, but he made no 

attempt to attack it. This was psychological warfare, and he sent a letter to 

Abaq, the prince of Damascus: 

I have no intention, in camping here, of waging war against you nor of besieging you. I 

1 am only driven to act thus because of the numerous complaints by Moslems.. .for 

the country people have been despoiled of their goods and separated from their wives and 

children by the Franks, and there is no one to defend them ... Having been given the power 

that God has granted me to help the Moslems and to wage jihad against the polytheists I 

may not abandon them. 

He bombarded the city with poems and official letters, while at the same time carrying 

out a clandestine correspondence with the military. 

By chance, Nur ed-Din’s right-hand man, Shirkuh, had a brother called Ayub 

who just happened to be a high-ranking officer in the Damascene army. Shirkuh 

managed to persuade him to assist the cause from within. Since Ayub’s activities were 

covert, we don’t know exactly what he did to help Nur ed-Din, but judging from 

the generosity with which Nur ed-Din later rewarded him, his contribution must 

have been significant. 

Faced with this propaganda onslaught, the rulers of Damascus failed to find any 

Nur ed-Din brought a golden age to Damascus, building schools, 

hospitals, courts ofjustice and even ‘a palace for the poor’. A number 

of his buildings still stand to this day — such as this bathhouse which 

is still in use. Its profits were used to support the Great Mosque. 
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adequate countermeasure. They certainly managed to do exactly the wrong thing — 

sullenly reiterating their reliance on the Franks. 'Between you and us/ they wrote to Nur 

ed'Din, ‘there is henceforth nothing but the sword. Some Franks will come to our aid if you besiege 

us’. They were simply playing into his hands. Especially when, shortly after Nur ed/ 

Din’s arrival outside the city, the spring rains broke a long winter drought and the 

citizens cheerfully attributed it to: ‘the goodness, the justice and the piety’ of the sovereign of 

Aleppo. 

Four times in four years Nur ed^Din returned, building up the pressure each time. 

When the rulers of the city did call in the Franks for protection, it ‘plunged upright 

citizens and men of religion into anguish and led them to deplore even more this disastrous and 

abominable situation’. In April 1154 Nur ed^Din surrounded Damascus for the last 

time. When the Aleppan war-cry echoed through the city, both troops and civilians 

opened the gates and welcomed the besiegers. The ripe plum fell into Nur ed^Din’s 

lap just as he always knew it would. 

Zengi’s son had finally achieved, without bloodshed, what his father had failed to 

achieve. Moreover, Nur ed'Din proved himself to be the kind of conqueror you dream 

of being conquered by. He assembled all the city worthies and assured them their lives 

and property would be safe. At the same time he provided food^stocks for the hungry 

populace. Over the next few years, Nur ed^Din reduced and abolished taxes; he 

founded schools, hospitals, mosques, convents, public baths and palaces of justice. 

Damascus found itself launched on a golden age. Its citizens never regretted their 

change of allegiance to the Emir of Aleppo. 

For the first time since the Franks had appeared upon the scene, Damascus and 

A leppo were joined under a single ruler. The power of a united Syria could at last 

be turned against the invaders. Their first battleground was Egypt. 

The Struggle for Egypt 

€gypt was still an enormously wealthy country, but its government had fallen into 

disrepute. The nominal head was the Fatimid Caliph, the religious leader, who 

claimed descent from the Prophet’s daughter, Fatima. But for many years the Caliph 

had been no more than a puppet and the real power had lain in the hands of his chief 

adviser and manipulator, the Vizier. 

Now being Vizier of Egypt was in many ways a great job: enormously well paid, 

more perks than a baseball player, a great palace to live in and unlimited power. The 

only snag was that it was not what you could call a secure career. In fact, of the last 
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fifteen Viziers only one had left office alive. And don t imagine that the others had 

died of old age. They had been poisoned, stabbed, hanged, crucified, beheaded, 

lynched by mobs and variously done away with, either by their rivals or by their 

nearest and dearest. To be Vizier was to take part in a bloody game of musical chairs 

which always seemed to end in tears. 

In 1163 Shawar, the latest ex/Vizier of Egypt, who unusually had managed to 

escape with his life, turned up at the court of Nur ed/Din begging for help to win 

back his so briefly held kingdom. By way of inducement he was able to offer substantial 

money, land and one third of the grain revenues of Egypt! Nur ed/Din refused to be 

rushed into a decision. To get to Egypt meant a march through Frankish territory. It 

would be pointless to send a small army, but sending a large one would expose the 

rest of Syria. 

Eventually Nur ed/Din opened up a copy of the Koran at random and consulted 

it. Ele then called in his chief adviser and general, a short, fat, one-eyed man, by the 

name of Shirkuh. Shirkuh was a rather surprising character for the Saint/King’s 

closest confidant. He was a Kurd of lowly origin who had risen to high rank through 

his own merits. But he was no saint. He was often drunk, occasionally violent and 

recklessly generous. But he was beloved by his men and he was a general of genius. 

Before the end of May 1164 he had reinstalled Shawar as Vizier in Cairo. The 

usurper was killed and his body thrown to the dogs in the street by order of the 

Caliph. ‘For it is a matter of indifference to a supreme ruler,’ explains William of Tyre, 

‘whether one rival claimant or the other wins, as long as there is someone who will devote himself 

slavishly to the care of his lord’s personal affairs and to those of the realm. 

Having gained his objective, Shawar showed his gratitude by reneging on his 

promises to Nur ed/Din and telling Shirkuh to clear off out of his country. When 

Nur ed'Din’s General showed no sign of moving, Shawar took his doomsday option. 

He invited the Franks to come and defend him ! The King of the Franks didn t need 

much persuading. Ever since he had taken over the throne of Jerusalem in 1162, 

King Amalric had had his eye on Egypt. In fact he had already invaded once and 

besieged the very town in which Shirkuh was now holed up. 

Amalric was a curious figure. He ‘was excessively fat’, William of Tyre informs us, 

‘with breasts like those of a woman, hanging down to his waist. But he was otherwise good/ 

looking, with sparkling eyes and blond, though slightly receding hair. He had the 

bearing of a prince, but a strange way of laughing so that his whole body was 

convulsed, and he was not an easy conversationalist - perhaps because of a slight 

stutter. 

< 127 > 





ARAB UNITY 

<-» 

In the third week of July 1164 a combined force of the two former enemies, 

Egyptian and Frankish, besieged Shirkuh in the city of Bilbeis. ‘What a marvel!’ 

exclaimed ahQadi aFFadil in a panegyric to Shawar. ‘You oppose one enemy with the 

help of another!... The crosses serve to help Islam!’ Nur eddDin, however, had no intention 

of losing his best general. So he tried to draw Amalric out of Egypt by attacking a 

Frankish stronghold near Antioch. The Frankish troops who had remained within 

the kingdom hurried to the siege, but Nur ed^Din was soon able to lure them into a 

trap, in which many were massacred and the leaders captured. 

Syrian confidence must have soared at the spectacle of so many proud Frankish 

princes shuffling into Aleppo chained together ‘like the lowest slaves’. Amongst them 

were the Prince of Antioch, the Count of Tripoli, the Governor of Cilicia, and the 

Count of Edessa. ‘They were cast into prison and became the sport of infdels.’ Nur ed^Din 

then sent a sackful of Frankish scalps and banners to Shirkuh with instructions to be 

sure to display them on the ramparts for the Franks to see. Amalric took the hint and 

came to terms with Shirkuh. Each side agreed to leave Egypt and return to their 

homes. In Shirkuh’s case it took another bribe of 30 000 dinars from the Vizier to 

help him on his way. 

Two years later, news leaked out that Nur ed^Din’s chief general was once again 

busy planning another visit to Egypt - this time with the clear intention of staying. 

The Vizier immediately implored Amalric to come to his aid again, and the race for 

the Nile started all over again. 

Saladin 

‘/'VXy uncle Shirkuh turned to me and said: “Yusuf pack your things, we’re going.” When I 

VIJ heard this order, I felt as if my heart had been pierced by a dagger, and I answered, “In God’s 

name, even were I granted the entire kingdom of Egypt, I would not go.” ’ This is how Saladin 

recalled the beginning of his great adventure in later years. And he concluded with 

admirable brevity: ‘In the end I did go with my uncle. He conquered Egypt, then died. God then 

In 1149 Nur ed^Din trapped Raymond of Antioch’s army 

near the Fountain of Murad and destroyed it. Raymond was 

killed and thus paid the ultimate penalty for failing to persuade 

the leaders of the Second Crusade to attack Nur ed'Din 

and Aleppo. From Les Passages fails Outremer..., c. 1490. 

< 12 9 > 



ARAB UNITY 

<---> 

placed in my hands power that I had never expected.’ The first hardship Saladin would have 

had to endure was a sandstorm while crossing the Sinai: 

The men dared not open their months to speak to one another, nor could they keep their eyes 

open. Dismounting from their horses, they lay prostrate clinging to the ground, their hands 

pressed into the sand as far as possible, lest they be swept aloft by the violence of the whirlwind 

and again be dashed to the ground. For in that desert waves of sand like those of the sea are 

wont to rise and fall as in a tempest. 

Nevertheless, Shirkuh still managed to take the FrankisUEgyptian forces by surprise. 

Instead of showing up outside Cairo in the south, as expected, he and his huge army 

suddenly appeared from behind the pyramids of Giza on the other side of the Nile, 

beyond their reach. 

He could not get at them either. But nor could he get at Cairo. It was stalemate. 

The Franks showed their admirable spirit of free enterprise by threatening to return 

home unless the Vizier payed them a lot more money. Nur ed^Din’s general also had 

a proposal for his fellow Moslem in Cairo: ‘The Frankish enemy is at our mercy; cut off 

from their bases. Let us unite our forces and exterminate them. The time is ripe; the opportunity 

may not arise again. ’ 

But Shawar was not in the business oil jihad. He had Shirkuh’s messenger executed, 

dutifully reported the contents of the message to the Franks and ratified his agreement 

with Amalric. The annual tribute was to be increased. A sum of four thousand gold 

pieces was to be handed over to the Franks and Amalric was to ‘guarantee with his own 

hand, in good faith, without fraud or evil intent, that he would not depart from the land of Egypt 

until Shirkuh and his entire army should be utterly destroyed or entirely driven from the territories 

But Shirkuh was not easily to be destroyed. He set off across Egypt at an extras 

ordinary rate, with Amalric and Shawar in pursuit. Only when he found a battle^ 

ground that suited him, at Babain, did Shirkuh pause to give battle, and there he was 

able to inflict casualties out of all proportion to the size of his army. The young Saladin 

commanded the centre battalion. 

Shirkuh then established himself in Alexandria, whose Sunni population weE 

corned him. But the city was immediately besieged by the FranavEgyptian army. 

Shirkuh tried to draw them off by breaking out, but they simply let him go, leaving 

Saladin to cope with the problems of a starving city under siege. 

Eventually Shirkuh was forced to do a deal with the Franks: ‘We are wasting our time 

here, and the days are passing without result. Many duties await us at home.’ Amalric, who was 
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indeed getting nervous about the situation back in the Kingdom of Jerusalem, agreed. 

There was a strange truce before they all went home; Amalric flew his standard from 

the Pharos lighthouse and Saladin recuperated in the Frankish camp. He was given 

a bodyguard, made friends with many Franks and was generally treated with great 

respect. It was even rumoured that he was knighted by the Constable, Humphrey of 

Toron. 

But Shirkuh and Saladin must have returned to Damascus disappointed men. It 

was beginning to look as if the conquest of Egypt was beyond their reach — certainly 

as long as Shawar could call in the protection of the Franks. Nur ed'Din told Shirkuh: 

‘You have exerted yourself twice, but have not achieved what you sought’ and put him in charge 

of the town of Homs. Saladin is reported as saying: 7 suffered such hardships at Alexandria 

as I shall never forget.’ Neither could have imagined that within a year and a half each 

in turn would have become lord of Egypt. 

The Fall of Egypt 

Che surprise move came from Amalric. At the beginning of November 1168 he 

suddenly appeared before the walls of Bilbeis, broke in and massacred the inhabit 

tants, regardless of age, sex or religion. William of Tyre was clearly deeply troubled 

by this treacherous breach of an alliance. The reason some gave for the attack was that 

Shawar was plotting with Nur ed'Din against the Franks. But others, he says, ‘claim 

that all these charges were false, that the Sultan Shawar was quite innocent and, far from deserving 

such treatment, had in good faith kept the treaty ... They assert that the war made against him was 

unjust and contrary to divine law; that it was merely a pretext invented to defend an outrageous 

enterprise. ’ 

It was an adventure that could not lead anywhere; even though Amalric besieged 

Cairo, he could not hope to rule Egypt. There simply were not enough Latins in the 

east to do it. He pulled out. But in the meantime Shawar had applied to Nur ed'Din 

for help. Shirkuh must have been hardly able to believe his luck. Here he was being 

Overleaf 

Nur ed'Din’s army was essentially a form of feudal levy, composed of semi' 

independent Emirs who brought their own men for relatively brief periods of 

service. It was supplemented by slave'soldiers (Mameluks), Kurdish mercenaries 

and volunteer enthusiasts. From a French manuscript. 
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actually invited to enter the city he had coveted for so long. He was on his way in a 

matter of weeks. 

On 8 January 1169 Shirkuh finally and triumphantly entered Cairo. Two days 

’ later he had an interview with the Caliph. And a week after that, Vizier Shawar was 

killed. The dirty work was entrusted to Saladin and some other emirs. They unhorsed 

the Vizier and dragged him off to a tent, where he was kept in suspense until the order 

came from the Caliph to behead him. fThus strong through the power of the sword, Shirkuh 

became master of all Egypt.’ But he was not to enjoy his dream for long. Three months 

later he was dead. The office then fell on his chief lieutenant, his nephew Saladin. 

< 13 4 > 



9 

❖ 
S^Uinn tbe Upstart 

Upon the death of Shirkuh, the advisers of the Caliph al'Adid suggested that 

he name Yusuf the new Vizier, because he was the youngest, and seemingly 

the most inexperienced and weakest, of the emirs of the army.’ This is how 

Ibn al-Athir interpreted Saladin’s rise to power. In fact, at the risk 

of spoiling a good story, the idea that Saladin was a shy, retiring 

nobody who had suddenly been forced into the limelight is not really tenable. He had 

killed Shawar and put his uncle Shirkuh into power. He had demonstrated ability in 

the invasions of Egypt and proved himself in battle. 

Even before the Egyptian campaign, the young Saladin must have shown promise 

for his uncle to have chosen him as his aide-de-camp in preference to Shirkuh’s own 

sons. Before that, Nur ed-Din had himself appointed Saladin as chief of police in 

Damascus, a job in which Saladin was supposed to have levied a tax off the earnings 

of prostitutes. At any rate he seems to have earned a reputation for being pretty tough — 

a contemporary poet warns the thieves of Syria to ‘go softly’, for this Yusuf is prepared 

to cut off their hands. 

There is a touch of Prince Hal in some of the Arab accounts of Saladin’s assump¬ 

tion of power. They report that, on his appointment, he repented of‘wine-drinking 

and turned away from frivolity’ so that he might in the future ‘assume the dress of 

religion’. 

There was certainly nothing uncertain, weak or inexperienced in the way Saladin 

handled his new situation. He was unexpectedly running an alien country of which 

he had little experience, amongst strangers, strange customs, and in the most dangerous 

job in a court celebrated for its intrigues and conspiracies. Some people might have 

come unstuck. Not Saladin. He immediately set about winning over the population 
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by spending the money that his uncle had collected. He started moving Fatimid 

troops out of Cairo and the moment he got wind of a palace conspiracy, he acted 

ruthlessly and effectively. 

One of his colleagues is supposed to have become suspicious of a ragged man 

carrying a new pair of shoes. On examination the shoes were discovered to contain a 

letter from a group of Egyptian emirs, headed by one of the palace eunuchs, requesting 

the Franks to come back and help destroy the Syrian interloper. This story is probably 

just an example of Saladin’s propaganda, but however he learnt of the plot and 

whether or not there was a plot, Saladin had the eunuch killed. 

This seems to have been the signal for a revolt by the Black Regiment of the 

Fatimids. Trouble had been brewing amongst them for some time, and they had made 

and broken Viziers. ‘They thought that all white men were pieces of fat and that all black men 

were coals.’ On the day after the eunuch’s murder, the Black Regiment gathered in the 

main square and a pitched battle raged for the next two days. They were finally forced 

back to their own quarter and when this was burnt down, they sued for mercy. They 

were allowed to escape to Giza, presumably disarmed, and here they were set upon 

by Turanshah, Saladin’s brother, and massacred virtually to a man. 

The Rift between Saladin and Nur ed'Din 

By the end of 1169 Saladin was the unchallenged master of Egypt. His wealth was 

vast. He gave his father and brother control of territories that brought them one 

million dinars a year. No matter how many times Saladin swore allegiance to Nur 

ed'Din, there was no disguising the situation: the former protege was now in a 

position of almost equal power to his old master, and of greater wealth. This is not 

something that Nur ed'Din could have relished. 

According to some accounts, Saladin’s independence of action got up Nur ed' 

Din’s nose. But the chronicler Abu Shama reports that Nur ed'Din was most irritated 

by the way that Saladin spent money without asking for his advice; the whole point 

of conquering Egypt was that it was rich and Nur ed'Din had good use for the money. 

Nur ed'Din was also impatient for Saladin to abolish the Shi’ite Caliphate. But 

Saladin knew he could not move too fast without risking a popular revolt. In May 

1170 he dismissed all Shi’ite judges and replaced them with orthodox qadis, but the 

circumspection of his efforts in this direction and his refusal to deal with the Fatimid 

Caliphate itself led Nur ed'Din ‘to suspect and revile him’. 

Finally, in June 1171, Nur ed'Din wrote to Saladin ordering him to remove the 
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‘Saladin King of Egypt’ became a stock figure in the European 

line-up oflegendary heroes. This representation comes from a 

fifteentlvcentury Italian manuscript. 
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Caliph. Saladin still hesitated, but since this was a direct order he would have to obey 

or openly revoke his allegiance to Nur ed'Din. It was at this point that Saladin’s 

amazing luck came to his rescue. The Caliph died. The timing was so perfect that 

it’s hard to believe that poison was not involved, and yet only one source mentions 

such a possibility. Perhaps it’s easier to believe it was just Saladin’s luck. 

The Caliph of Baghdad was now officially recognized in Egypt. Sunni orthodoxy 

had triumphed. But this did not smooth relations between Cairo and Damascus. On 

the contrary, the removal of the Fatimid Caliphate meant that Saladin simply became 

more independent. He was now absolute ruler of a state that was even larger and 

richer than Syria. Tensions with Nur ed'Din were bound to get even worse. For the 

next few years, Saladin was to execute an elaborate ballet in order to avoid confronting 

his ‘master’ head-on. 

Egypt and Syria were separated by the Frankish fief of Transjordan. Shortly after 

the death ofaPAdid, Saladin dutifully acted on a promise he had given Nur ed'Din 

that he would help capture this vital link. He boldly marched into southern Jordan 

and laid siege to the fortress of Kerak. After a few days, however, 'convinced that it was 

impregnable, Saladin gave the order to depart and returned to Egypt by the desert route’. 

Ibn aPAthir says that the fortress was actually on the point of surrendering and 

that the real reason for Saladin’s sudden departure was the imminent arrival of Nur 

ed'Din. The last thing Saladin wanted was a face'tO'face meeting with his master, 

in which he would inevitably have to revert to being the subordinate. What if Nur 

ed'Din ordered him back to Damascus? It was safer to keep at a distance and maintain 

the fiction of submission whilst pursuing a policy of independence. 

Another reason, says Ibn aPAthir, was that Saladin had no intention of removing 

the Franks from Palestine. A combined attack by the Syrians from the east and the 

Egyptians from the west might well annihilate the Frankish kingdom, but that would 

increase Nur ed'Din’s power and, what is worse, remove the buffer between Cairo 

and Damascus. So Saladin pretended that he had to rush back to Egypt to suppress 

a Fatimid revolt. ‘Nur ed'Din did not accept the excuse.’ 

Indeed, Nur ed'Din was furious and threatened to invade Egypt. Saladin hastily 

summoned a family council. His nephew, Taki ed'Din, was all for war, but his father, 

Ayub, is quoted as telling Saladin, 7 am your father and if there is anyone here who loves you 

and wishes you well it is I. But know this: if Nur ed'Din came, nothing could ever prevent me 

from bowing down before him and kissing the ground at his feet. If he ordered me to lop off your 

head with my sabre, I would do it. For this land is his. ’ 

However, the story goes that when the council was over, Ayub told his son privately 
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that if Nur ed'Din came he would not be allowed to touch a single sugar cane. But 

why provoke a confrontation; If Saladin continued to show submission and deference 

towards Nur ed'Din, his old master would have no excuse for invading. Saladin 

accepted the advice, and he continued to refer to himself, in their correspondence, as 

‘the servant’ and to Nur ed'Din as ‘the master’. He maintained the fiction that 

everything he did was in Nur ed'Din’s name - whether it was ruling Egypt or 

annexing the Yemen. 

Nur ed'Din, on the other hand, was expecting something a little more concrete: 

1since the time when Egypt was taken Nur ed'Din had wanted an agreed sum of money to he 

contributed which would help him meet the expenses of the Holy War... He was waiting for 

Saladin to suggest this on his own account and did not ask him for it. ’ Eventually Saladin sent 

him a gift, consisting of some of the Fatimid family treasures (confiscated after the 

death ofal'Adid): 60 ooo dinars, some ‘manufactured goods’, an ass and an elephant. 

Nur ed'Din seems to have taken this present as a calculated insult. He was expecting 

the revenue due from his new state of Egypt and instead all he was being offered was 

a ‘gift’ from the nephew of his former lieutenant who now clearly regarded himself as 

his equal. ‘We did not need this money ... / he retorted proudly, ‘he [Saladin] knows that 

we did not spend money on the conquest of Egypt out of a need for [ more] money’. 

But of course he needed the money badly. To assert his rights, Nur ed'Din ordered 

an audit ofhis newly acquired province. In fact his disenchantment with Saladin had 

become so bitter that no one in his court dared to mention Saladin’s name any more. 

He was only referred to as ‘the upstart’, ‘the disloyal’, ‘the ingrate’ or ‘the insolent’. 

But before the auditor could make his report to Damascus, Nur ed'Din was dead - 

probably of a heart attack. Saladin’s luck was infallible. The great atabeg had been 

out riding with one ofhis emirs who happened to say: ‘God knows if we shall meet here 

again in a year’s time,’ to which Nur ed'Din replied, ‘who knows whether we shall meet here 

in a month’s time?’ According to Ibn al'Athir, Nur ed'Din was actually in the midst 

of preparations to invade Egypt and take it from Saladin, when ‘there came a command 

from God that he could not disobey’. 

Master of Damascus 

nur ed'Din left behind his ten year'dd son, al'Salih, as his heir, with the inevitable 

result that there was a vicious scramble for power - for control of the boy - 

amongst the emirs. The Governor of Aleppo declared himself the boy’s regent, but 

neither he nor any other Turk had the backing of the emirs of Damascus. They 
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discussed their vulnerability to the Franks and decided that, like it or not, the only 

man who could successfully defend them was The Upstart. In one of the great 

Upturns in history Saladin ‘was secretly summoned by the important men of Damascus . 

In late October Saladin made his way across ‘the desert wastes of Syria and 

arrived at Damascus with a small army; the gates were thrown open to him. Saladin 

remembered the occasion in a roseate glow: ‘We dawned on the people like light in darkness, 

he wrote. ‘The people rushed to us both before and after we had entered the city in joy at the [coming 

of] our rule.’ In actual fact he had been met outside the gates by a not inconsiderable 

part of the Damascene army, over whom the emirs had lost control, but they had 

put up no serious resistance and dispersed without fighting. They knew that chaff is 

winnowed by the wind,’ ns one of his qadis put it. 

The take-over had been bloodless and Saladin immediately reassured the people 

of his good intentions towards them. He was anxious that his actions should be seen 

as legitimate by a population that had committed itself to Nur ed/Din. He cut taxes 

and claimed that he had taken the city as a step on the road to the conquest of 

Jerusalem. Everything he did was ostensibly for the Caliph in Baghdad and for the 

cause ofjihad. He put himself forward as the only possible leader of th e jihad the only 

true mujahid. The unity of Syria under him was a simple necessity if the Franks were 

to be driven out. 

‘This Saladin ...a man of humble antecedents and lowly station, now holds under his control 

all these kingdoms, for fortune has smiled too graciously upon him. It is hardly surprising that 

Nur ed'Din should have looked upon Saladin as an upstart, but it is curious that the 

Frankish historian William of Tyre should see him in exactly the same light. William 

continues: ‘Saladin, in defiance of the laws of humanity, wholly regardless of his lowly condition, 

and ungrateful for the benefits that had been showered upon him by the father of that boy king, had 

risen against his rightful lord. ’ 

Within a couple of hundred years, Saladin’s lowly birth was reckoned to be a point 

in his favour. ‘Saladin was... a man of humble enough birth,’ wrote Boccaccio, ‘but of great 

and loftiest spirit and highly trained in deeds of war ... He was munificent in giving and of his 

This illustration of the Caliph of Baghdad s 

standard bearers indicates his essentially 

ceremonial role. The Caliph was not 

a military figure. 
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magnificence one cannot say enough. He was a pious man and he marvellously loved and honoured 

good men.’ 

But as he installed himself in Damascus in that October of 1174, his enemies in 

Aleppo saw Nur ed^Din’s son as his true successor and Saladin as nothing but an 

ambitious adventurer who had betrayed his master: ‘You go too jar, Yusuj you overstep 

all limits. You are but a servant of Nur ed'Din, and now you seek to grasp power for yourself 

alone? But make no mistake, for we who have raised you out of nothingness shall be able to return 

you to it. ’ 

The people of Damascus, on the other hand, were ready for a new leader. The 

combination of Nur ed^Din’s Holy War propaganda and the continuing flow of 

refugees from Frankish lands had created a hotbed of religious fervour which was 

in a way similar to the energy that had launched the Crusades in Europe eighty 

years earlier. 

Jihad Fever in Damascus 

Che centre of religious energy in Damascus was a suburb that had been founded by 

refugees from the Christian occupation in Palestine. In the region of Nablus, the 

Frankish overlord, Baldwin of Mirabel, had managed to generate an entire Islamic 

fundamentalist movement by himself. 

Baldwin had been strapped for cash. A power struggle in Jerusalem between the 

forceful Queen Mother, Melisende, and her son, the boy/king Baldwin ill, had 

resulted in her setting up a luxurious but powerless shadow^court on Baldwin of 

Mirabel’s doorstep. It was to be paid for out of income from the royal estate lands 

around it. Baldwin must have suddenly found himself being ordered to find large 

cash sums for the King’s mother out of his own pocket, because his lands were part 

of that royal estate. 

Desperately squeezed, he quadrupled the poll tax on his peasants. As this led to 

increased crime, he imposed draconian penalties; when people tried to run away, he 

ordered that they lose a foot. The peasants protested by attending religious services 

instead of working. There had been less Moslem emigration from this region than 

most, so the population was overwhelmingly Moslem. Every Friday became the 

equivalent of a strike day; fields emptied as peasants flocked to the village of Jama’il 

to listen to the midday Friday sermon of a religious teacher called Ahmad ibn 

Muhammad ibn Qudama. 

Ibn Qudama was a strict orthodox firebrand who raged against the oppression 
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taking place. In 1156 Baldwin decided to deal with him. That gentleman heard what 

was in store for him and organized a mass flight of over 130 families from Jama il 

and the surrounding villages under cover of a pretended onion-planting expedition. 

They managed to get safely over the Jordan to Damascus, where they settled outside 

the walls. There the refugees founded a community dedicated to extreme religious 

orthodoxy and the vigorous teaching of jihad. Mosques and madrassas (schools) were 

founded and the suburb that resulted is to this day still called al-Salihiyya - ‘Purity’. 

Saladin against his Fellow'Moslems 

Saladin’s rhetoric may have been full of allegiance to the cause ofjihad, but he actually 

spent most of the next ten years fighting Moslems rather than Franks. His first 

objective was Aleppo, where his nominal master and Nur ed-Dins rightful heir, al- 

Salih, was being kept under close guard by the emirs. Saladin was initially quite 

confident. When he wrote to his nephew he allowed himself a pun on the Arabic 

name for Aleppo, Halab, which means milk: ‘We have only to do the milking and Aleppo 

will he ours. ’ It was not that easy. 

The moment Saladin first brought his army up to the walls of Aleppo, the thirteen 

year-old abSalih appeared in the market place and made an impassioned appeal to 

the Aleppans. ‘Behold this unjust and ungrateful man who wishes to take my country from me 

without regard to God or man! I am an orphan, and 1 rely upon you to defend me, in memory of my 

father who so loved you. ’ 

Never act with dogs or children, said W. C. Fields, and the same was true in 

medieval politics. After abSalih’s screen-stealing performance, it was difficult for 

Saladin to maintain the image of the faithful servant dutifully coming to the rescue of 

his master’s son. The Aleppans were certainly not having any of it and decided to 

put a halt to the whole performance by calling in the services of the Assassins. Even 

while Saladin was encamped outside Aleppo, Assassins made a bold attempt on his 

life. One of his emirs was killed in the attack. 

Overleaf 

Caravans were essential to the operation of Middle 

Eastern civilization. They often consisted of thousands 

of pack-animals (especially camels, of course), and were 

temporary travelling cities. The destruction of a caravan was a 

social and economic catastrophe. 
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The next year Saladin defeated a combined Aleppan-Mosuli army just outside 

Aleppo. He gave the Lord of Mosul’s tent to his nephew, and its contents were 

recorded by one of the chroniclers. It’s rather extraordinary what a Syrian war/lord 

in the twelfth century took with him into battle: treasure-chests, wine, musical 

instruments, singing girls and a collection of birds including doves, nightingales and 

parrots. Saladin returned the latter to the Lord of Mosul with the note: ‘Tell him to go 

hack toplaying with these birds, for they are safe and will not bring him into dangerous situations. ’ 

Saladin then turned to besiege Aleppo again and, once again, the Assassins struck. 

This time four of them actually managed to get right up to his tent. There was a 

violent struggle in which Saladin’s cheek was gashed. Perhaps his life was saved by 

the fact that he had taken to wearing a mail coif under his head-dress. The Assassins 

were cut down and two of Saladin’s protectors died. 

Saladin himself retired a shaken man, blood streaming from his face. From then 

on he became understandably paranoid. His tent was henceforth surrounded by a 

stockade and he would not talk to anybody he did not recognize. Some say that he 

took to sleeping fully armed in a cage. In fact fear spread throughout the entire army 

and everyone became afraid of everyone else. 

It was a situation that could not be allowed to continue. Saladin’s answer was to 

go to the heart of the matter. In August of 1176 he set about besieging Masyaf — the 

Syrian stronghold of the Assassin’s sect, and which is still to this day a centre of the 

Ismailis. But within a few days he had called the siege off. The reason why still 

remains a mystery. 

The Assassins’ own story was that Rashid ed-Din Sinan, ‘the Old Man of the 

Mountains’, was returning to his castle when Saladin’s agents tried to capture him. 

As they approached him, however, a mysterious force suddenly rendered their limbs 

useless and the Old Man told them to tell Saladin he wished to see him in private. 

The agents rushed back and told Saladin, who was so frightened that he could hardly 

sleep. Nevertheless he woke up in the middle of the night to find some hot cakes of a 

type only baked by the Assassins on his pillow and a poisoned dagger to which was 

attached an insulting and threatening verse. Saladin lifted the siege the next day. 

The more likely version is that Rashid al-Din Sinan had sent letters to Saladin’s 

uncle, threatening to kill off members of the Ayub family, and it was this that 

persuaded Saladin to raise the siege. What is certain is that he never threatened them 

again. 

In 1181 Nur ed-Din’s heir, al-Salih, died. It was, of course, yet another staggering 

example of Saladin’s amazing luck that al-Salih should have taken ill and died at 
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such an early age — he was only nineteen; ‘one of the most handsome of men’ and very 

popular in Aleppo. Of course there was talk of poison, but no one was able to prove 

anything. It might have been noticed, however, that one of the suspects later did very 

well for himself in Saladin’s service. 

Saladin certainly had his army all ready to move into Aleppo, but the lord of 

Mosul got there first. Saladin therefore redoubled his propaganda campaign, and 

claimed that he had been given Aleppo by the previous Caliph and had only left ah 

Salih in charge out of respect for his father — all of which was, of course, total eyewash. 

During the next year Saladin stepped up his attacks east of the Euphrates and 

made an unsuccessful assault on Mosul. He still claimed, of course, that he was acting 

on behalf of the Caliph in Baghdad, even though the Caliph refused to legitimize his 

claims. He made some useful gains in the area that effectively reduced the power of 

Mosul. When he finally turned back to settle the score with Aleppo, in June 1183, 

the Governor realized the game was up and surrendered. 

Saladin ensured that the take-over was bloodless; he needed to have the support of 

the Aleppans. For Saladin, Aleppo was ‘the eye of Syria and its citadel was the pupil’. Nor 

was the significance of its falling into Saladin’s hands lost on William of Tyre: 

‘Redoubled fear took hold of our people on hearing this news, for the result most dreaded by them 

had come to pass. From the first it had been apparent to the Christians that if Saladin should 

succeed in adding Aleppo to his principality our territory would be as completely encompassed by 

his power and strength as if it were in a state of siege. ’ 

So perhaps Saladin’s claims that his anti/Moslem campaigns were all part of jihad 

were not quite so ludicrous as his enemies would have us believe. His propaganda 

machine certainly went to work to emphasize the connection between his annexation 

of Aleppo and jihad. In letter after letter he stressed that the conquest of Aleppo was 

merely a milestone on the road to victory in the Holy War. Once he controlled 

Aleppo, Damascus and Egypt, he had the Franks in an unprecedented vice, and 

could attack as no-one had done before. 

And - to do him justice - he did. 
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Tbe V\U of Jerusalem 

I s Saladin moved his army down to Damascus in preparation for 

the attack on the Kingdom of Jerusalem, the Frankish King 

and his barons were ‘in a perpetual state of anxiety and suspense’, 

M trying to guess where and when Saladin was going to strike. For 

—J^^they were quite certain now that strike he would. 

It was unfortunate for the Kingdom that the twenty/one^year^old King Baldwin 

I v was a leper. In recent years his terrible disease had become so bad that he had been 

persuaded to hand over the reins of the Kingdom to his sister Sibylla’s husband, Guy 

de Lusignan — a man ‘unequal to the burden both in force and wisdom’ in the rather jaundiced 

view of William of Tyre. When Saladin eventually confronted the Frankish army 

near the Pools of Goliath, it was Guy who was in charge. Saladin tried to tempt the 

Franks into battle by feigning a withdrawal, but Guy refused to advance. He just 

waited for Saladin to go home. This was, militarily, the most sensible thing to do, and 

exactly what was advised by Guy’s chief rival at court — Raymond of Tripoli. 

Saladin’s army was made up of knights whose income was drawn from lands 

which they had themselves to supervise. They were not full-time professional soldiers 

who could stay in the field of battle throughout the year. Saladin had to achieve a 

quick decisive victory against the Franks and then retire. The easiest way for the 

Franks to defeat Saladin was by avoiding battle, because the Christians had a per^ 

manent military force that would still be there when Saladin’s army had disbanded. 

In addition to the normal knight/service of a feudal lord, which was temporary, the 

King of Jerusalem could call on the Knights of the Order of the Temple and the 

Knights of the Order of St John’s Hospital. 

Eventually Saladin had to turn tail and return to Damascus with nothing to show 

for his costly expedition. It was actually a great success for the Franks, but it was not 

a very heroic way to win. For Guy’s enemies within the Frankish court, it offered a 
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Cbc (DiliUry Orders The Military Orders — the Order of the Temple and the Order of St John’s 

hospital — had begun as gentle religious charities to assist pilgrims, but 

twenty years after the conquest of Jerusalem they became organizations of 

monkAnights. 

Although both Orders still had some purely pacific brothers — the Hos^ 

pitallers, for example, ran the great Hospital in Jerusalem (a hostel and clinic for 

poor pilgrims) — these were organizations dedicated to fighting as an act of 

charitable love for Christ. They maintained their own networks of castles, with 

all the equipment and horses needed for war, and paid troops of mercenaries who 

dressed in the distinctive tunics of their Orders. They had their own independent 

finance, from huge donations, large estates in Europe and from managing the 

finances of the Crusades. Their castles, such as the extraordinary Krak des Chew 

aliers (which belonged to the Hospitallers), were the major defensive walls of 

the Kingdom. 

propaganda opportunity not to be missed. ‘Plain people who were with the army and who 

had no part in the wickedness of the Christian leaders wondered why it was that when such an 

opportunity offered, no engagement with the enemy occurred, nor was anything done about a fight,’ 

wrote William of Tyre, who belonged to Count Raymond’s faction. 

Raymond’s party now openly accused Guy of cowardice in refusing to fight - 

regardless of the fact that Guy had, of course, been following Raymond’s own advice! 

Guy’s enemies were so successful in tarnishing his reputation that a short time later 

they were able to persuade the dying King to depose Guy from the Regency and 

reinstate Raymond. 

The fact was that the Kingdom had become as riddled with intrigue as the young 

king was with leprosy. There were so few knights, there was such a high mortality, 

there was so little new blood, that it had become an incestuous hothouse of bitter 

faction/fighting. 

These factions revolved, to some extent, around the two women that Baldwin iv’s 

father, King Amalric, had married. He had been forced to annul his marriage to his 

first wife, the voluptuous Agnes de Courtenay, but only on condition that their two 

children, the leprous Baldwin and his sister Sibylla, should be next in line to the 
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throne. This was, of course, resented by Amalric’s second wife, the beautiful Greek, 

Maria Comnena, who had her own child by him — Isabella. The two women 

naturally detested each other. 

Maria, now Queen Mother and a powerful woman, married Balian of Ibelin, who 

supported the ambitious Count Raymond of Tripoli. Raymond spoke Arabic and 

understood the Moslems, but he coveted not only the Regency but also — in all 

probability — the Kingship itself. This party was backed by the Knights Hospitaller. 

Agnes’s faction, which included the Commander of the Knights Templar, tended 

to consist of men whom she found attractive, such as Eraclius, the Patriarch of 

Jerusalem, and Guy de Lusignan, whom she married to her daughter Sibylla, plus 

her brother Joscelin, the powerful Seneschal of Jerusalem. 

A key figure in this party was one of the most remarkable characters in the 

Kingdom - the famous, the infamous, the loathed, the loved, the devilish, the dashing, 

the crazy, the intrepid, the brutal, the rash — the quite extraordinary Reynald de 

Chatillon. 

Reynald de Chatillon — Enter the Villain ? 
Reynald de Chatillon was the one man in the Frankish Kingdom whom Saladin 

would swear to kill with his own hands. 

Reynald had arrived in the Kingdom of Jerusalem with King Louis on the Second 

Crusade. He was a high-born nobleman but a younger son. He had therefore come 

to the East in search of the fortune that he did not have at home. Of all the nobles 

who joined King Baldwin at the siege of Ascalon in 1153 only two served for pay. 

Reynald was one of them. He was a bit of a manic aggressive. 

He was a man of charm and - quite clearly — very attractive to ladies. Reynald 

had already caught the fancy of one of the most powerful women in the Latin East, 

the twentyeight/year^old Constance, Princess Regnant of Antioch. ‘Lady Constance, 

widow of Prince Raymond of Antioch, who after the fashion of women, had refused many 

distinguished nobles, secretly chose as her husband Reynald de Chatillon, a knight in the pay of the 

king tuMuts William of Tyre from the opposite court faction. ‘Many there were, 

however, who marvelled that a woman so eminent, so distinguished and powerful, who had been the 

wife of a very illustrious man, should stoop to marry an ordinary knight. ’ 

The new Prince of Antioch, however, was anything but an ‘ordinary knight’. His 

lucky marriage might be disapproved of in courtly circles from Constantinople to 

Jerusalem, but he didn’t give a fig. 
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The Patriarch Aimery of Antioch himself disapproved - and yet when, in 1156, 

Reynald attacked Cyprus, Aimery became his financial backer. 

Cyprus was prosperous, peaceful and had been extremely friendly to the Crusaders. 

Of course it was not a Moslem land - it was orthodox Christian - so Reynald’s 

adventure was not exactly a Crusade. But to demonstrate that religion w’as close to 

his heart, he invited the wealthy Aimery to finance the expedition. When the Patriarch 

declined, Reynald realized he would have to resort to his subtlest powers of persuasion. 

He therefore arrested Aimery, smeared his bare head with honey and forced him to 

sit all day in the blazing sun like a sort of human fly-paper. 

After a day of these sort of arguments, the venerable Patriarch was duly convinced 

and stumped up the required cash. Reynald was thus able to sail off to Cyprus, 

financed by the coffers of the Church, and devastate the place to his heart’s content. 

William of Tyre says: 

He then completely overran the island without meeting any opposition, destroyed cities and 

wrecked fortresses. He broke into monasteries of men and women alike and shamefully 

abused nuns and tender maidens. Although the precious vestments and the amount of gold and 

silver which he carried off were great, yet the loss of these was regarded as nothing in 

comparison with the violence done to chastity. 

And just to show the Emperor of Byzantium (to whom Cyprus belonged) that he 

was not forgetting the priesthood, Reynald had their noses cut off. It was a great 

triumph that left Cyprus vulnerable to Moslem pirates and no longer at all friendly. 

The island that had helped save the First Crusaders from starvation, by sending 

food parcels, no longer had the inclination nor the ability to help the Kingdom of 

the Franks. 
King Baldwin was furious when he heard of Reynald’s escapade and fell over 

himself to make it up with the Emperor. The Emperor, however, was quite capable 

Overleaf 

Krak des Chevaliers, the Hospitallers’ great stronghold, is a 

masterpiece of castle design. Castle/building was much more 

advanced in the East than in Europe at the time of the First Crusade, 

but with so few settlers (there were only a thousand fief knights in 

Outremer, far Fewer than in England) the Crusaders quickly learned 

the new techniques in order to survive. 
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of sorting Reynald out for himself. Three years later, he descended on Antioch at the 

head of a huge army. Reynald had not expected to bring down the entire might of the 

Roman Empire on himself. He was terrified. After quick discussion with his staff as 

to the best course of action, he decided on total abject grovelling as the only way out. 

Toad of Toad Hall could not have done it better. He dressed himself in a woollen 

tunic with short sleeves, put a rope around his neck, held a naked sword by the point 

and appeared barefoot before the Emperor. There he surrendered his sword. Then, 

according to William of Tyre, ‘he threw himself on the ground at the emperor’s feet, where he 

lay prostrate till all were disgusted and the glory of the Latins was turned to shame; for he was a 

man of violent impulses, both in sinning and in repenting’. 

The next year, the irrepressible Reynald was out again, raiding Christian farmers, 

when the Governor of Aleppo caught him at it. Reynald spent the next sixteen years 

in a dungeon in Aleppo. 

Reynald Released 

On his release in 1176 Reynald found that his wife Constance was long dead and 

he was no longer Prince of Antioch. He quickly began hunting for another rich 

widow and found Stephanie, who held Transjordan and was mistress of the powerful 

desert castle of Kerak. From this base, Reynald set about doing what he enjoyed 

doing best — fighting Moslems. 

In 1180 King Baldwin negotiated a peace treaty with Saladin, guaranteeing the 

free movement of goods around the region. But seeing the rich caravans slowly 

lumbering along the road past Kerak was more than Reynald could bear and in 

1181, truce or no truce, he captured one on its way to Mecca. Saladin demanded 

restitution under the terms of the treaty, but Baldwin left Reynald alone. It was 

very useful to have a dangerous man in Transjordan, astride the route linking Syria 

and Egypt. 

Reynald had no trouble justifying his growing reputation amongst the Arabs as 

the man they loved to hate. He spent two years constructing ships in sections so they 

could be carried by camel. At the beginning of 1183 Reynald made his way down 

to the Red Sea and launched his prefabricated boats in a series of piratical raids 

against merchant ships, pilgrims and ports. The Moslem world was taken by surprise 

and horrified — it was rumoured that he intended to attack Mecca itself and even carry 

off the body of the Prophet so that Moslems would have to make their pilgrimage into 

Frankish territory! 
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The raiders were stopped; Reynald himself got safely back to Kerak, but the others 

were eventually captured. A couple were taken to Mecca to be publicly executed 

there, and some to Cairo. In Alexandria, the traveller and diarist Ibn Jubayr saw 

some of them being led into the city mounted backwards on donkeys and accompanied 

by trumpets and drums. Saladin was determined to kill the prisoners because they 

had penetrated into the secret parts of Islam and it was essential that no Franks should 

know that road, otherwise ‘the enemy would flood into the sacred territory’. It seems likely 

that Saladin’s particular animosity towards Reynald dates from this raid. 

The Wedding at Kerak 

While Jerusalem was split between the two court factions, and Guy was being 

denounced as incompetent, Saladin turned up at Kerak with a huge army. It 

was the worst possible moment. There was a wedding going on. 

Reynald’s stepson, the seventeemyear^old Humphrey of Toron, was being married 

to the Princess Isabella. 

It was a marriage that was supposed to heal the rift in the Kingdom; Isabella was 

the daughter of Reynald’s personal enemy. Queen Maria Comnena. In fact it simply 

provided the opportunity for Maria and her faction, led by Raymond of Tripoli and 

the Ibelin family, to oust Guy. 

While the bridegroom’s father and friends had gathered at Kerak, the bride’s 

family had rushed to Jerusalem and pressed the sick King to strip Guy of his position. 

Raymond of Tripoli was made Regent instead and Balian of Ibelin carried the child 

of Guy and Sibylla to be crowned as the future Baldwin v. Maria s faction was 

triumphant. 

Meanwhile, at Kerak, the wedding was not going very well. Reynald had brought 

in entertainers, actors, musicians, cooks, servants and all the townspeople and country^ 

folk from miles around. They had not expected Saladin to gatecrash with siege 

engines and begin assaulting the castle. William of Tyre writes: 

Great crowds of helpless people of every description and of both sexesfiled the castle within, 

a burden rather than a help to the besieged. There were many actors and performers on the 

flute and psaltery and other people who hadflocked thither from all over the country for the 

festivities attending the wedding... Moreover, many Syrians with their wives and children 

had come in from the surrounding country. The place was filed with them so that those who 

wished to pass back and forth could not do so freely on account of the dense crowds. Thus 

these too became a hindrance ...to those who were trying to defend the place. 
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Left In this elegant and highly formalized version 

of the Battle ofHattin, from the fifteentlvcentury 

Les Passagesfaits Outremer ..., ‘the fountain’ 

or spring of Sephoria is depicted as a real fountain. 

The battlefield appears to be very well watered, 

and both sides are fighting with equal gusto. 

In fact the battle site was waterless and the 

Christian infantry, dehydrated and demoralized, 

retreated up to the two hills known as the 

Horns ofHattin rather than fight. 

Above Saladin ordering captives to be chained 

after the Battle ofHattin. In fact his generosity 

towards many of his prisoners (except the Military 

Orders and Reynald de Chatillon) was held by 

many to be his biggest mistake. From a fourteenths 

century French manuscript. 
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But Lady Stephanie was determined that nobody was going to say she couldn’t throw 

a good party. In the midst of the siege she had some of the wedding feast sent down to 

Saladin in his camp outside. It must have been the most dangerous act ofwaitressing 

ever attempted. 

Saladin, in response, enquired in which tower the happy couple would be spending 

the night and then ordered his siege engine not to bombard that tower. Elsewhere, 

however, he kept up a constant barrage of missiles so that ‘even those who hadfled to the 

innermost apartments, the most retired seclusion, shrank with terror before the crash and roar of the 

oncoming missiles. It seemed to them like thunder and, ever in suspense lest the building be shattered 

and fall upon them, they momentarily awaited the stroke of the bolt. ’ 

The nightmare wedding went on for about a month. King Baldwin took his time 

before coming to the rescue. When he eventually made his move across the Jordan, 

Saladin backed off into Syria. 

A Coup in Jerusalem 

In March 1185 King Baldwin 1 v died, aged twenty Tour, leaving the eight/year^old 

Baldwin v on the throne, and the division in the Kingdom as bitter as ever. For the 

time being Prince Raymond of Tripoli was Regent and his faction held sway. A four' 

year truce was negotiated with Saladin, under which Palestine began to prosper once 

again. But not for long. At the end of August 1186 the boy/king died. 

Agnes’s party moved fast. Her brother Joscelin put troops into Beirut and Tyre, 

and proclaimed Sibylla as Queen. Raymond of Tripoli hurriedly summoned all the 

barons to a High Court at Nablus, where Balian of Ibelin, his wife Maria and Isabella 

were waiting. They were determined to put Isabella and Humphrey on the throne. 

But it was too late. 

In Jerusalem a dramatic coronation was already taking place. It was agreed there 

that Sibylla should take the throne if she divorced Guy and, according to one account, 

she had consented on condition that she could freely choose her next husband. Once 

she was crowned, however, Sibylla — who seems to have been a remarkably spunky 

lady - took the crown and turned to Guy of Lusignan, saying: 

I, Sibylla, choose as king and husband my husband, Guy of Lusignan, who is my husband. I 

know him to be a man of prowess and honour, well able with God’s aid to rule his people. I 

know too that while he is alive I can have no other husband, for as the scripture says: ‘those 

whom God has joined together let no man put asunder’. 

Raymond and his faction had been hopelessly outmanoeuvred. Reynald, Guy and 
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Sibylla were in the ascendant and the country was on the edge of civil war. The only 

thing that could hold it together was another attack by Saladin. Reynald de Chatillon 

made sure that it came sooner rather than later, forcing the Kingdom into an unwilling 

unity. Within weeks Reynald swooped down on another rich caravan on its way from 

Cairo. ‘He broke the truce to attack it, ill'treating and torturing the men and imprisoning them in 

narrow dungeons. When they invoked the truce his only reply was: “Call on your Mahomet to 

save you!”' 

When this was reported to Saladin, he swore that if Reynald should ever fall into 

his power ‘he would kill him with his own hand’. In the meantime he demanded restitution 

under the terms of the truce. Neither Reynald nor Guy responded. Raymond of 

Tripoli, who could see what was coming, made his own personal deal with Saladin 

immediately from his castle at Tiberias. King Guy was only dissuaded at the last 

minute from attacking Tiberias! 

The Battle of Hattin 

Saladin now assembled the greatest army he had ever put together. It probably 

consisted of at least thirty thousand regulars plus an unknown number of volunteers. 

He boasted in a letter to the Caliph that the widest plain was too narrow for such an 

army and that the dust that it raised on the move would darken the eye of the sun. In 

the Palestinian abSalihiyya quarter of Damascus, Ibn Qudama’s son and nephew 

took the lead in becoming fedayeen, warriors of the jihad. 

Saladin desperately needed a decisive victory against the Franks, for there were still 

many who accused him of preferring to attack Moslems rather than Christians. On 

Wednesday, i July 1187, he led a huge force over the Jordan and into Tiberias. 

Resistance lasted for one nominal hour. Guy called a council at Acre; most people 

advised him to do nothing, but the Grand Master of the Temple and Reynald de 

Chatillon demanded action. Guy ordered that the army move towards Tiberias. They 

camped some miles off. 

Had they done nothing more, Saladin would have been forced to withdraw, as he 

had done at the Pools of Goliath. But when a message came to them from the Countess 

of Tripoli asking to be rescued, chivalry demanded that something be done, even 

though her husband Raymond maintained that it made more sense to ransom her. 

He would rather lose wife and city, he said, than lose the Kingdom. 

When Guy had accepted Raymond’s advice at the Pools of Goliath, he had held 

his army back and been called a wimp; he was never going to be called a wimp again. 
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He announced that they would march at dawn. They camped on 3 July at a well under 

a double hill called the Horns of Hattin. The well was dry. Raymond announced that 

they were all dead men, and the Kingdom was finished. 

That night Saladin’s army set fire to the scrub around the camp, and made a 

continuous racket. In the morning the Christian army was encircled, and desperately 

thirsty. Down the slope they could see the lake, but it was impossible to break through. 

The Moslems charged and charged again; the July heat was ferocious and the knights 

were dehydrating in their armour. Raymond led a charge and the Moslem lines simply 

opened up and let him through. The gap which he had left was filled immediately 

by Moslem forces, cutting off the infantry from the knights. Raymond rode two 

hundred miles to Tripoli, unmolested, while behind him the slaughter went on. 

The King’s tent was moved to the summit of the hill. Saladin’s son remembered 

afterwards saying to his father, ‘We have routed them \ and his father saying, ‘Be quiet. We 

have not beaten them long as that tent stands there. ’ At that moment it fell. So did the 

Kingdom. 

The entire fighting force of Jerusalem was destroyed in one day on the Horns of 

Hattin. 

After the battle Saladin had King Guy and Reynald brought to his tent. Both 

were exhausted, terrified and half dead from thirst. Saladin offered Guy a drink of 

iced rose-water. When he had slaked his thirst the King passed the goblet to Reynald, 

but Saladin stopped him. He pointed out that Guy had given Reynald the drink, ‘not 

I’. For, under the rules of Arab hospitality, once a visitor has been offered something, 

he is under the host’s protection. 

Saladin went outside, paced around, came back and sliced off Reynald’s head. 

Guy was trembling with terror, but Saladin reassured him. The only other prisoners 

who were to be killed were the Templars and Hospitallers, the carriers of the Crusade 

ideology. They were given to the Sufis to kill. Sufis were holy miracle-workers, the 

kind of religious figures popular with many ordinary folk but disapproved of by 

serious religious philosophers. It was a great joke to watch them trying to kill people. 

The haul of prisoners sent to Damascus was prodigious. Saladin had even captured 

the piece of the True Cross which the army of Jerusalem carried into battle as though 

the knights were the Children of Israel marching into battle with the Ark of the 

Covenant. 
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Saladin Recaptures Jerusalem 

Saladin’s army now moved through the defenceless realm. Acre, the economic heart 

of the Kingdom, surrendered at the beginning of August. Its inhabitants emigrated. 

Galilee was occupied; Jaffa resisted and its population were enslaved. Tyre resisted 

and was left for a while; Beirut did not. By the end of August there was not much 

left. But Saladin took his time getting to Jerusalem. 

Before he attacked, he allowed Balian of Ibelin to enter Jerusalem to rescue his 

wife, the ex/Queen Maria, and their children. Balian had to promise to spend only 

one night in the city and not to bear arms. Balian, however, found the city preparing 

its defence and he was not ‘allowed’ to leave. He wrote to Saladin explaining that he 

would have to violate his oath, and Saladin not only accepted that but sent an escort 

to take Balian’s wife and children to Tyre. Strangely, Saladin explained that since 

Balian had violated his oath, he (Saladin) was released from his own oath to take the 

city by fire and sword. 

Queen Sibylla was in the city and she and the Patriarch were likely, left to their 

own devices, to mount a desperate defence. Saladin did not want Jerusalem damaged; 

it was worth more to him intact. He may have hoped that Balian would take a 

Balian of Ibelin surrendering the city of Jerusalem to Saladin, 

from Les Passages faits Outremer 1490. 
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more rational approach. On his arrival Balian had demanded that the Patriarch 

immediately recognize him as the Lord of Jerusalem and, once he had received that 

homage, he began minting coins at high speed, supposedly to pay for the defence of 

the city. The coins omitted the name of any king. Balian did attempt to defend the 

city, but not suicidally, and after a thirteemday siege, he surrendered. 

There was no massacre. 

Saladin entered the city on the anniversary of Mohammed’s journey to heaven from 

the Foundation Stone. In a very deliberate contrast to the way the Crusaders had 

taken it eighty^eight years earlier, not a building was looted and no person was 

harmed. 

The terms were that a ransom would be paid of io dinars for every man, 5 for 

every woman and 1 for every child; 30 000 dinars could be put down as a lump sum 

for seven thousand of the poor. Anyone who could not pay would be taken into 

slavery. The Latin Patriarch shocked the Moslems by paying his 10 dinars and 

departing with cartloads of treasure leaving the poor to be led off into slavery. Saladin’s 

brother, aLAdil, distressed by the number of captives, asked for a gift of a thousand; 

he freed them all. The Patriarch, seeing a chance to do the right thing at no loss to his 

pocket, asked if he too could be given some and was granted seven hundred. Balian 

was given five hundred. Saladin then released all old people, all captive husbands of 

freed wives, and gave gifts to widows and orphans. 

It was a deeply moving event. Then he set about cleansing the city; the ahAqsa 

Mosque had been the Templars’ headquarters and the Dome of the Rock had been 

turned into a church. They were restored. His advisers urged him to demolish the 

Church of the Holy Sepulchre, but it was simply closed for three days and then was 

open to pilgrims again - for a fee. Jerusalem’s only trade was pilgrimage and the 

money was needed. 

The Holy Places were open to pilgrims of all religions, but the Latin Kingdom of 

Jerusalem was finished. That was what everyone believed. 
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To the Rescue 

of man to get into trouble. He had set off to follow his father 

to Jerusalem in 1185, but his fondness for trouble got him stuck 

in Constantinople. He got on rather well there, in fact he 

1 married the Emperor’s sister, but trouble would not go away. When the 

relatives of a man he had killed announced that they would blind him, he decided 

that it was time to go. He slipped away in a ship one July night with a company of 

Flemish knights. 

Others say he was looking for trouble; he knew that Saladin was threatening to 

invade Outremer. 

He had a nose for trouble. When his ship sailed into Acre, he realized that 

something was up. The port bell did not ring. Instead of mooring, the ship just put 

down one cautious anchor. When the port officer’s boat came alongside, Conrad said 

he was a merchant and asked what was happening. That was how he learned that 

the Kingdom had fallen and that Saladin had taken the port four days earlier. The 

great man was now about to receive the surrender of Tyre. 

The anchor came up and Conrad was off. By the time he reached Tyre the 

surrender negotiations were almost complete. The city was filled with refugees from 

the ruined Kingdom, preparing to take ship for a Europe most of them had never 

seen. Saladin had already sent in his banners to be flown over the citadel. Conrad 

announced that no/one was leaving; he was taking over and Saladin could stuff his 

peace terms. The banners went into the moat. That was the thing about Conrad. He 

just loved a good fight. 

Saladin turned up with Conrad’s father, who was a prisoner from Hattin, and 

paraded him outside the walls, saying he would be killed if Conrad did not pack it 
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in. Conrad said the old man was not worth a single stone. Saladin, who was not into 

killing old men, drifted off to capture Ascalon instead. 

By November the mopping up was almost complete. Saladin s troops were weary 

and needed to go home, and he had no reason to argue. All that remained were a few 

outposts up in the north. Antioch was still in Latin hands, with its port of Saint 

Symeon; so was Tripoli, a hundred miles further south. Apart from that, the Latin 

Kingdom of Jerusalem had been reduced to three castles — Marqab, Tortosa and the 

isolated fortress of Krak. 

Nothing else, except for Tyre. Saladin had every reason to suppose that these details 

could be dealt with reasonably easily. He suggested that his next step should probably 

be to conquer Europe. Saladin, however, had reckoned without the power of free 

enterprise. The profit motive was going to achieve what religious zeal could not. 
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The Commerce of Crusading 

^\cre had become big money, especially for the merchant aristocrats of Venice, 

i V Pisa and Genoa. These three cities competed ferociously for the Mediterranean 

trade, trying to obtain monopoly rights in ports everywhere. 

At the time of the First Crusade, Venice was the dominant power and had been 

rather sniffy about getting involved; there did not seem to be much profit in it. The 

Genoese, however, had run supplies and equipment to the siege of Antioch and as 

soon as the town was captured they were granted their own market there. Suddenly 

the potential for making money out of the Crusade became obvious. The Pisans 

quickly sent their own ships to help. The Venetians eventually launched an immense 

Crusade fleet and it went straight to war — to sink the Pisan fleet, taking four thousand 

prisoners. 

Job done, it went home. 

By the time of Saladin’s victory these three Italian cities were heavily dependent on 
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their income from Outremer. They had their own quarters in the major ports, with 

the rights to run their own markets and use their own weights and measures, and they 

had complete control of all transport between Christendom and Syria. 

Conrad knew how important all this was to the Italian merchant states and how 

desperate they were to get back into Acre, which had become the main centre for 

Oriental trade. Conrad was a most unusual knight — he understood about business. 

He had no doubt that the Italian merchants would help. 

Pisa and Genoa were actually at war when Jerusalem fell, but they had agreed that 

this was an emergency that demanded a truce — especially when it became clear that 

the Sicilians were sending ships to help Conrad and might reap the reward. Conrad 

proceeded to hold Tyre together with the help of only two hundred knights and the 

Sicilian fleet. Saladin, however, realized he was going to be a tough nut to crack, and 

decided to utilize the Europeans’ innate gift for imfighting. To help things along, he 

allowed most of the Franks who surrendered to him to go to Tyre or Tripoli. 

Even King Guy was released, on the promise that he would go overseas and never 

take up arms again against Saladin. Guy must have had that vow annulled by a cleric 

at once. Saladin can have expected nothing less and, sure enough, the squabbling got 

under way. Guy took his supporters from Tripoli and marched to Tyre — where 

Conrad, determined not to lose control, refused to let him in. 

So far, from Saladin’s point of view, so good. 

A Pisan fleet arrived in Tyre early in 1189 and, having failed to get what they 

wanted from Conrad, the Pisans did a deal with Guy. They assisted him in moving 

to Acre and set him up with a small force to besiege it. Soon the Pisans and Genoese 

were being offered ever/increasing chunks of the Kingdom as Guy and Conrad 

competed for their support - and the siege works of Acre became formidable. Saladin 

besieged the besiegers, but could not shift them. And new armies were coming from 

the West, led by the greatest heroes of their time. 

The Forces against Saladin 

€urope had changed greatly since the days of the original Crusade. Life had become 

altogether more ordered and stable; trade had expanded greatly, roads were being 

developed, great fairs and markets in France and Flanders handled an ever^expanding 

commerce, above all in textiles. The age of rural brigands was drawing to a close; the 

fairs of Champagne, the cloth industry of France and Bruges, the English wool trade 

and the German Hanse (an association of traders) were becoming too important to 
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be messed about. The new class of wealthy merchants were always likely to support 

civil authorities that could provide a secure legal framework for peaceful business. 

England, having been wholly conquered by the Normans, was the easiest country 

to stabilize. Henry n, who was King of England when Jerusalem fell, ruled a highly 

ordered state (by the standards of the time). It was a sign of the importance of his 

court in running the realm that the English were subject to the highest taxes in 

Europe. 

France was more fragmented: The whole of western France, including Rouen and 

Tours, belonged to Henry of England, most of the south belonged to Henry’s wife, 

Eleanor of Aquitaine, and everything to the east of Lyons belonged to the Holy 

Roman Empire. But young King Philip Augustus had considerable wealth at his 

disposal from Champagne, west Flanders, Paris and Burgundy, and he was ambitious 

to be a new Charlemagne. 

The Holy Roman Emperor, Frederick Barbarossa, was proud of being an old 

Charlemagne, descended from the original article. He held sway as King of Germany 

over an area that stretched from Brussels to Brandenburg and from Denmark to the 

Tyrol. The imperial crown gave him lordship over Bohemia, Silesia and north Italy. 

Although the Italian cities fiercely defended their rights of self/government, the trade 

which flowed through them gave him wealth to match that of Henry n. 

Now all three of these mighty rulers, Henry, Philip and Frederick, turned their 

gaze towards Saladin and announced that they would destroy him. 

The New Crusading Zeal 

It was not easy for a European king to go on a Crusade — in fact it was a great 

nuisance, taking a lot of time and a phenomenal amount of money. It also meant 

abandoning his kingdom, in an age when rule was an extremely personal business. 

There had to be a very good reason for bothering. That reason was clearly not direct 

financial profit - any booty obtained would be more than consumed by the cost of 

the army - and no European leader could consider himself directly threatened by 

Saladin. Nor was it a matter of personal religious conviction. Although all three 

rulers had their religious moments, these certainly did not govern their political lives. 

There had been little enthusiasm for crusading for fifty years, since the horrible 

mess of the Second Crusade. But the fall of Jerusalem sent a shocUwave through 

Europe. Pope Urban ill was so startled that his heart stopped beating. His successor, 

Gregory vm, issued an appeal for action which began, ‘We and our brothers were 
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thrown into confusion and buffeted by such a depth of honor and grief that it was not clear what we 

ought to do. ’ 

But some knew exactly what to do. Volunteers began arriving in Tyre and Tripoli 

by the boatload: knights from Flanders, France, Germany, Hungary, Denmark — 

even a flotilla of Londoners — all acting in concert with a flood of public feeling that 

was reinforced by a barrage of poems and songs lamenting the loss of the Holy Land. 

Even the Arab chronicler, Ibn ahAthir, who was twenty/seven years old when 

Saladin took Jerusalem, was deeply struck by the force of this emotion: A Frankish 

prisoner told me that he was his mother’s only son, and their house was their sole possession, but 

she had sold it and used the money obtained from it to equip him to go and free Jerusalem. There he 

had been taken prisoner. Such were the religious and personal motives that drove the Franks on.’ 

Public opinion demanded that the Kings of England and France stop fighting 

each other and go to the rescue of Jerusalem, and that feeling was so strong that they 

had to respect it. Henry and Philip met, agreed to take the Cross together and drew 

up elaborate rules for their Crusade. Saladin’s success was generally held to be a 

divine punishment, so this had to be a cleandiving expedition. No swearing, gambling 

or women were allowed (‘except perhaps a washerwoman on foot, to be above suspicion’), 

everyone would dress neatly and simply, and eat only two dishes a day. The French 

would wear red crosses and the English white ones. They also established a new tax, 

the ‘Saladin Tithe’, to pay for the enterprise. But they were soon squabbling again 

and Henry’s own son, Richard, was fighting with Philip against his father. 

The Crusade of Frederick Barbarossa 

In the meantime the Holy Roman Emperor, Frederick Barbarossa (Frederick Red' 

Beard), had already set out for the Holy Land, on n May 1189. He was sixty/ 

seven years old and this was to be the crowning act of a great career. ‘No-one in all 

Germany ... was considered to be of any manly steadfastness at all, who was seen without the 

saving sign, and who would not join the comradeship of the Crusaders. ’ 

It was certainly one of the largest crusading armies ever to leave Europe. It was 

Frederick Barbarossa, the Holy Roman Emperor, who 

sought to crown his career by taking Charlemagne’s 

supposed route to Jerusalem and recapturing the city. 

His expedition came to an abrupt end when he was 

drowned while swimming in southern Turkey. 
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also the best equipped and the best disciplined and the best organized. It must have 

lv./ o .snciUc It sen* Saladm into s frenzy of diplomacy, trying to patch together 

a general Islamic alliance to meet such a threat. 

: -cce barm. //as V/ large c,at there v/ere not enough ships to transport it, and 

;* loan to roarer, overland, hr. the ro ite that no army had successfully negotiated since 

the r tret Cruvace. 

Hit a.'w • /. atnot v. -slcom.e m cue Byzantine Empire and was given a hard time. It 

troovoc *; e Dardanelles into Asia ir. March ^avoiding Constantinople) and in .’day 

mflfcfrd a series of serious defeats on the Turks of Armenia but it suffered horribly 

from thirst, hunger and ambushes. The soldiers were desperate, even chewing horse 

mar..research or .tools’: .re. Men grev/ so weak on the march that they simply lay 

cov. n to die, arc there v/ere many desertions. 

f.e sur •: ors toa.de :: ttro .gr. to the Taurus mountains, and crossed a pass that 

brought to err. down into toe va hey or' the Gfck.su, a fastvflowing river that winds 

tore .g; canyons that open o.t occasionally into wood.ed meadows. In the ferocious 

teat or' ' h;. Barbarossa cc .Id to* resist plunging into the cold, refreshing water. To 

♦he st ..nn.ee disbelief of his troops, he drowned. 

I* //as the las* straw, hredenc/h Crusade ended there, on jo June /190. More 

than half of the army had already perished on the road. Some of the survivors simply 

ca.gr.t tte nearer, ship bach to Europe. hredericFs son did what he could to hold 

tee remains or the ezpediTon together, but it was no use. He even fished his father’s 

bod . 0 at of the v. ater and had it pickled in vinegar. He then bad it carried in a barrel 

00 *: at tte old man could at least complete his vow and reach Jerusalem. But at 

Antioch, where they suffered a terrible epidemic, the Crusaders realized that the 

-. ir.eg.ar load failed, at d the corpse was rotting, it bad to be quickly buried. 

In COctober the wreckage of hrederick’s great army arrived at Acre to support the 

siege. The whole Moslem, world heaved a sigh of relief. TJwr God spare us the 

^defiance '/the G 

Richard the Lion'heart 

King Herr, of England too was dead. He had fallen sick during the fighting 

against Philip of Ranee. Hi* son, Richard, had become King of England while 

Frederick and hi* mighty force were marching east. Richard, who was dubbed a 

knight by King Louis of Fiance, had learned the arts of war fighting against his own 

father. When Loui* died and Philip became King of France in 1180, Philip had 
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encouraged Richard to go on with this family feuding. It offered the best hope of 

destroying Henry’s Empire in France. 

Richard had spent as short a time as possible in England. He detested a country 

which he found wet, boring, spoke a foreign language — English; he, of course, was 

a Frenchman — and had nothing to offer if you did not enjoy the company of sheep. 

Apart from money. Better, though, to take the money and run. In his own words, 7 
would sell London if I could find a buyer. ’ 

His father had even banned tournaments, because they were disturbing to public 

order. England was a dead loss. There was not even anybody to fight against. 

Now Richard had a new reason for detesting England. During his coronation the 

usual pre^Crusade antkjewish riots broke out in London and then spread like a com 

tagion, culminating in a horrific massacre at York in March 1190. Jews were under 

the King’s special protection. That was because they were a very important source of 

royal money. The English were stupid as well as boring. Richard was furious. 

Philip and Richard would have to go on Crusade together, not because they were 

such good friends, but because they were now enemies. So long as the King of 

England ruled half of France, they had to be enemies. If only one went, the other 

would attack. 

Richard was the very image of a romantic warrior: tall, strong, handsome, with 

flaming red hair and the gracious manners he had learned at his mother’s court. 

Philip, on the other hand, was austere, poorly educated, not keen on physical risks 

and his looks were marred by having lost an eye. Philip was not a hero, but public 

opinion was forcing him to go on Crusade. 

One month after Frederick’s death - one year after his own accession — Richard 

met Philip at Vezelay. Their armies were assembled. They were ready to rescue the 

Holy Land. The plan was to go via Sicily. It was a plan that had been agreed with 

King William 11 of Sicily, who was married to Richard’s sister Joan, and who had 

been intending to join the Crusade. But he too had died, four months after Henry. 

Sicily was now ruled by William’s illegitimate cousin, who rejoiced in the famous 

name of Tancred. Tancred had locked up Joan, kept her dowry and also kept a large 

legacy that should have gone to Richard. He cannot have been looking forward to 

Richard’s visit. 

Richard the Lioivheart depicted as a warrior 

king, from a fourteentlvcentury Chronology of 

the Kings of England. 
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Philip marched his army to Genoa, where ships had been contracted. Richard 

took his to Marseilles, where it was supposed to be picked up by an English fleet. The 

fleet was late and he left the army to wait for it while he coasted down Italy. He spent 

five days at Salerno, visiting the great medical school. From there he went south to 

cross to Sicily. 

Just before crossing, he confiscated a hawk from a peasant. Hawks were for hunting, 

and hunting was for nobles, not for peasants. It was dangerous arrogance; since he 

only had one companion he quickly found himself in the centre of an angry mob. In 

the heat of the moment he hit a man with the flat of his sword. The sword broke. 

Richard had to fight his way out, throwing everything he could get his hands on at 

his pursuers. 

The Crusaders in Sicily 

Southern Italy was where the cultures of east and west came together; the medical 

centre at Salerno was said to have been founded by a Latin, a Greek, a Jew and an 

Arab, and the knowledge of all four traditions was available there. In Sicily, Norman 

rulers issued their decrees in Latin, Greek and Arabic. In 1186 the Moslem traveller 

Ibn Jubayr, who visited Sicily, was struck by the Orientalism of the island; the King 

kept black slaves and his chamberlains were eunuchs. 

For Richard’s army, lodged outside Messina, it was hard to come to terms with the 

situation. They were, after all, on their way to fight the Saracens and now Saracens 

were all round them. Even worse, the island was full of Greeks and they hated Greeks. 

Relations between the visitors and the locals quickly broke down. An Anglo-Norman 

Crusader, Ambroise, wrote a rhyming account of his experiences: 

For townsfolk rabble and the scum 

of the city, bastard Greeks were some, 

and some of them Saracen born 

did heap upon our pilgrims scorn. 

Fingers to eyes they mocked at us 

calling us dogs malodorous. 

They did us foulness every day; 

Sometimes our pilgrims they did slay. 

And the corpses in the privies threw 

and this were proven to be true. 
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Swords au<> DAnuscus Steel Since swords are at the very heart of crusading, it may seem startling that a royal 

sword should snap in two at the critical moment. It was brittle. European 

bladesmiths had stopped making the highly wrought swords of their ances' 

tors, which had given smiths their reputation for magical powers. Those swords 

had been made by endlessly plaiting wires of impure iron; reforging, hammering 

and plaiting until the molecules of the iron aligned themselves to form a steel. 

The quality of the steel depended on the impurities added to the mix, and each 

smith produced his own unique metal. The result was strong, sharp and flexible — 

but pretty useless at cutting through armour. 

By Richard’s day, a knight wore mail over his whole body; to the old hauberk 

had been added leggings, sleeves and gloves of mail, and lately a plate^metal 

helmet. Even the horses wore mail coats. What was needed now was not a sharp, 

flexible, slicing blade, but a rigid, pointed, metal bar that would pierce. If the 

sword flexed, it would not penetrate armour. The down side, as Richard was 

reminded, was that modern swords were not meant for fencing or for swiping. If 

you did that, they broke. 

The old arts of the bladesmith had survived in the East, where armour was 

used much less. Metal twisted and retwisted was used to create swords which 

had a beautiful watery surface, showing the ripples of up to a million layers of 

wafer-thin metal. Brought by merchants for distribution through Damascus, this 

became known as ‘Damascus steel’; not only was it super-sharp, but the structure 

of the metal meant that as particles came off the edge (through hitting something, 

for example), a new edge formed. The Islamic sword was self/sharpening. Hence 

the apocryphal story in which Richard demonstrated that with sheer might he 

could smash his rigid sword through a table (obviously not using the flat of his 

sword), while Saladin demonstrated that his fine Islamic blade could slice though 

silk floating in the air. 

Overleaf 

The extraordinary confidence trickster, Isaac Comnenus, 

established himself in the stronghold of St Hilarion 

in northern Cyprus. It was taken by Richard in a 

campaign of breathtaking speed and daring which also 

happened to be his honeymoon. 
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Even worse, they began overcharging the Crusaders for supplies. Soon there was 

armed conflict between the soldiers and the townsfolk; Richard settled it by launching 

a full assault on the city and sacking it. Whereupon Tancred released Joan, paid over 

her dowry money and recompensed Richard for his share of the inheritance. 

The Crusaders wintered in Sicily, which gave plenty of time for them to quarrel 

over small things and great ones. One of the small things was a row over William de 

Barre, a French knight who humiliated Richard in an impromptu duel with canes. 

Richard was so angry at being made to look a fool that he insisted William leave the 

Crusade; it took the combined diplomacy of the whole leadership, of Church and 

nobility, to persuade him to relent. 

One of the greater things was that Richard was betrothed to Philip’s sister Alice, 

but he and his mother had arranged for him to marry Berengaria, the daughter of the 

King of Navarre — thereby stabilizing the border between Spain and Aquitaine. 

Richard tactfully explained to Philip that he could not really be expected to marry 

Alice, since she had been sent to the English court as a child, where his father 

Henry had started sleeping with her. Relations between the two kings grew even 

chillier. 

Philip sailed with his army on 30 March 1191, a few hours before Eleanor arrived 

with Berengaria. He crossed to Tyre and then went on to Acre with Conrad. Philip 

reorganized the siege and put it in readiness for the final assault. But he had to wait 

for Richard, who had gone to find his wife and mother. They had been caught in a 

storm and stranded on the south coast of Cyprus. 

Richard's Ideal Honeymoon 

Cyprus was in the hands of a bizarre confidence trickster, Isaac Ducas Comnenus. 

Isaac was a member of the Byzantine imperial family and had been Governor of 

Cilicia when he staged a revolt against a new emperor in 1182. He had ended up a 

prisoner of the Turkish ruler of Armenia. Somehow he had persuaded the Templars 

that if they ransomed him, they would get their money back with substantial interest; 

all he had to do was go and collect it from his friends in Cyprus. The Templars were 

not known for their gullibility, but they fell for the deal. 

Isaac then turned up in Cyprus with an impressive retinue (courtesy of his brother 

in/law, a Sicilian admiral) and forged documents that stated that he was the new 

Governor sent out from Constantinople. The bemused Governor of Cyprus handed 

the island over to him and Isaac took control of the fortresses. He then announced 
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that he was going to call himself emperor. He ruled Cyprus as a tyrant and made a 

treaty with Saladin. The Templars, of course, never saw their money again. 

Isaac must have viewed the arrival of Frankish ships off his coast much as a man 

who has stolen money from the mafia might regard the arrival of a group of cars with 

darkened windows. Terrified, he arrested those who struggled ashore, refused water 

to Joan’s ship and started strengthening his defences. 

Richard arrived seasick, bad-tempered and upset by the way the ladies were being 

treated. He attacked Limassol. Isaac withdrew and the inhabitants of the town 

welcomed Richard as their liberator. Isaac then came on a safe-conduct to meet 

Richard and agreed to release his prisoners, make restitution for goods he had taken 

from the shipwrecks and generally be helpful. He was, presumably, delighted that 

no-one mentioned the Knights Templars or the money he owed them. 

Isaac then made the mistake of assuming that he was safe after all and, once he had 

returned to his fastness in the north of the island, he ordered Richard leave. On the 

very same day, unfortunately, King Guy and his leading supporters at the siege of 

Acre sailed into Limassol to see what had happened to Richard. With them were, as 

it happened, many of the leading Templars. Nemesis had come to Isaac. It was not 

hard to persuade Richard that, before sailing away, he should lead the conquest 

of Cyprus. 

He married Berengaria on 12 May, the day after Guy’s arrival. Then he took her 

on what must have been a medieval prince’s idea of the ideal honeymoon — a fortnight s 

pillage and conquest. At the end of it the whole of Cyprus was his. From now on it 

would be a tenuous lifeline for the ailing Kingdom of Jerusalem. 
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The Battle of tbe Heroes: 
Richard t>. Saladin Eichard arrived at Acre on 8 June with twentydive war galleys, Isaac 

a prisoner (he had asked not to be put in irons and so Richard had 

had silver fetters made) and a reputation as an invincible warrior. 

‘No pen can sufficiently describe the joy of the people on the night, of the King’s 

^ arrival/ declared the soldier/chronicler Ambroise, who then tried his 

best to describe the albnight party that followed. 

The siege of Acre had lasted for almost two years, and there had been a difficult 

winter, with acute shortages of food. Now everything was ready to bring it to a 

conclusion. The siege catapults were completed and had been christened with names 

like ‘Bad Neighbour’ and ‘God’s Own Sling’. There was also a great grappling 

ladder called ‘The Cat’. But two years of doing nothing had sapped the morale of the 

besiegers and although Philip had done good work, he had not proved an inspirational 

leader. Besides, he was sick with arnaldia, a disease which caused his hair and 

fingernails to fall out. 

When the English King finally arrived, his mere presence seemed to infuse the 

troops with the energy needed for the final assault. Richard himself, however, fell sick 

with an attack of arnaldia even worse than Philip’s. So he simply directed operations 

from his bed. He stepped up the bombardment and requested a meeting with Saladin; 

Saladin refused this, but suggested Richard meet his brother, akAdil. 

Saladin’s main hope still lay in letting the Europeans quarrel themselves into 

impotence and he had good reason to think this might happen. Inevitably, Philip 

supported Conrad against Guy (Conrad was Philip’s cousin) and Richard supported 

Guy against Conrad (Guy’s brother was one of Richard’s leading vassals). 
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The siege of Acre from a manuscript written only eighty years later 

in 1280. The siege engine is shown as having a counterbalance, 

which means that it was capable of hurling heavier and more 

damaging ammunition than the humampowered 

artillery of the First Crusade. 
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There was plenty of room for argument because Queen Sibylla and both her 

daughters had died during the siege. Guy was, of course, King only because of his 

marriage to Sibylla, so the deaths created a strong argument that Sibylla’s half-sister, 

Isabella, was now the rightful Queen. Conrad thought so much of this argument that 

he got Isabella’s marriage to the effeminate Humphrey of Toron annulled and married 

her himself. In so doing he certainly didn’t make poor Isabella happy (she really seems 

to have loved Humphrey for all his gentle effeminacy), but it made Conrad a rival for 

the crown. 

And to help matters along, Philip demanded, and was refused, half of Cyprus. 

These quarrels bubbled along, but they would not save Acre for Saladin. He could 

no longer send supplies into the city by sea, because Richard and Philip had enough 

ships to block the harbour completely. It was now only a matter of time before the 

Crusaders would take Acre. 

Finally, on 11 July, the Turkish garrison capitulated. They not only agreed that 

they would surrender the entire contents of the city, but that Saladin would release 

fifteen hundred Frankish prisoners, pay two hundred thousand gold pieces and return 

the portion of the True Cross which he had captured at Hattin. Saladin only heard 

of these terms after they had been agreed and understandably he was not happy 

with them. 

The city was occupied by the Crusaders and there was the normal squabbling 

over who got exactly what and who lived exactly where and exactly who was in charge, 

Guy or Conrad. Richard and Philip both raised their standards, in recognition of 

their own agreement that they would share the spoils of the Crusade equally. Leopold 

of Austria, who commanded the pathetic remnant of Barbarossa’s Crusade, also 

raised his standard. Richard was not going to share any more than he had to. So he 

acted with his usual flair for diplomacy: he tore down Leopold’s standard and threw 

it in the moat. It was an act that he was bitterly to regret a year later. 

But of course the real issue was not which Crusader lord got what buildings, but 

which Italian city got what trading rights. For Pisa and Genoa, in particular, the 

struggle for supremacy at Acre was literally a question of life and death - especially 

now that the Church had outlawed commerce with Egypt. The Pisans were Guy’s 

men and the Genoese were Conrad’s. 

It was finally agreed that Guy would remain King, which meant that the Pisans 

were protected in Acre, but Conrad would be Lord of Tyre, which meant that Tyre 

became a Genoese stronghold. Conrad, however, was also named as heir to the 

throne. This made the Pisans nervous. 
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Philip, who was sick, tired and fed up with Richard, packed his bags and went 

home, after promising not to attack any of Richard’s lands in France before Richard 

got back. Leopold and others who had been cut out of the division of the spoils also 

left. Those Crusaders who stayed, if they were not Richard’s own men (who adored 

him), were as distrustful of their new commander as was Philip. 

Richard Marches on Jerusalem 

Richard was anxious to get to Jerusalem and he had no intention of hanging 

around in Acre for the drawn-out process of ransoming prisoners. He had nearly 

three thousand captured Moslems on his hands. Saladin, in this situation, would have 

released the prisoners. In fact Saladin had already been heavily criticized by his own 

people for releasing so many of the prisoners of Hattin and for allowing Tyre to be 

reinforced with the men he had freed. 

Richard agreed with these critics. He therefore took the first opportunity of a hitch 

in the ransom arrangements to butcher all his prisoners. Some 2700 survivors of the 

Moslem garrison, with about three hundred of their wives and children, were taken 

outside the city walls in chains and slaughtered in cold blood and in the sight of 

Saladin’s army. 

Richard then marched his men out of Acre on 22 August, heading south towards 

Jaffa. They did not want to leave, because Acre had become a very lively, if not 

decadent, city. Saladin’s secretary, for example, described the arrival of a boatload of 

prostitutes in the finest tradition of tabloid journalism, detailing with relish exactly 

what he disapproved of: 

Tinted and painted, desirable and appetizing — bold and ardent, with nasal voices andfleshy 

thighs, they ofjered their wares for enjoyment, brought their silver anklets up to touch their 

golden ear-rings, made themselves targets for men’s darts, offered themselves to the lance’s 

blows, made javelins rise towards shields. They interwove leg with leg, caught lizard after 

lizard in their holes, guided pens to inkwells, torrents to the valley bottom, swords to scabbards, 

firewood to stoves, and they maintained that this was an act of piety without equal, especially 

to those who were far from home and wives. 

Who would trade that for a march through enemy territory, in a region with little 

food and less water, in the heat of full summer and with no safe haven at the end of 

the march; 

Richard. 

It was a demonstration of invincibility. 
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Richard die Liorvheart ordered the 

massacre of 2700 survivors of the 

Moslem garrison at Acre. Here he 

watches the spectacular show from a 

grandstand. Interestingly, the Moslems 

are shown robed as martyrs, while 

Richard’s army is portrayed 

in black. From Les Passages faits 

Outremer... ,c. 1490. 
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THE BATTLE OF THE HEROES 

The key to the march was strict discipline. Saladin’s biographer, Baha’ ad^Din, 

described the column on the move, its flanks packed together like a wall’: 

Every foot'soldier wore armour made of very heavy felt, and so stout a coat of mail that our 

arrows did no harm ... I saw soldiers with as many as ten arrows in their back, who marched 

on as usual without breaking rank... One could not help admiring the patience of these 

people: they bore the most extreme hardships... and derived no personal advantage. 

In front and behind were the Templars and Hospitallers. Right in the middle was 

the Royal Standard, a flagpole mounted on a wagon, surrounded by the reserve, a 

group of noblemen. The fleet, carrying additional food and water, shadowed their 

movement down the coast. 

There was no question of there being camp followers. Richard explicitly forbade 

women on the march, except for washerwomen, who were there ‘to keep the Crusaders’ 

linen clean, to wash their hair and to deAouse them, at which task they were as skilful as monkeys’. 

These washerwomen, who were regarded as essential by all Western commanders, 

created a deep impression on the Moslems. ‘Everywhere was full of old women ... They 

exhorted and incited men to summon their pride, saying that the Cross imposed on them an obligation 

to resist to the bitter end, and that the combatants would win eternal life only by sacrificing their 

own lives, and that their God’s sepulchre was in enemy hands. ’ When they were captured, 

they were normally sent straight back to the Crusaders. 

The Battle of Arsuf 

^V\ arching only in the morning, Richard’s army covered on average a mere four 

VIJ miles a day. On 7 September, when they reached Arsuf, only about fifteen 

miles from Jaffa, Saladin launched a full/scale attack. His only hope was to cause so 

much disruption to the Crusaders that the knights would break out of formation and 

charge in small groups which could be surrounded and cut down. He threw wave 

after wave of attackers onto the rearguard, who had to march backwards defending 

themselves. The Hospitallers were losing horses, which could not be as padded and 

protected as men. For knights, whose whole ethos was based on valour and whose 

horses were part of their very identity, the situation was shameful. But the formation 

held. 

Saladin’s forces were trained and schooled, and part of their training was devoted 

to recognizing the complex process by which knights prepared to charge. This was 

essential, because their response was meant to be to get out of the way - groups 

scattering to right and left, while a large body would retreat in a straight line, drawing 
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the charging knights as far as possible from the main army so that they could be cut 

off and destroyed. But when Richard’s forces charged on this day, the Moslems were 

caught completely by surprise. The charge had actually been triggered prematurely, 

but Richard immediately took control, turned it into an immense charging wall and 

called a halt before it broke up. The knights returned in order and then made two 

further disciplined charges. 

Saladin’s biographer, Baha’ ad/Din was in the centre of the Moslem attack which 

was shattered. He tells how he rode over to the left wing, which he found in full 

retreat, then rode across several miles to the right wing, where the situation was even 

worse. He then withdrew to Saladin’s formation, ‘since this was to he the general rallying 

point. But I found only seventeen men there, though the banners were flying and the drums were 

still heating. ’ 

The Moslems were beaten. Saladin had been brilliantly able to organize jihad 

against a Christian state, but he could not rely on public opinion, popular outrage 

and religious fervour to destroy a welhcommanded military force. 

Negotiations 

Richard took Jaffa. But to take Jerusalem meant a march inland and his army 

would be much less effective away from its ships. He therefore opened negotiations 

with Saladin. Saladin would probably have been happy to negotiate a treaty, but his 

position was now very weak. He had lost the triumphant aura of his reconquest 

and he was surrounded by subordinate emirs who were no longer behaving as 

subordinates. He refused to meet Richard and again sent his brother ahAdil in 

his place. 
Richard enjoyed aLAdil’s company and through him he sent a letter to Saladin. 

‘The Muslims and Franks are bleeding to death, the country is utterly ruined and goods and lives 

have been sacrificed on both sides. The time has come to stop this. The points at issue are Jerusalem, 

the Cross and the land. ’ Saladin replied that Jerusalem was ‘as much ours as yours’, that the 

land of the Kingdom of Jerusalem had only fallen to the Franks in recent times and 

that he would only hand over the Cross if he received something valuable for it. This 

was not closing the door to an agreement, but it was not taking things forward at all. 

Richard knew that Saladin was also quietly negotiating with Conrad, trying to 

split the Christians (not a hard task), and so he offered aLAdil an extraordinary 

proposition: that he, Saladin s brother, should marry Richard s sister Joan. They 

would rule Palestine jointly from Jerusalem, Richard ceding Acre and Jaffa to Joan, 
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and Saladin ceding the rest of Palestine to al/Adil. Conrad and Guy would both be 

out of it, abAdil would have a kingdom and Richard could go home. 

This was about as far from the ideology of a Crusade as you could get. 

Saladin approved the terms, ‘knowing quite well that it was a practical joke’, according 

to Baha’ ad^Din. When Joan got to hear about it, however, she was furious, and 

swore she would never marry a Moslem thank you very much! So Richard asked ah 

Adil if he would mind converting to Christianity. Saladin’s brother politely declined 

and the whole affair ended with a lavish banquet and oaths of friendship, but no 

alliance. 

Richard unhorsing Saladin, whose helmet is toppling off to reveal the 

outlandish features of the Saracen devihking. The personalization of the 

conflict into a battle between the two men who never actually met 

established the legendary status of both of them. 
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Richard's Dilemma 

During the winter, when Saladin had disbanded most of his forces, Richard took 

the army on an expedition into the hills. They got to within twelve miles of 

Jerusalem. But it was clear that even if they took the city, there was no way to hold it 

once Richard and his army had gone. There were not enough Christian knights who 

wanted to live out their lives in the Holy Land. 

Richard withdrew to Ascalon, which Saladin had dismantled, and busied his 

men with reconstructing it as a mighty fortress. Conrad refused to come and help, 

and the Duke ofBurgundy, whom Philip had left in charge of his troops, took a large 

French force to Acre. Since the French had always backed Conrad, and Conrad was 

a tool of the Genoese, the Pisans saw this as a threat. They seized the city just as the 

French were arriving, drove them off and held it for three days against Genoese galleys, 

appealing for Richard to come and impose order. Richard went north, patched things 

up without resolving anything and returned to Ascalon. 
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The French set up a very fashionable camp around Tyre and quite distressed the 

English soldier/chronicler who saw them there dressed in smooth, tight clothes with 

gold chains on the sleeves, embroidered belts, jewelled collars and garlands of flowers 

in their hair. The French were obviously degenerates. 

So far as Richard was concerned, there would have to be a treaty with Saladin. 

Saladin could in theory simply sit and wait for Richard to leave, but in fact he needed 

a treaty as much as Richard did. AFAdil was now ambitious and seemed to be 

negotiating on his own account with Richard and Conrad. If Saladin did not reach 

an agreement of some sort, ah Adil might — and he might have the support of Saladin’s 

grumbling emirs. 

An agreement appeared to have been reached by the end ofMarch. The Christians 

would keep what they had conquered and have the right of pilgrimage and of 

maintaining priests at Jerusalem. The Holy Cross would be given back. They could 

also have Beirut, if its fortifications were dismantled. 

Richard announced that he was leaving. His brother John was creating trouble in 

England and Philip was threatening Normandy. Besides, his success as a diplomat 

did not cover the fact that he now knew it was entirely pointless to conquer Jerusalem, 

which had been the whole purpose of coming. It was definitely time to go home. 

Somehow, though, the Guy^Conrad struggle had to be sorted out. He called a council 

to ask the knights and barons to choose between Guy and Conrad. 

The Murder of Conrad 

Conrad had now committed himself completely to the Genoese, and Genoese invest^ 

ment in him was large; this may account for the fact that the Council displayed an 

extraordinary unanimity in electing him king. Guy had lost and Richard arranged 

for him to purchase the Kingdom of Cyprus as a consolation prize. More significantly, 

perhaps, the Pisans had lost. The moment Conrad became king, they could expect 

the Genoese to be given a monopoly at Acre. 

Just as the coronation was being prepared, Conrad was struck down and killed 

in the street by two Assassins, sent by the Old Man of the Mountains. No/one knew 

why; many thought it had been arranged by Richard. There were as many theories 

about this odd murder as there are about the killing of J. F. Kennedy. One oddity 

was the role of Isabella. Conrad was killed because he had gone out to find someone 

to dine with, after she had refused to leave her bath to eat with him. The Assassins 

were waiting for him on the way back; someone had tipped them off. 
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The most obvious beneficiary was Henry of Champagne and he turned up at Tyre 

as soon as he heard of the assassination — to be acclaimed immediately by the populace 

as their new Lord and the man who should marry the newly widowed (and pregnant) 

Isabella. He was young, popular and the nephew of both Richard and Philip. He 

and Isabella were married within forty^eight hours of the murder. Richard approved. 

But although Henry ruled as a king, he was never crowned. No-one knows why. 

The chroniclers do not devote many lines to merchants and seamen; they are 

impressed by knightly valour and religious fervour, not account books and sordid 

squabbles over money. But it is clear that the other great beneficiaries of Conrad’s 

death were the Pisans. Richard and Henry now confirmed them in privileges which 

gave them control over the whole of the economically important section of Acre. This 

was still not enough for them and the following year a Pisan plot was discovered in 

which Tyre would be seized by force and Guy de Lusignan brought back from 

Cyprus to rule it. Henry banned all Pisans from the Kingdom. 

Two years after the assassination, when the Old Man of the Mountains died, his 

successor invited Henry of Champagne to pay him a visit at his castle. He apologized 

for the killing of Conrad and then asked Henry to watch a demonstration. Pairs of 

men in white robes stood on the ramparts. The Assassin chief explained that these 

men would obey him more perfectly than any of Henry’s soldiers would obey Henry. 

He shouted, and one pair stepped off the ramparts and plunged to their deaths. Would 

Henry like the demonstration repeated? Henry declined, badly shaken. He was politely 

asked if there was anyone the Assassins could kill for him? 

Very shortly afterwards, the Pisans were restored to their lands and privileges. 

There was a tragic coda to this, for not long afterwards Henry himself fell to his death 

by inadvertently stepping backwards out of a window of his castle. 

With Conrad dead, and the faction fighting apparently over, Richard could 

concentrate on finishing his negotiations with Saladin. He decided to increase the 

pressure, took Saladin’s last fortress on the coast, Daron, and then marched his army 

once more towards Jerusalem. He waited there for a month, looking threatening but 

actually impotent. 

Richard's Last Great Battle 

Richard had sworn that he would only set eyes on the Holy City as its conqueror, 

so when he accidentally caught sight of the city walls in the distance, while riding 

in the hills, he sadly covered his face with his shield. Finally Richard ordered a 

< 191 > 



THE BATTLE OF THE HEROES 

<-> 

withdrawal to the coast. The French soldiers, who did not understand Richard’s 

reluctance to take the city and did not share his own troops’ admiration for him, 

began singing an obscene song about him. Richard wrote one of his own about them. 

Unfortunately, neither has survived. 

Negotiations seemed to be drawing to a conclusion and Richard moved to Acre, 

preparing for his departure. Then Saladin’s army suddenly appeared at Jaffa and the 

city surrendered. Saladin’s forces, however, had lost enthusiasm for this war; the only 

thing that was still holding them together was the prospect of plunder. Saladin had 

agreed that the Christians in Jaffa could leave with their goods, but his troops had 

very different ideas and began to rampage. Saladin, outraged, put guards at the gates 

and confiscated the plunder. 

Richard, having heard of the attack, immediately sailed to Jaffa with the small 

force he had to hand. By the time he arrived Saladin’s standard was already flying 

over the town, but a swimmer brought him the news that the garrison had not yet 

withdrawn. Richard brought his boats close inshore, jumped into the surf with only 

the top half of his body armoured, and began fighting. His companions followed his 

example. 

Richard was a careful commander but an insanely careless fighter. Three years 

earlier, fighting against his father, he had pursued a retreating force with such enthu/ 

siasm that he had not bothered to put on armour. The warrior who turned to take 

him on was William Marshal, a celebrated champion, and Richard suddenly realized 

that he was in mortal danger. ‘By the legs of God, Marshal, ’ he cried, ‘do not kill me! I am 

not armed!’ Marshal replied that he would not, ‘but I hope the Devil may’, and killed his 

horse. Now Richard had done it again. To wade ashore fighting with the surf at his 

back would have been suicidal if the Moslems had made a serious effort to stop him. 

They did not. They simply ran away. 

Jaffa was too badly damaged and the stench of corpses was too great for it to be 

occupied. Richard and his tiny force (fifty Tour knights capable of fighting, with only 

fifteen horses between them, and some infantrymen) camped outside the walls. A few 

days later Saladin ordered a fulhscale cavalry attack on this little troop. 

Richard’s chroniclers saw what followed as a heroic battle, a marvellous vision of 

Richard the perfect warrior in action, triumphant against overwhelming odds. 

The King was a very giant in the battle and was everywhere in thefield- now here, now 

there, wherever the attacks of the Turks raged the hottest. He slew numbers with his sword 

which shone like lightning; some of them were cloven in two from their helmets to their teeth, 

whilst others lost their heads, arms, and other members, which were lopped off at a single blow. 

< 192> 



THE BATTLE OF THE HEROES 

<--> 

In fact what happened was not quite like that. Although the Mameluks (slave warriors 

from Egypt) had charged and been seen off by the crossbowmen, the rest ofSaladin’s 

troops had mutinied. Saladin was told that since he had confiscated their booty — 

presumably for the enrichment of his own family — he should go and fight for himself. 

They had had enough. 

At one point in the battle, aLAdil, seeing that Richard’s horse had fallen under 

him, sent him two replacement horses, requesting that Richard reward him later. 

One chronicler, staying with his story of a dramatic encounter between two supers 

heroes, explained that aLAdil was instructed to do this by Saladin and that the horses 

had been trained to bolt. A likelier explanation is that aLAdil saw more profit in 

helping Richard than Saladin. 

The energy ofthe//Whad evaporated with the conquest of Jerusalem, and Saladin’s 

moment in history was past. Back in 1098 at Antioch, victory against equally 

impossible odds had been achieved when the Turks similarly refused to fight for their 

commander. Then, victory had been ascribed to divine intervention; now, almost a 

hundred years later, it was ascribed to the Hero. God was no longer needed. The 

energy of the Holy War had evaporated on the Christian side as much as on the 

Moslem. 

Jerusalem would never again be captured by Crusaders. The parts of the Kingdom 

that would survive were those that mattered to the Italian merchants. There was no 

port in Jerusalem. 

After the battle, Richard and Saladin both fell ill. Both were exhausted and both 

had failed. Saladin sent fruit and snow to Richard and supplied him with a doctor. 

On 2 September 1192 they signed a three^year truce. The Christians could keep the 

coastal strip (but must demolish the fort at Ascalon) and Christian pilgrims would 

be free to visit Jerusalem. Many knights did so, but not Richard. On 9 October he 

sailed away. 

But that was not the end of his hardships. 

Richard was shipwrecked on his way home and forced to travel overland through 

the territory of Leopold of Austria, whose banner he had cast into the moat at Acre. 

He disguised himself as a Templar knight, but was recognized while stopping at an 

inn in Vienna. He was imprisoned by Leopold on the charge of murdering Conrad 

and then handed over to Emperor Henry vi, who kept him a prisoner for a year. 

Richard was eventually released only on payment of an enormous ransom. 
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Saladin — the Model Christian ? 

Saladin, utterly worn out, died five months after Richard left Acre. To some of his 

fellow countrymen he remained the ‘Upstart’, a man more prepared to fight his 

fellow'Moslems than the Franks and who used the rhetoric of jihad simply to fulfil his 

own ambitions. He brought Nur ed^Din’s work to its logical conclusion by recaps 

tunng Jerusalem, but was criticized by his contemporaries for not being more ruthless 

with the Franks and for not driving them out of Palestine altogether. In the West, on 

the other hand, Saladin became an icon of chivalry. He was celebrated for his sense 

of honour, his generosity and his distaste for bloodshed. 

There is little doubt that he was a man of his word and yet he was also quite 

capable of hypocrisy. When Amalnc died, for example, Saladin wrote to his son, the 

wretched temyear^old leper Baldwin: ‘The king must know that we have a sincere affection 

for him, as we had for his father ... let him rely on us.’ But to his own nephew, Saladin 

punned on the dead king’s name, which in Arabic was Maury: ‘may God curse him 

and abandon him and lead him to punishment as bitter [Murr] as his name’. 

There is no disputing Saladin’s generosity. It was often the despair of his treasurers. 

‘He was as generous when he was poor as when he was rich,’ recalled one member of his 

household, ‘and his treasurers kept certain reserves concealed from him for fear that somefinancial 

emergency might arise.’ When he died, ruler of so many lands, his treasury was virtually 

empty but for forty^seven drachmas of silver and one piece of gold. 

Saladin was generous — to a fault — but his generosity was part of his political 

method. And while even his enemies found this extremely attractive, the keener^ 

sighted, according to William of Tyre, realized that such generosity was actually one 

of Saladin’s chief weapons: ‘He was a man wise in counsel, valiant in war, and generous beyond 

measure .. .for this very reason, he was distrusted by those of our nobles who had keener foresight 

... there is no better means by which princes can win the hearts of their subjects... than by showing 

lavish bounty towards them.’ 

Saladin clearly did not value money for itself, but he needed it, lots of it. His 

power was based on force — on his army - and without money he could do 

nothing. He spent five times as much on his military as he did on everything else. 

This was the whole trouble with being an ‘upstart’. He was locked in a cycle 

of conquest and expansion. He used the wealth of Egypt to conquer Damascus, 

he used the wealth of Damascus to conquer Aleppo, he used the wealth of 

Aleppo to conquer the coast, but, as the chronicler aLFadil remarked, in this sort 

of system: ‘hopes of expansion can never come to an end’. 
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Saladin’s humanity is perhaps his most attractive feature. His humane treatment 

of civilians after the conquest of Jerusalem was remarkable and yet it would be a 

mistake to see him as a humanist in any modern sense. His avoidance of bloodshed at 

Mosul and Aleppo was a matter of policy: he did not want to alienate the people he 

was supposed to be rescuing and he also needed the manpower that they represented. 

On other occasions, such as the massacre of the Black Regiment in Cairo or when 

he crucified Fatimid and Shi’ite rebels, he acted with all the brutality that was expected 

of a ruler of his time. Perhaps most disturbing was his habit of creating an amusing 

spectacle out of the execution of prisoners. On more than one occasion he ordered a 

batch of captives to be killed by ‘men of piety . Presumably the terror of those who 

were about to die matched the terror of the men of piety who were expected to do 

the killing. This - coupled with the Sufis’ inexperience in handling the sword and 

the needless death agonies of the victims as the amateur executioners botched up - 

must all have made hilarious entertainment for the hard-bitten soldiers watching. 

Saladin’s biographer, Imad ed-Din, recalled how he himself was once summoned 

to such an occasion. To his horror, he discovered that the prisoner he was supposed 

to kill was a boy. This may have been a doubly good joke to Saladin and his rough 

companions’, since elsewhere Imad ed-Din is satirized as a homosexual. At all events, 

Imad ed-Din refused to carry out the deed and instead asked if he could keep the boy 

as a slave. But he made it clear that he did so not out of compassion but to avoid 

joining the laughing-stock: 7 turned from that deed, lest the company might laugh at me as 

they did at the others.’ 

Saladin remains a mystery, an attractive and yet ambivalent figure. Even his maus¬ 

oleum in Damascus contains not one but two tombs — a homely wooden one erected 

by his fellow countrymen shortly after his death and an elaborate marble one erected 

by the German Kaiser in the last century to celebrate Saladin as the great romantic 

hero that the West saw. 

In many ways he is the West s hero rather than the East s. 

Saladin’s death was the death of his empire. It would take ten years for his brother 

al-Adil to reunite its parts. In the meantime the logic that had persuaded Richard 

not to attack Jerusalem had lost its force. If he had stayed another six months, with 

Saladin dead and his coalition army dispersed, Richard could have become the 

conqueror of the Holy City. 

Richard himself died in 1199 from a gangrenous arrow-wound received when he 

was carelessly inspecting the defences of a tiny castle which he was determined to 

assault. But there were others who became interested in Jerusalem. 
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Tl>e Fourth CrusAOc 

In the long struggle between Pope and Emperor which had been launched by 

Gregory vn, there were few times when the Papacy found no powerful 

Emperor. There were even fewer when a Pope in that position had an unequivo' 

cal sense of his historic mission to make all secular monarchs the liege/men of 

the Church. 

That day had come. 

In 1198 Lothario dei Conti de Segni found himself, aged only thirty/seven, elected 

Pope in a world where no lay ruler could rival his power. The German Emperor had 

died leaving a child heir; France and England were locked in debilitating war. The 

young Lothario took the name of Innocent ill and immediately put his own men in 

key positions in the Church and the administration of Rome. He had come to power 

from nowhere. He had been a mere deacon and so on his election as Pope he had first 

to be ordained as a priest. 

Like Stalin, he took over power not because he was known for his politics but 

because he knew how to run the administration and watched all the details. And like 

Stalin, once he had arrived, he blossomed into a monster seeking unlimited power 

and ruthlessly destroying anyone who was not completely subservient. Unlike Stalin, 

the organization which he infused with his personality was already firmly established 

and would endure for centuries to come. 

His ambition was total. He was the heir of the revolution begun by Gregory vii; 

he was determined that the Pope, representative of the supreme monarch in heaven, 

must be the supreme monarch on earth. That programme called for the submission 

of kings, the subjection of the Eastern Church to Rome, the elimination of all but his 

own interpretation of the Christian message and the reconquest of Jerusalem under 

his own command. 
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Pope Innocent ill, arguably the most powerful Pope in 

the history of the Catholic Church. Fresco in a 

monastery at Subiaco in Italy. 

In 1199 he wrote to the Patriarch of Jerusalem for information which would help 

him direct the Crusade he planned. The Patriarch wrote back to say that no Crusade 

was necessary, thank you very much; in his view the Saracens would happily withdraw 

from the Holy Land if they could be given guarantees of the security of their other 

possessions. The barons wanted to live in peace with ahAdil; the last thing they 

wanted was another bunch of knights to come over, make a lot of trouble and then 

go away leaving them to live with the results. This was not the information Innocent 

wanted to hear. He ignored it. 
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The Preaching of the Crusade 

A priest by the name of Fulk, from near Paris, had been wandering about France 

rVpreaching the need for a new Crusade. Fulk was no ragged itinerant like Peter 

the Hermit. He was respectable, well groomed and with great powers of oratory — a 

perfectly acceptable representative of papal intentions. Innocent in now gave Fulk’s 

preaching full papal authority. In addition, he sent letters to the clergy and nobility 

throughout France and northern Italy urging them to take up the Cross. But he sent 

no letter to any king — not that he would have stopped them going, but why encourage 

them, since he himself was to be the ultimate commander; 

There didn’t seem to be quite the same enthusiasm for crusading as there had been 

in the time of Urban II, so Innocent resorted to unprecedented — even desperate - 

measures. For the first time ever he announced a tax upon the clergy themselves to pay 

for the Crusade. There was an outcry, of course. The Cistercians were immediately 

up in arms and refused to pay. But the fact that the Pope was prepared to put other 

people’s purses where his mouth was changed the whole basis of the Crusade. From 

now on it was less of a financial burden to go on Crusade; and would-be Crusade 

leaders who could get the tax assigned to them were even able to show a profit — 

especially if they did not go after all. 

Although a lawyer himself, the Pope also decided to throw Canon Law out of the 

window by announcing that men no longer needed their wives’ consent to go on 

Crusade to the Holy Land. Innocent believed firmly that the end justified the means. 

In the name of Divine Law and Christian morality, he would break any law that 

needed breaking — and any bones. 

In November 1199 the first contingent of Crusaders arrived for a grand tournament 

at the castle ofErcy in Champagne (today it is called Asfeldda^Ville). Amidst the 

flying banners, the martial contests and the feasting, the twenty/two^year^old Count 

Thibald of Champagne and the twenty^sevemyear/old Count Louis of Blois took 

the Cross. They were followed by other lords and vassals, including Count Baldwin 

of Flanders. These three Counts became the military leaders of the expedition, but 

they now made diplomatic history by immediately handing over their powers to six 

envoys, armed with blank charters already sealed and signed by the Counts. This is 

the first time in history we ever hear of plenipotentiaries given such complete freedom 

of action. 
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The Crusaders Proposition Venice 

Che six envoys (one of whom was the chronicler Geoffrey de Villehardouin) 

approached the greatest maritime power of the day, Venice, for help in transporting 

the armies across the sea to the Holy Land. In 1201, in the heart of winter, they 

arrived at the court of the old, blind Doge, Enrico Dandolo. 

Venice was used to huge maritime contracts. In 1187, for example, it had secured 

the contract to build and man the entire Byzantine navy. But its focus of interest was 

Constantinople. The specialists in travel to the Holy Land were Genoa and Pisa, but 

they were now at war with each other and any fleet hired from one stood a good 

chance of being attacked by the other. The envoys estimated that the total number of 

Crusaders would be 33 500 men. This was an absurd number, seven times larger 

than the army King Philip had taken in 1190. It is clear that great lords and 

chroniclers had only the vaguest idea of the size of armies. 

The Grand Council of Venice asked for a week’s grace (probably they needed to 

go somewhere quiet and fall about laughing); once they had composed themselves 

they offered to build enough ships to carry 4500 knights, each with one horse, 9000 

squires and 20 000 foot/soldiers and supply nine months’ provisions. The cost would 

be five marks for each horse and two marks for each man, all of which came to 89 500 

marks, but they could offer a five per cent discount for friends, which brought it down 

to 85 025 — let’s call it 85 000 marks. 

The army was to be seven times larger than Philip’s - and the transport charge 

fifteen times larger! The Council also expected to receive half of everything captured 

on land and at sea (the normal deal was a third). Perhaps the Venetians did not want 

a deal to be struck. Although the leaders of the Crusade said publicly that their 

destination was Palestine, they had agreed in private that the way to most damage the 

Moslems in Palestine was to attack Egypt first. Venice had no interest in damaging 

its large colony of traders in Alexandria. 

But the Venetians had another agenda altogether, which led them to offer fifty 

armed galleys at their own expense. Fifty galleys was a huge addition - as large as the 

entire Byzantine war fleet — and would have required seven thousand crewmen. But 

perhaps it was the entire Byzantine war fleet! After all, that fleet had been supplied 

and was still manned by the Venetians, and they were unhappy with the new Emperor. 

He was offering better deals to the Pisans and Genoese, he was not paying his 

considerable debts and he was levying tolls on Venetian ships in Constantinople, in 

breach of treaties. 
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The envoys accepted the terms. A wonderful pantomime was played out in the 

Church of San Marco, when they faced the population of the city and Geoffrey de 

Villehardouin announced that he and the other envoys had been commanded to kneel 

at the Venetians’ feet and not to rise until those noble people agreed ‘to take pity on the 

Holy Land over the sea Whereupon the envoys threw themselves on their knees in tears. 

The Doge, who was well over eighty, virtually blind but otherwise still in full 

command of all his faculties, wept. So did all the Venetians gathered there and with 

one accord they raised their hands to heaven and shouted out: ‘We consent! We consent!’ 

And in the noise and the uproar that then followed you would have thought the 

whole world was crumbling to pieces, according to Geoffrey. 

The envoys borrowed 5000 marks from Venetian bankers so that the shipbuilding 

could begin, and returned to France with the satisfaction of a job well done. 

The Debacle in Venice 

Soon after the envoys arrived back in France, the unofficial leader of the Crusade, 

the young Count Thibald, died. Without him there was a danger that the whole 

thing might founder, but it was by no means easy to find a replacement. Eventually 

Geoffrey de Villehardouin proposed that they offer the command of the army to the 

Marquis Boniface ofMontferrat, the brother of the assassinated Conrad. 

From the way Geoffrey puts it, it sounds as if the Marquis had already indicated 

that he would be prepared to accept. Boniface’s main interest, though, was not in 

Jerusalem but Byzantine Thessalonica. He believed that he had a right to it and a 

Crusade army might install him there. Since, by coincidence, he had also just been 

invited to overthrow a usurper in Byzantium, everything seemed to be falling into 

place for him. He took the job. 

From the beginning of June, Crusaders began to arrive in Venice and were given 

quarters on the island of San Niccolo di Lido. The Venetians set up a market for 

them with every kind of goods anyone could ever want, and everything seemed to be 

going according to plan. But as the days passed, the barons began to realize that they 

had a problem on their hands. The Crusaders were not arriving in anything like the 

numbers they needed. 

In fact the number who did come was enormous - 11 000. But it was a long way 

short of the anticipated 33 500. And the awful truth began to dawn that to meet the 

Venetians’ bill every man would have to pay three times what he had expected - three 

kilos of silver per man, seven and a half per horse! Many could not afford it; the 
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barons collected what they could. But even when they added in their table^services of 

gold and silver plate, and saw them carted off into the Doge’s palace, they were still 

34 ooo marks short. 

The Crusaders were stuck. Winter was nearly upon them; there was no way they 

could keep the army together until the next sailing season and now the Venetians 

were threatening to cut off their supplies. At this point the blind Doge came up with 

an offer they could not refuse. This was how he put it to his own people: 

The King of Hungary has taken from us our city of Zara in Slavonia, one of the strongest 

places in the world; and we shall never recover it, even with all the forces at our disposal, 

except with the aid of the French. So let us ask them to help us recover it and we will allow 

them to postpone payment of the 34 000 silver marks they owe us until such time as God 

shall permit our combined forces to win this money by conquest. 

This offer was then put to the barons and a violent debate broke out. Those who 

objected pointed out that they would be starting their Crusade by attacking a Christ 

tian town — not only that, but a town that belonged to one of their fellow Crusaders, 

for King Emeric of Hungary had recently taken the Cross himself! Faced with this 

argument, the Doge needed to demonstrate his own commitment to the Crusade. 

Zara was, after all, very important, since it gave access to the forests of Dalmatia, 

which supplied the wood for shipbuilding. So one Sunday the blind Doge climbed 

the steps of the lectern in the Church of San Marco and addressed a huge crowd of 

Venetians and Crusaders. 

‘Sirs, ’ he said, 7 am an old man, weak and in need of rest, and my health is failing. At the 

same time I realize that no man can control and direct you like myself, your lord. If you will allow 

it, I will take the Cross so that I can protect and guide you. I shall go to live or die with the 

pilgrims/ The Venetians cried out: ‘We beg you in God’s name to take the Cross and go with 

us!’ Then he knelt before the altar and they sewed a cross onto the front of his cotton 

cap, so that everyone could see it. And suddenly there were lots ofVenetian Crusaders. 

The Crusade was going to Zara. 

The Crusade Attacks Zara 

Che great fleet set out in November 1202. Shields were hung out on the bulwarks 

and the ships’ castles, and banners and pennants were hoisted. Between them, the 

ships carried more than three hundred siege machines and everything you could need 

to capture a city. 

But as the attack on Zara was about to begin, the Abbot of Vaux stepped forward 
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with a letter from the Pope: ‘My lords, in the name of the Pope of Rome I forbid you to attack 

this city; for the people in it are Christians, and you wear the sign of the Cross.’ The Doge 

immediately turned to the counts and barons and said: ‘You have given me your promise 

to assist me in conquering this city, and I now summon you to keep your word. ’ They did, and 

the bombardment began. After five days the city capitulated, and was dutifully 

pillaged. The Doge and the Crusaders took over all the fine houses and divided the 

city up between them. They decided to winter there, before continuing on their 

Crusade. 

And now we come to the heart of the plot. 

In Byzantium, the Emperor, Isaac Angelus, was now the ex/Emperor and was 

even blinder than the Doge of Venice. When his brother, Alexius, had been captured 

by the Turks, Isaac had paid off the ransom and brought Alexius back to Com 

stantinople. Alexius then showed his enduring gratitude by turning on his brother 

and rescuer, tearing out his eyes and having him thrown into prison, along with his 

son, who was also named Alexius. Alexius the usurper was the man who had so 

annoyed the Venetians by doing deals with the Pisans and Genoese. 

Young Prince Alexius had managed to escape to the west, however, and it was he 

who had invited Boniface to overthrow the usurper. Boniface, who had thought it 

prudent to visit Rome rather than participate in the attack on Zara, now rejoined the 

Crusaders, with envoys of the young Prince Alexius close on his heels. The envoys 

brought a tempting offer to the Crusaders: restore the Crown Prince to his rightful 

throne and he would give them ... the Earth! 

He will place his whole empire under the authority of Rome, from which it has been long 

estranged. Secondly, since he is aware you have spent all your money and now have nothing, 

he will give you 200 000 silver marks and provisions for every man in your army, officers 

and men alike. Moreover he himself will go in your company to Egypt with 10 000 men, 

or, if you prefer it, simply send 10 000 men with you; and... he will maintain, at his own 

expense, 300 knights to keep guard in the land oversea. 

The Abbot of Vaux said he would never give his consent, since attacking Com 

stantinople meant attacking their fellow Christians yet again. There were many others 

who agreed with the Abbot - they wanted to get on to Syria. But the Marquis of 

Montferrat and the Doge insisted that the only way to recover the Holy Land was to 

take the offer and then sail against Egypt. 

If Venice had one foreign policy objective, it was to have control of the trade 

concessions in Constantinople. If it had another, it was to have control of Con/ 

stantinople. And for a third wish_ 
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To Dandolo, it was Constantinople, not Jerusalem, that was the centre of the 

world. That was the fabled city, that was the fount of wealth and power — that was 

even where the best holy relics were stored. His own Church of San Marco was a 

replica of the Church of Haghia Sophia in Constantinople. And Constantinople 

had placed itself in his power; he had its fighting ships, he had the Crusaders. All he 

had to do was take it. 

The main problem was now holding the army together through the winter in 

Zara. There were many desertions from both the nobility and the lower ranks. They 

often escaped aboard merchants ships — in one instance five hundred got away in one 

ship. Others ran away by land, only to come to a sticky end amongst the Slavs. It is 

hard to say which of these deserted because they were unhappy with the direction the 

Crusade was taking, which were impatient to get to Syria and which were simply 

disillusioned by the whole affair. 

Meanwhile the Pope was furious about the capture of Zara. The Crusaders 

had ignored his specific instructions. He excommunicated the entire expedition — 

Crusaders and Venetians alike! They were not allowed to attend Mass, or to be 

confessed; they would die in a state of mortal sin and be dispatched to the fires of 

everlasting hell. 

The bishops in the army hastily granted the Crusaders temporary absolution, 

while envoys were rushed to the Pope to explain the impossible choice with which 

the army had been faced: do as the Venetians demand or abandon the whole Crusade. 

Having brought them to heel, the Pope rescinded the ban of excommunication on 

the Crusaders. But he did not lift the ban on the Venetians, who were plainly not yet 

cowed by him; they remained well and truly excommunicated. 

Not that that worried the Venetians at all, for the simple reason that the Marquis 

de Montferrat didn’t pass on the news to them that they were still excommunicated! 

As he later explained to the Pope, there was no use in upsetting them and endangering 

the whole Crusade yet again. 

And so, on Easter Monday, 1203, the Crusaders boarded ship at Zara, while the 

Venetians razed the city to the ground. On the way they encountered two ships full 

of knights and pilgrims returning from Syria. When the Marquis sent out a small 

boat to enquire their business, a sergeant in one of the boats leapt over the side and 

joined the Crusaders, yelling back to those he had left on deck: ‘You can do what you 

like with anything I’ve left behind. I’m going with these people, for it certainly seems to me they’ll 

win some land for themselves. ’ 
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The Crusade Diverts to Constantinople 

Che Crusaders were overawed by the sight of ‘that city which reigns supreme over all 

others’. Geoffrey de Villehardouin reported that those who had never seen it before 

‘never imagined there could be so fine a place in all the world’. Alexius 111, the usurper, tried 

to buy them off with provisions and money, but the Crusaders refused to be diverted 

from their noble mission to restore the imperial throne to its rightful heir. They even 

sailed up close to the walls of Constantinople, showing off the young Prince on the 

deck and shouting out to the Greeks: ‘Here is your natural lord... The man you now obey 

as your lord rules over you without just or fair claim to be your Emperor; in defiance of God and 

the right. ’ 

On the appointed day, the Franks and the main army attacked from the land, while 

the Venetians attacked from the sea. At this point the Doge showed a remarkable 

degree of courage, according to Geoffrey de Villehardouin. The ancient blind man 

stood at the prow of his galley with the banner of Saint Mark and demanded that his 

men put himself and the banner on shore, whereupon his men leapt ashore and the 

siege began. 

That night the usurper Alexius ill analysed his position objectively. His people 

had little love for him. What remained of the imperial army consisted entirely of 

mercenaries and if things went against them, no soldier could be expected to risk his 

neck merely for a wage packet. And since the majority of Crusaders were Franks, the 

Frankish regiments in his pay could not be trusted either. Perhaps he could still count 

on the Varangian Guard, but even they were mainly Danish and English. The 

analysis complete, Alexius ill took the wisest course of action — he did a bunk. 

The Byzantine officials woke up next day to find themselves without an emperor. 

Their solution, however, was brilliant in its simplicity. They pulled the blinded ex^ 

Emperor Isaac Angelus out of prison, set him back on the throne and announced to 

the Crusaders that the rightful ruler had been restored, according to their wishes, and 

there was thus no need for any more of their kind assistance. Would they therefore 

please stop attacking? 

The Crusader fleet and camp outside Constantinople, 

from Les Passages faits Outremer..., c. 1490. 

< 204 > 



PPfiitiiif 

qtuftU fe&& 
qiu pav etwic 
cnnufOd 

pt4tetentmtu& mimctd 
mafyteu'bt mmt mount) 3 
ctmifmm rntmfmm 

utftttim&Je napeb^ 

mf 
iwtf Mpaf&MtMf 

mppavti£$ bmdtmt 

htutm f& pckvmt 

■ •- ■ 

£Vr.o.su*s.v&w ' 



THE FOURTH CRUSADE 

<---> 

But the Crusaders were not to be cheated of their reward. At a private audience 

Geoffrey de Villehardouin explained to the reinstated Emperor the Crusaders’ con/ 

tract with his son: 

You know what service we have rendered your son, and you are aware that we have kept the 

terms of our agreement with him. We cannot, however, allow him to come here until he has 

given us a guarantee for the covenant he has made with us. He therefore, as your son, asks 

you to ratify this covenant in the same terms and the same manner as he has done himself. 

Isaac Angelus grumbled that they were indeed hard conditions, but he signed the 

covenant, and the deal was celebrated with great jubilation and feasting. On i August 

1203 the Prince was crowned Alexius iv alongside his father in the Church of 

Haghia Sophia. 

The Pay'off that Never Came 

Che Crusaders now waited for their 200 000 marks and the submission of the Greek 

Empire to the Pope in Rome. While the blind father shut himself away with his 

favourite astrologers, the young Alexius 1 v began to discover that it is one thing to 

make grand promises as a pretender to the throne, but another to carry them out as 

emperor. His attempt to enforce submission to Rome naturally roused tremendous 

resentment amongst both the clergy and the people. As for the money he had prom/ 

ised — it simply did not exist. Byzantium was broke. 

Eventually he summoned the Doge and the barons to a meeting. There, in the 

time/honoured manner of debtors everywhere, he put a counter/proposal to his 

creditors. You are soon to leave, ’ he said. 7 cannot hope to carry out all I have promised you in 

so short a time. The Greeks, I must tell you, hate me because of you. If you leave, I will lose my 

Empire and they will put me to death/ He therefore begged them to stay until the followi ng 

Easter, by which time he should have made his position more secure and, hopefully, 

raised the promised money. 

The suggestion created uproar amongst the Crusaders. The idea of yet another 

delay seemed insupportable ... and yet what else could they do? They had got 

themselves into a double/bind. Unable to go forward without more money, unwilling 

to delay another year-In the end there was nothing to do but wait. 

Alexius toured his Empire exacting submission (and, presumably, cash) from his 

not altogether willing subjects. In this enterprise he was supported by many of the 

crusading barons, and this further alienated his people. 
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Meanwhile the rest of the Crusaders strutted around Constantinople doing nothing 

to endear themselves to the Greek population. Drunken brawls were frequent, and 

during one a Frenchman set fire to the city. A terrible fire raged out of control for a 

week, after which no Latin dared to live in Constantinople. In January antELatin 

sentiment in the city broke out in a riot in which the wonderful statue of Athena, 

which Phidias the Athenian had made some 1500 years before at the request of 

Pericles, was utterly destroyed because it seemed to be beckoning to the invaders. 

Finally the Doge insisted that matters be brought to a head. A delegation, including 

Geoffrey de Villehardouin, was given the extremely risky task of delivering an ultE 

matum to the now increasingly haughty young Emperor at a great assembly. 

‘The Greeks were much amazed and deeply shocked by this openly defiant message, and declared 

that no one had ever yet been so bold as to dare issue such a challenge to an Emperor of Constant> 

inople in his own hall’, Geoffrey reported. Angry voices filled the room. The Emperor 

scowled and the Franks beat a hasty retreat in fear of being torn limb from limb on 

the spot. 

This was followed by a palace coup. A character by the name of Murzuphlus, 

who had been one of Alexius’ most trusted advisers, now seized the young Emperor 

as he slept, threw him into prison, and had him strangled. Alexius s father, the blind 

old Emperor, died a few days later. Murzuphlus then had himself crowned Emperor 

to the popular acclaim of the Greek population. ‘Have you ever heard of any people guilty 

of such atrocious treachery!’ exclaims Geoffrey de Villehardouin. 

The Sack of Constantinople 

Chis turn of events made it easy for the Venetians to persuade the Crusaders that 

there was now only one course of action open to them: they must put an end to 

the ancient Roman Empire. Their clergy offered moral justifications - the Greeks 

had committed a mortal sin in supporting the murder of their Emperor. And besides 

they were all schismatics who ought to be brought back into the fold of Rome. They 

even told the soldiers that all those who died in the enterprise would ‘benefit from the 

indulgence granted by the Pope, as though you had completed the Crusade’. In promising this, 

of course, the clerics were giving the death knell to the whole Crusade. 

The Pope did not forbid the proposed attack; he simply said that Christians were 

only to be attacked if they were actively hindering the Holy War. Since it was common 

knowledge throughout the West that Byzantium had never done anything but actively 

hinder the Holy War, that seemed like a papal blessing. 
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In March the leaders of the Crusaders and the Venetians met to divide up the 

spoils to come. A quarter of everything was to go to whoever should be elected 

Emperor, after the conquest. The rest was to be divided fifty/fifty between the Crm 

saders and the Venetians. 

Crusade to the Holy Land; What Crusade to the Holy Land; 

On 6 April 1203 the Crusaders began the attack. On the 12th two of the Venetian 

ships, the Pilgrim and the Paradise, were blown by the wind so close to a tower that 

they were able to get a ladder fixed to it. Then the troops swarmed onto the tower, 

got ladders against other towers and within a short time had broken into the city. 

Murzuphlus fled with his wife and family, and by the next morning the Doge and 

the crusading barons were ensconced in the Great Palace. 

The soldiers were then told they had three days to pillage the city. Every house was 

open to rape and murder. In Haghia Sophia, drunken soldiers tore down the silk 

hangings. The iconostasis, the screen across the church, was solid silver; they tore it 

to pieces. A prostitute sat on the Patriarch’s throne and sang ribald songs. Nuns were 

ravished in their convents. Children and women were left to die in the streets. The 

bloodshed went on and on. Even the Saracens would have been more merciful, cried 

the historian Nicetas Choniates. 

But the booty — ah! the booty! fGeoffrey de Villehardouin here declares that, to his 

knowledge, so much booty had never been gained in any city since the creation of the world.’ No^ 

one could calculate the treasures that were looted in those three days — gold and silver, 

table^services and precious stones, satin and silk and the finest furs. Confronted by so 

much wealth, after all their delays and hardships, the Crusaders went crazy. Nor were 

those in holy orders exempt from the hysteria. 

Abbot Martin from Paris openly threatened to kill one elderly Greek priest from 

the Church of the Pantocrator unless he immediately revealed the whereabouts of the 

most precious relics of the saints. The old man opened up an iron chest and Abbot 

Martin greedily plunged in both his hands. Then he and his chaplain, ‘briskly tucking 

up their skirts, filed the folds with holy sacrilege... As he hurried to the ships, he was seen by 

those who knew him. They asked him joyfully whether he had carried anything off. He answered 

with a smiling face: “We have done well”. To which they replied: “Thanks be to God”.’ Some 

of the loot remains on display to this day in Venice, including the most famous piece - 

the sixtlvcentury Quadriga - the four horses from the Hippodrome, which still adorn 

the church of San Marco. 

The Crusaders celebrated Palm Sunday with hearts full ofjoy. Nobody mentioned 

anything more about their pious urge to rescue the Holy Land or about avenging ‘the 
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outrage suffered by Our Lord’. Boniface now owned Macedonia. Baldwin, Count of 

Flanders and Hainault, was elected emperor and the Byzantine Empire was divided 

up between him, the Marquis and the Doge of Venice. 

The Fourth Crusade had done nothing whatever to harm the Moslems. But it had 

completed another agenda that had been part of the crusading movement from the 

beginning. Urban had wanted the Eastern Church to be subordinated to the Western; 

now it was. Bohemond had dreamed of a European conquest of Byzantium; now it 

was conquered. The pigeons sent out by the Emperor in 1095 bad finally come home 

to roost. The Roman Empire was destroyed. 
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A Nett> Kin£> of Crusade 

/ lthough Pope Innocent was appalled by the slaughter at Com 

stantinople, he had been very pleased indeed by the destruction 

of the Eastern Church and the imposition of the Latin one. 

M He charged the Crusaders and the clergy ‘to defend and hold 

.JL. the Empire of Constantinople\ through the aid of which the Holy 

Land could be more easily freed from pagan hands. 

Throughout the West there was celebration as the riches of Byzantium began to 

fill the churches of Europe. Those of tender conscience could always justify the 

daylight robbery of so many holy relics by the comforting tradition offurta sacra or 

‘sacred thefts’. This doctrine argued that if the theft of a saint’s bones were successful, 

then this very success indicated that the saint in question had sanctioned the theft and 

clearly wished his bones to be removed and relocated wherever it was the thief wished 

to relocate them! 

But gradually the enormity of what had happened began to sink in. Pope Innocent 

began to receive more detailed reports and he was horrified by the brutality, barbarism 

and blasphemy of the sack of Constantinople. His letters to the Crusade leaders now 

bitterly denounced the bloodthirsty outrage. At the heart of his rage was the realization 

that the conquerors had divided the spoil and established a new church organization 

without any reference to him. 

The conquest of the Eastern Church should have been part of the process of 

creating the single, worldwide papal monarchy that was Innocent’s goal. Instead, 

the new Latin Patriarch in Constantinople had been appointed by Venice, not by 

Rome. The Venetians had taken over the Church of Haghia Sophia and stacked the 

cathedral staff with their own men (four of whom couldn’t even write!). 

The Pope’s Crusade had been hijacked. 

<212> 



A NEW KIND OF CRUSADE 

<■ » 

Cathars being ejected from the town of Carcassonne. The artist has portrayed them as 

pious in their nakedness, but they are plainly meant to be seen as morally dubious, 

while their attackers are shown as nonwiolent. 

< 213 > 



A NEW KIND OF CRUSADE 

<---> 

The last straw was when Innocent learnt that his legate had absolved the Crusaders 

from their vow to carry on to the Holy Land. The Crusade was meant to be an 

instrument of papal supremacy. No/one could release them except the Pope. 

The Crusade against Christians 

^\hundred years before, Urban n had told the knights of Europe that it was a 

/Vcrime to kill Christians and it was their purpose to rescue the threatened churches 

of the East. Innocent ill had no compunction about killing Christians who ‘actively 

hindered’ his purposes. His Crusade destroyed the churches of the East. 

The change became even starker four years after the sack of Constantinople when 

Innocent launched a Crusade against the Cathars — communities of Christians in 

southern France who did not accept the authority of the Pope. His language has been 

echoed by many of Europe’s violent demagogues since: 

The ingrained corruption of abominable heresy grows persistently in areas of Toulouse and 

does not cease to breed monstrous offspring... Let us apply ourselves without cease, and 

with the help of many, to enforce correction on this vile breed of people ... ulcers which do 

not respond to treatment with dressings must be cut out with the knife. Those who hold 

cheap the correction of the Church must be crushed by the arm of secular power. 

These abominable heretics believed that the material world was sinful and that the 

ideal life was one of chastity, simplicity and poverty. And they were pacifists. They 

believed that violence was wicked. No wonder a Christian Pope demanded that they 

be ‘cut out with the knife’! 

Cathari means ‘Pure Ones’. The notion that had once been associated with the 

Tafurs, that the poor and pure were the true followers of Christ, had been linked to 

the old Christian gnostic idea that the physical world was the realm of Satan. The 

Cathars developed a local church of their own in which elite believers received a 

sacrament which cut them off from this evil physical world. They toured the country/ 

side as beggars, living lives of chastity and poverty. 

By 1208 Innocent had become so inflamed by the spread of their beliefs that he 

wrote a public letter explaining that the pacifist heretics ‘are not only sharpening their 

tongues to crush our souls but they are in reality stretching out their hands to kill our bodies’. He 

called Christendom to arms against them, assuring all knights that they could seize 

the heretics’ property for themselves. Attacking the Cathars would be an act of piety, 

guaranteeing release from any sins the killers had committed, just like going on 

Crusade to the Holy Land; in fact he offered even better indulgences than for 
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going on a Crusade against Moslems. Instead of having to complete a pilgrimage to 

Jerusalem in order to have all his sins annulled, a warrior merely needed to perform 

forty days’ service against the heretics — the normal period of feudal duty! 

Papal supremacy had always been at the heart of crusading. The Crusade was a 

war on behalf of Rome. Its power to move men was intimately linked with the Pope’s 

supposed authority to unlock the gates of heaven. Under Innocent, the Crusade 

reached its natural flowering. Crusaders were the Pope’s Assassins, not individuals 

but whole armies which could be launched against any enemy he chose, in return 

not only for earthly rewards, but paradise. 

The Popes’ concept of the world was genuinely totalitarian; people should have no 

bonds to each other, only to the Church. Heresy is an expression of shared differ^ 

entness. In a culture where religion infuses every aspect of life, cultural differences are 

expressed as religious differences. A war against heresy was a war against differentness. 

Provence, Languedoc and Catalonia, where the Cathar belief was widely held 

and highly respected at every level of society, were the regions of troubadours and 

sophistication. The southern French resented the economic and political dominance 

of the northern French, whom they regarded as crude and uncultured. In this region, 

Catharism spread among noblemen and educated towmdwellers, as well as among 

the poor. When Innocent instructed the Counts of Toulouse and of Beziers — neither 

of whom were Cathars themselves - to uproot the ‘enemy’ in their midst, they flatly 

refused, and a Papal legate was killed. When the Pope then ordered the faithful to 

crusade in the land of the heretics, he was in effect ordering the northern French 

to go to war against southerners and seize their property. They responded with 

enthusiasm. 

The Cathars also challenged the Pope’s power. They did not believe that the 

sacraments were effective; they did not believe that priests or masses had any special 

powers. What mattered, in their view, was simply how you conducted yourself. 

Which meant that the Pope was an irrelevance and his claimed powers to unlock the 

gates of heaven were simply vainglorious boasting. 

Rome had sent preachers to convince them of their errors, but the arrogance of 

these preachers, who displayed the wealth of a very worldly church, was wholly 

counter/productive. Innocent began to advise preachers to behave like the heretics, 

dressing in tattered clothes and engaging in itinerant preaching and debates; thus 

were the Dominican Friars born, in an attempt to convert the Cathars back to 

Rome. The Cathars did not find it convincing. 

That was why the Pope would have to kill them all. 
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The same machinery was at work as in all Crusades: the demand of the supreme 

monarch to his liege^men, the guarantee of personal grace through putting the world 

right in arms and this time not just the chance but the certainty of plunder. In the 

spring of 1209 the Crusade army, led by the Abbot of Citeaux, began attacking 

some of the smaller towns where the pacifist heretics lived. It was easy. 

Previous calls from a Pope for a Crusade had always been to take control of the 

Eloly Land. Killing was merely incidental. But this Crusade was not a war for land; 

those who refused to convert would be liquidated. Mass murder was its only possible 

goal. Heresy was treason against God, and the Pope was God’s standdn on earth. 

'Papa est Deus’, and the penalty for denying the Pope’s power in heaven meant death, 

dispossession, and the punishment of the heretic’s heirs. 

On 22 July 1208 Beziers was attacked. ‘Ourforces spared neither rank nor sex nor age 

...’, rejoiced the Abbot of Citeaux in a letter to the Pope. ‘Thus did divine vengeance vent 

its wondrous rage. ’ An inhabitant of Toulouse, which was besieged by antLCathar 

Crusaders in 1229, saw it rather differently: ‘Rome, you do little harm to the Saracens, hut 

you massacre Greeks and Latins. In hell fire and ruin you have your seat, Rome.’ Every single 

inhabitant of Beziers was killed. It was said that when soldiers asked the Abbot how 

they could avoid killing true believers, he replied: ‘Kill them all. God will know his own.’ 

The penalty was not always death. When the Bishop of Toulouse gave a sermon 

describing the orthodox as sheep and the heretics as wolves, he was interrupted by an 

ex/heretic whose nose had been cut off and eyes put out. ‘Have you ever seen a wolf so 

bitten hy a sheep? ’ he asked. 

The south was driven into armed resistance, and the Crusade became a seemingly 

endless horror that lasted, in fact, for twenty years. ‘In what book, Rome, do you find that 

one should kill Christians?’ 

The Childrens Crusade 

Che belief in holy poverty was not limited to the Cathars. As trade increased, 

especially in northern France and western Germany, a new class of rural poor was 

created. Overpopulation, the clearance of common woodlands and wasteland for 

cultivation, the replacement of bonded servitude by wage labour and the growth of 

taxation on the poor - all these factors helped to produce a dispossessed mass. 

Increasing numbers of poor families wandered dependent on alms and casual work. 

In this situation, resentment at the wealth of the Church, and a belief that poverty 

and holiness were linked, grew easily. And the old Tafur belief, that it was the poor 
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who would save the Holy Sepulchre, surfaced and resurfaced. There was, however, 

a great difference between this concept of purity and that of the Tafurs; it included 

the idea that a true Crusade would be peaceful. The power of God would be their 

sword, they would need no other. Popular Christianity, as opposed to papal tyranny, 

looked to the humble and the innocent; that is why the legend of the Children’s 

Crusade grew up in the middle of the thirteenth century. 

Slave markets were an important feature of Islamic life, 

and the Christians of Outremer purchased and sold 

slaves too (when they were not themselves being bought and 

sold as prisoners). The final destination of many of the children 

who went on the Children’s Crusade was thought to be 

Arab slave markets. From an Arab manuscript. 
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In fact a number of separate accounts of poor people and rural ‘street children’ 

processing round Europe like hippy convoys were conflated to produce a heart' 

wrenching tale of children marching in hope to conquer Jerusalem and dying or 

being sold into slavery before they arrived. Most of these groups simply dispersed, or 

became involved in the Crusade against the Cathars; some, dressed as pilgrims, got 

down to Genoa and plainly hoped to find ships that would give them free passage to 

the Holy Land. They did not. There is a story that one group did find seven ships at 

Marseilles, but two of them sank and the other five were sailed to North Africa, where 

the passengers were sold into slavery. It is told as a story from ‘a man who knows a 

man who says 

The significance of the story is its immense appeal to the imagination of Europe, 

then and now. The revolutionary zeal that had launched the Crusades had taught 

people to see the world in moral terms. It had created a new form of tyrannical 

authority — the new Papacy — but it had also created the popular critique by which 

authority would be judged. 

The Death of Innocent Pope Innocent, having been abandoned by the Fourth Crusade, still expected the 

recovery of the Holy Sepulchre to be the crowning act in his establishment of 

papal supremacy over all the kings of Christendom. But he needed a new Crusade 

for another reason, too. So long as people were crusading, they were directly under 

his control. At the end of 1213 Innocent began to mobilize the entire population of 

Christendom in the Crusade. 

Monthly processions were held throughout Europe, calling on God to help deliver 

the Holy Land. Preachers distributed the crusading cross not just to men who could 

fight, but to the old, the blind, to children and to lepers. A kind of Ministry of 

Information was set up in the papal curia to handle campaigning. Innocent was now 

using Crusade recruitment as a device to break all the bonds that tied society together 

and replace them with a tie from each individual to the Pope. He had already decreed, 

for the Fourth Crusade, that married men no longer needed their wives’ consent to 

go on Crusade. Now he was saying that people should take the Cross without 

reference to their feudal overlords. At the same time he slammed the gates of heaven 

in the faces of those who were fighting the Cathars. Their privileges were suspended, 

so as not to distract from this new effort. 

He called a great council at the Lateran in 1215. It was the first universal Council 
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of the Latin Church — the governing body of Christendom, under the Pope, who was 

now dressed in the scarlet robes of a Byzantine emperor. There were representatives of 

every part of Christendom, including eight hundred abbots, priors and representatives 

of monastic institutions, as well as plenipotentiaries of the kings. 

Here laws were passed which authenticated the papal dictatorship. Heresy was 

legally defined and the powers of bishops to enquire into people’s beliefs and destroy 

those who did not conform were redefined. Jews were ordered to wear special clothing. 

New taxes were ordered. And the rules of the Crusade were laid down. One of the 

rules confirmed a papal decree made at the start of Innocent’s papacy, that any man 

who equipped a Crusader would receive the same indulgence as ifhe went on Crusade 

himself. The Pope saw no particular value in the act of crusading. What mattered 

was the submission to Crusade ideology. To encourage that, he was prepared to sell 

the forgiveness of sin. 

But Innocent was never to see his last Crusade. He died in 1216. The Crusades 

he launched had probably killed more people than all earlier Crusades combined. 

But not a single one of his Crusaders had entered Moslem territory. Their victims had 

all been Christians. 

The Crusade to Damietta 

Innocent may have died, but the Crusade he had initiated was all ready to go. The 

question was: where? Acre, the heart of the remaining Christian enclave called ‘the 

Kingdom of Jerusalem’, had now been fully restored as the most successful port in 

the eastern Mediterranean and enjoyed excellent relations with its Syrian neighbours. 

In fact the Latins got on far better with the Moslems than with the Syrian Christians, 

or with each other. It was a city of merchants, traders and opportunists (including 

many criminals who had been sent to the Holy Land on penitential pilgrimage). 

The ruler of Egypt, al/Kamil, also enjoyed good relations with Christians; there 

were three thousand European merchants in Egypt. But the Italian merchants had 

decided that the time had come to take control of Alexandria as Venice had taken 

Constantinople; they would use the Crusaders to do it. In 1216 they pulled out of 

Alexandria, went to Acre and waited. 

Two years later the Crusaders who had responded to Innocent’s last call arrived 

in Acre. They found their services were not really wanted there. But, they were told, 

if they were to attack Egypt they could break Ayubid power and remove the Egyptian 

fleet from the sea. Then they could take Jerusalem, couldn’t they? 
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In May the Crusaders obediently sailed for Damietta, on the eastern side of the 

Nile Delta; in August they succeeded in taking the city’s port. Saladin’s brother, ah 

Adil, who had established himself as overlord of all the lands that Saladin had ruled, 

was so shocked that he died. His son ah Kamil, who was already Lord of Egypt, 

became overall Sultan and his brother, ahMu’azzam, became the ruler of Syria. 

Around this time reinforcements arrived from France, England, Spain and Italy, 

including the papal legate, a Spanish cardinal called Pelagius. He took command of 

the siege of Damietta. 

The siege was badly organized, badly commanded, and many Crusaders quit. 

Many more died of disease. Things were no better in the besieged city and the Ayubid 

brothers decided that this war was not worth the candle. AhMu’azzam dismantled 

the walls of Jerusalem and the major fortresses of Syria, prior to a negotiated settlement. 

Then ahKamil offered the Christians the return of the whole former Kingdom of 

Jerusalem except Transjordan, for which he would pay a tribute of 30 000 bezants. 

The Crusade had achieved its notional purpose. But Pelagius had come to fight, not 

to negotiate! The siege went on. 

In August ahKamil won a battle and nearly destroyed the Christian army; he 

then made an even better offer. He would not only restore the former Kingdom, he 

would rebuild the walls of Jerusalem and return the True Cross. All he wanted was 

the right to hold Transjordan, without which he would be cut off from Syria. Again 

Pelagius said no. 

What was he playing at; A great many Crusaders were bewildered. But from a 

businessman’s perspective, Jerusalem was an irrelevance. It was economically useless. 

The whole point of this war was to take over Egypt and gain control of Alexandria, 

one of the greatest ports of the Mediterranean. 

Pelagius was the merchants’ ally in refusing the peace terms, but for very different 

reasons. For him, for Rome and for many Latins, there could never be peace with the 

‘infidel’. Jerusalem would always be in danger as long as Egypt was Moslem: in fact 

any Moslems anywhere were a threat. Crusading had become an institution and an 

ideology; whether waged against heretics or infidels, it was by its very nature endless. 

On everything else, Pelagius and the men of Acre disagreed and he was widely 

seen as pig-headed and stupid. This view was reinforced when he led his army to 

complete catastrophe. He marched towards Cairo and made camp in an area subject 

to the Nile flood. Al-Kamil destroyed the flood barriers. Pelagius found a boat and 

escaped from the waters that engulfed his army, carrying with him most of their food 

and medical supplies. 
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ALKamil was generous. He told the wreckage of the Crusade that they could 

have a five-year truce, the True Cross and their prisoners back. They must simply go 

away and stay away. But he could not eradicate the deep popular hostility to Christians. 

And when he sent for the True Cross to give it back, no-one could find it. 

Stupor Mundi 

Rome had now been humiliated twice in less than twenty years; one Crusade to the 

Holy Land had gone out of control, the next had been made to look ridiculous. 

One Frenchman, Guillaume le Clerc, wrote that ‘Because of the legate who governed and 

led the Christians, everyone says in truth, we lost that city through folly and sin... Greatly should 

Rome be humiliatedfor the loss of Damietta’. 

Not everyone shared Rome’s enthusiasm for permanent struggle against the infidel 

and the fact that a Crusade vow had a cash value (enough money to equip a soldier) 

was deeply resented. People who could never go on Crusade had been induced to 

take the Cross and then found themselves forced to pay up. 

By this means secular justice and ecclesiastical censure ruin the old, the weak, and those who 

took the Cross under prescribed conditions... This scandal has affected the preaching [of 

the Crusade] to such an extent that if they [the clergy] again preach the indulgences of 

the Cross their success is uncertain, although it is certain they shall receive various insults. 

Frederick 11, the Holy Roman Emperor and ruler of southern Italy, was, however, 

enthusiastic to go on Crusade. He had the power and the money to do it, and had 

taken the Cross at his coronation in 1215, a move which had astonished his own 

followers. Innocent had ignored him; he did not want kings on his Crusades, they 

were a challenge to his own authority. Innocent’s successor, Honorius in, however, 

decided that Frederick was just the man for the job. Pope Honorius needed a successful 

Crusade to wipe out the memory of what had happened at Damietta. Honorius was, 

with remarkable regularity, expert at misjudging people. 

Frederick was, indeed, keen to go on Crusade, but in his own fashion. He certainly 

did not subscribe to the ideology of the Popes. He did not have any ideas about 

everlasting war and the destruction of Islam. He wanted to rule in Jerusalem because 

he was the Emperor, the leader of Christendom, and Jerusalem was the magical heart 

of his universe. He would never tolerate the idea that the Pope was his sovereign, with 

rights over himself and his subjects. His appeals for recruits indicated the way he was 

thinking: ‘Remember how the Roman Emperor, in ancient days, with the help of his soldiery, 

loyal unto death, subdued the whole earth 
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Frederick was so keen that he successfully urged Pope Honorius to excommunicate 

anyone who took the vow and had not set out by 24 June 1220. Unfortunately 

Frederick himself was one of those who had not set out by 1220. He was, in fact, far 

too busy to go at all. Honorius was able to put increasing pressure on him as the 

Emperor requested delay after delay. Eventually Frederick agreed that he absolutely, 

definitely would go to rescue the Holy Land on 15 August 1227, paying for the 

whole army himself, under absolute pain of excommunication if he did not go. In 

the meantime he married the Queen of Jerusalem. 

Five months before the departure date, Honorius died. His successor, Gregory ix, 

was a much smarter character who had very serious worries about Frederick. The 

Emperor got his fleet away in mid'August and set out himself a few days later — very 

sick. He was forced back to Italy, seriously ill. Gregory promptly excommunicated 

him and, for good measure, issued a ferocious condemnation of an emperor whom 

he regarded as extremely dangerous. An excommunicant, of course, could not lead 

a Crusade. 

Frederick recovered by the spring. In the meantime an emissary had come from ah 

Kamil asking for Frederick’s help against his brother aLMu’azzam, who he believed 

was trying to seize the Sultanate from him. AFKamil offered Frederick the Holy 

City in exchange for his support. Frederick could see the opportunity for a diplomatic 

coup and set out for his Kingdom in the East. 

For the first time a Crusade was being organized by a secular ruler against the 

wishes of the Pope. Gregory was enraged and denounced him in feroci ous language. 

Frederick had challenged the very essence of his authority. But then, Frederick was a 

very odd Christian. 

It was odd to find a European ruler who spoke six languages including Arabic, 

who had read the Koran, who enjoyed philosophy and sciences. It was odd to find 

any European who put his wife in a harem, who openly enjoyed extravagant eroticism 

and who had no hesitation in making outrageous comments on morals and religion. 

He was a true product of Sicily, the cultural mix that had been created by the Norman 

conquest of the eleventh century. 

To Europeans, he was stupor mundi, the amazement of the world. 

Islamic observers, who heard him comment that while the Caliph was a descend' 

ant of the Prophet, the Pope had been found on a dung'heap, decided that he was an 

atheist. It is true that he was energetic in his persecution of heretics, but he probably 

did that for the same reason that he banned guilds and associations of townspeople - 

he did not like the idea of people making their own rules. 
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Frederick and Jerusalem 

^hen Frederick arrived at Acre he found the situation had changed. 

¥ V AbMu’azzam had died, and abKamil no longer needed his help. Frederick 

had to plead with abKamil: 7 am your friend. It was you who urged me to make this trip. The 

Pope and all the kings of the West now know of my mission. If I return empty-handed I will lose 

much prestige. For pity's sake give me Jerusalem, that I may hold my head high!’ 

AbKamil had as little interest in the Holy War as Frederick, but he was in an 

embarrassing position: 7 too must take account of opinion. If I deliver Jerusalem to you it could 

lead not only to a condemnation of my actions by the Caliph, but also to a religious insurrection 

that would threaten my throne.’It was intimated to Frederick that the only way out of the 

situation was a show of force. If abKamil were forced to give up Jerusalem in order 

to avoid bloodshed, he might save face. And so, in November 1228, Frederick 

marched at the head of his army of three thousand men and abKamil then went 

through a charade of negotiation. 

So, on 18 February 1229, Jerusalem was restored to the Franks, without a drop of 

blood being spilt. The deal was for ten years and included Bethlehem and some places 

between the Holy City and the coast. The Dome of the Rock and the abAqsa Mosque 

would remain in Moslem hands. The Holy Sepulchre was in Christian hands 

once more. 

Frederick went to Jerusalem and toured the city. The qadi of Nablus was his guide 

in the Moslem shrines and saw him eject a Christian priest who tried to enter the 

abAqsa Mosque. The next morning the qadi went to see the Emperor again. 

He said, ‘O qadi, why did not the muezzins give the call to prayer last night in the usual 

way?’‘This humble slave,’ I replied, ‘prevented them, out of regard and respect for Your 

Majesty. ’ ‘You did wrong to do that, ’ he said. ‘My chief aim in passing the night in Jerusalem 

was to hear the call to prayer given by the muezzin. ’ 

Frederick was determined to be re^crowned in the Holy Sepulchre. He was an 

excommunicant, but Frederick needed no Pope to justify his actions. He declared 

‘Behold, now is the day of salvation!’ and issued an address to the world, saying that he 

stood between God and mankind. He crowned himself in an act of messianic 

significance. It seemed to connect with mystic prophecies which spoke of the coming 

of the ‘Last Emperor’, who would win Jerusalem and unite East and West under 

his rule. 
The following day a message arrived that the Patriarch, in Acre, had laid Jerusalem 
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Frederick 11 as depicted in a thirteentlvcentury manuscript 

of his treatise on falconry. Frederick was a man of such energetic 

scholarship and encyclopaedic learning that he earned the nickname 

Stupor Mundi — the amazement of the world. Of course the name 

could equally apply to his behaviour which often shocked and 

stunned his contemporaries. 
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itself under an interdict. All divine services were forbidden in the city. It was suggested 

that Frederick was not the Last Emperor but Antichrist. 

The rage on both sides was incandescent. The Templars and Hospitallers agreed 

with the Patriarch and the Pope that the purpose of a Crusade was to shed ‘infidel 

blood, not to do deals with them. Peace was not a price worth paying for the recovery 

of the Holy Sepulchre. Religious Moslems, for their part, felt utterly betrayed by ah 

Kamil - and al-Nisir, al-Mu’azzam’s successor in Damascus, encouraged them in 

saying so. 

Frederick returned home to find that the Pope had organized an invasion of his 

realm and he had to drive out the armies drummed up for the purpose. Once he was 

gone, the merchants and barons of Acre turned the city into a self-governing 

commune, to protect themselves from his absolutist rule. Frederick had achieved 

nothing beyond exposing the true nature of the Crusade movement. It was about the 

shedding of blood and the power of the Pope. Jerusalem was now a side-show. 

Ten years later Frederick tried to extend his power over north Italy and Pope 

Gregory not only excommunicated him once more, but declared a Crusade against 

him. The same indulgences would be given to warriors against the Emperor as to 

those who defended the Holy Land. The Holy War was now being preached not 

against the ‘infidel’, not even against a heretic - no such charge was made against 

Frederick — but against a political enemy of the Pope. 

The Crusade against Frederick’s power-base of Sicily continued long after both 

he and Gregory were dead. It destroyed the civilization of Sicily and everything 

it represented. Crusading had become a system for teaching ideological war and 

intolerance. Its religious significance was hard to grasp — as many Christians bitterly 

observed. ‘Today I see sovereignty held hy the clergy hy means of robbery, treachery, hypocrisy, 

violence and preaching... They are anxious to make the world theirs.’ 
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Jerusalem without a fight, was not simply due to the usual fratricidal 

infighting. There were new invaders pressing on the Islamic world 

from the Asian steppes. The fragmentation of the Seljuk Empire, 

which opened a door in the West to the First Crusade, opened the 

Eastern door to the people of the steppes. Unlike the Seljuks, who had accepted Islam 

when they began moving west, the new peoples on the move were not Moslems. They 

were pagans and nomadic Buddhists accompanied and supported, strangely enough, 

by Christians. 

Followers of a fiftlvcentury ‘heretical’ Patriarch of Constantinople, Nestorius, 

driven out of the Roman Empire, had made their headquarters in Mesopotamia and 

conducted missionary work in India, Turkestan and China. They believed that Jesus 

was a divinely inspired teacher, more human than divine. In the 1130s a Mongol 

people from Manchuria, the Kara Khitai (Black Cathay), with an army that included 

Nestorian Christians, came westward to the region of Tashkent and Samarkand. 

Malik Shah’s son Sanjar, who was the supreme Seljuk Sultan, tried to stop them, 

and his army was crushed in 1141. 

The story of this invasion enthralled Europe, where it arrived at the same time as 

news of the fall of Edessa. The chief of the Kara Khitai was called the Gur^Khan 

which, pronounced Yur^chan, easily became ‘Johan’ — John. The story grew that an 

Oriental Christian ruler called Prester John had the power to come to the aid of the 

Christians in Palestine. 

The Gur^Khan did not fulfil their hopes. Instead, Persia was engulfed in a new 

upheaval. The Khorezm Turks, Moslem farmers in an isolated region south of the 

Aral Sea, found themselves cut off and surrounded by chaos. Their shahs responded 
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by recruiting a powerful army of pagan Turks from the steppes. Since their only 

means of subsistence was conquest, these warriors began expanding into central 

Persia. Sultan Sanjar tried to restrain them too and ended up being taken prisoner in 

1153. After Sanjar’s imprisonment and death, it was plain that Seljuk power would 

never recover. It was in this larger framework that Nur ed/Din had created a new 

Syrian/Egyptian state, and Saladin had established his Kurdish rule over it. 

The KhoreznvShah was now the barrier between the steppes and the Med/ 

iterranean - and he was a very flimsy shield. Elis largely pagan army occupied central 

Persia, living by a system of robbery aggravated by extreme bodily harm which failed 

to endear itself to the Persians. Those who lived under Khorezm rule looked for a 

liberator and found one in the next power coming from the steppes. They welcomed 

the coming of the hordes of Jenghiz Khan. 

The Golden Horde anlike any of the previous horde/movements, Jenghiz Khan’s Mongols formed a 

disciplined body under the direction of a single nomad autocrat. Lie created an 

army out of the steppe cavalry whose combination of speed, discipline and numbers 

was previously unknown and apparently irresistible. To those who tried resistance, 

they showed no mercy whatever. Always on the move, with apparently limitless 

endurance, they used huge bows with hollow/headed arrows that howled in flight 

and created terror. 

As the Mongol army advanced westward, the Khorezm/Shah’s Empire was 

savagely destroyed. Bokhara was burned; Samarkand was depopulated. Eluge cities 

simply disappeared. Desperate Khorezmian bands, thousands strong, fled into Syria, 

raiding, pillaging, and selling their services to any emir who could offer them booty. 

In 1240 the Egyptian Sultan, needing Christian allies, agreed to return to the 

Kingdom of Jerusalem all the lands that had been captured by Saladin west of the 

Jordan, as far south as Gaza, with the exception of Nablus and Transjordan. Moslem 

power in the Middle East was disintegrating and the Kingdom of Jerusalem suddenly 

reappeared without a blow being struck! But the Franks were too divided to take 

advantage of their triumph. The Templars and Hospitallers openly fought each other; 

Tyre and Acre were in a state of undeclared war. The situation was anarchic. 

In 1243 both the ruler of Damascus and the ruler of Cairo offered to withdraw 

Moslem officials from the Temple area in Jerusalem, in order to win Frankish support. 

The Franks decided to support Damascus, but did nothing to protect Jerusalem. In 
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June 1244 ten thousand Khorezmian horsemen swept down on Damascus at the 

suggestion of the Egyptian Sultan. Since they found they could not capture the city, 

and so had no booty, they rode on to Jerusalem. It was easy meat. The Christian 

population was small — only about six thousand. Three hundred Christians reached 

the coast. The rest were killed. The raiders dug up the bones of the kings, pillaged 

the houses and burned the churches, including the Church of the Eloly Sepulchre. 

When everything was gone, and Jerusalem destroyed, the Khorezmians rode on 

to join the Egyptian army at Gaza. The combined force then took on the armies of 

Damascus and Acre, and demolished them. The Kingdom of Jerusalem was back 

where it started when Frederick 11 had arrived. 

That December, the King of France, Louis ix, sick with malaria, vowed that if 

his life was spared he would set out to rescue the Holy Land. It was. He did. And 

he failed completely. 

So much for suspense. 

Saint Louis 

Che utter destruction of Jerusalem made no significant impression on Europe. There 

was no great cry of anguish, and the Pope did not even consider having a mild 

heart tremor. Jerusalem had lost its grip on the European imagination. 

Pilgrimages, however, were big business and had become well organized. There 

were two convoys a year, in spring and autumn, from Marseilles and the Italian cities, 

and these allowed pilgrims about two weeks to get from Acre to Jerusalem and back. 

Although knights made the trip as a form of crusading tourism, there was no great 

feeling that it really mattered whether Moslems or Christians actually controlled 

Jerusalem. To ordinary pilgrims, the Moslems actually seemed rather better guardians 

than the scum of Europe who had washed up at Acre: ‘They breed sons who imitate the 

crimes of their fathers, and from had parents descend worse sons, and from them the worst grand' 

children, who tread upon the holy places with polluted feet. ’ Even the Patriarch of Jerusalem 

spoke well of the Saracens, who ‘despite frequent occupation of the Christian lands, always 

maintained the holy places to the best of their ability’. 

Moslems were no longer seen as the dark evil forces they had seemed in 1095; 

poems had appeared celebrating Saladin as a noble heathen and the conflict between 

Christian and Saracen seemed to have acquired a sense of tragedy. Crusading had its 

opponents, too, among them those who argued that if God wanted Christian armies 

to defeat the Saracens, he would have seen to it by now. 
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There were, on the other hand, plenty of European Christians who believed that, 

as a broad general principle, it was their duty to destroy all other religions. King 

Louis did not take the Cross because the Turks had taken the Holy City. He took it 

because it was his solemn Christian duty to destroy Islam. He was in his mid'-thirties, 

decisive, just and honest. He was a careful organizer and utterly dedicated. To put it 

another way, he was a militant religious fanatic, and he had the power to restart the 

old Pelagian policy of war without end against the infidel. 

As usual, this was associated with attacks on Jews — but now these attacks were 

instigated by the King. He, alone among Christian monarchs, responded with 

enthusiasm to the Pope’s call to destroy Jewish books and had every available copy of 

the Talmud (the book of rabbinical legal commentaries) burned. The saintly Louis 

maintained that it was a bad idea to listen to Jews defending their religion; just give 

them ‘a good thrust in the belly as jar as the sword will go’. 

It took four years to prepare his Crusade. It was paid for by the Church and it was 

entirely an enterprise of his own Kingdom, and under his power. Frederick 11 advised 

him not to go and, when Louis insisted, Frederick warned the Egyptian Sultan. 

Egypt now controlled Syria, so Louis attacked Egypt. Once more Damietta was 

Louis i x attacking Damietta. Here, he is in the forefront 

of the assault (but where is everybody else?). From the 

fourteenth'century Chronicle of St Denis. 
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assaulted, once more it fell. Once more the Sultan offered to return Jerusalem to the 

Crusaders, once more the leader of the Crusade rejected the idea of peace. Once more 

the victorious army pressed its victory too far and was destroyed — this time not by 

floods, but by the slave-soldiers of the Sultan, the Mameluks, supported by thousands 

of volunteers. Louis himself was taken prisoner, and had to give back Damietta before 

he was released. He then tried to continue the Crusade by going on to Acre, but he 

had no army left. 

Never mind. Louis had a plan. To destroy Islam, he would employ the com 

temporary equivalent of the hydrogen bomb. He would call on the help of the 

Mongols. 

The Wrath of God 

ouis knew quite a lot about the Mongols, who had been wreaking havoc in 

^ Poland and Hungary. They withdrew from Europe in 1243 to destroy the Seljuk 

army of Rum, in central Anatolia, and turn the region into a Mongol protectorate. 

They were annihilation. But that was all right. Some of them were Christians. 

Like Cur-Khan (‘Prester John’) and his Kara Khitai, who had been destroyed 

by Jenghiz Khan, the new Mongol Empire made use of Nestorian Christians. In 

1245, the year after the Khorezmian destruction of Jerusalem, the Pope sent an 

embassy to Mongolia and in 1247, before its return, he sent another to meet a Mongol 

general at Tabriz, in north-west Persia. 

It was very clear that the Mongol Empire was not Christian, but some Mongols 

had converted and it was certainly not Moslem. When Jenghiz Khan had taken 

Bokhara, he had addressed the Moslems in their great mosque: 7 am the Wrath of God. 

If you had not been so wicked, I would not be here.’ Mongols were clearly murderous savages, 

who lived on nothing but rancid horse meat and fermented mare’s milk, and who 

were utterly pitiless, but they might still be useful. 

The first envoys returned at the end of 1247 with a report that the Mongols were 

only interested in conquest, not alliances. But the second came back with envoys from 

the Mongol General, who liked the idea of having the Moslems distracted by a 

Crusade while he destroyed Baghdad. 

In 1248, when Louis was in Cyprus waiting for the right moment to attack Egypt, 

two Nestorian Christians had visited him with the information that the Great Khan 

was ready to help our King in conquering the Holy Land and delivering Jerusalem from the hands 

of the Saracens’. Louis sent two ambassadors of his own, with gifts that included a tent- 

< 2 3 0 > 



MONGOLS AND MAMELUKS 

<--> 

chapel of rich cloth, full of small statues of Biblical figures which could be used as a 

teaching aid. Now, in 1251, his ambassadors were back. They had travelled for a 

year through the Khan’s lands to reach Mongolia, past endless vistas of destroyed 

cities and heaps of bones. When they finally presented their gifts they were told that 

the great Khan accepted them as tribute and the new vassal, the King of France, 

should send similar tribute annually. 

The Mongol Khans far outdid the Pope or the Emperor in their belief that they 

were the rulers of the universe. Anyone, they explained, anywhere in the world, who 

did not submit to their authority would be pursued and slaughtered. They meant it. 

Louis can have had no illusions about the nature of the Mongol Empire by now. 

Anyone concerned with the survival of their own civilization should have considered 

the Mongols the real threat. But Louis was not concerned with survival; his task was 

the destruction of Islam. In 1253 he heard a story that Sataq, son of the Khanate’s 

Viceroy of the West, had taken up Christianity. Louis immediately sent ambassadors 

urging the Mongols to invade Syria. They did. They were coming anyway. 

It was a well/prepared campaign. In 1253 an advance army moved into Persia, 

securing the main towns of the plateau and capturing some Assassin strongholds. 

The Assassins had killed one of Jenghiz Khan’s sons. They would be destroyed. 

Then the roads through Turkestan and Persia were repaired, bridges were built, 

carts were found to bring siege^machines and gunpowder from China. Herds were 

slaughtered to clear pasture for the horses. One thousand Chinese archers, who 

specialized in fire^arrows, were brought to supplement the great force - one fifth of 

the entire might of the Mongol confederacy. 

In January 1256, when everything was ready, the army came, led by the Great 

Khan’s son, Hulagu. His wife and his leading general were Christians. The army 

moved slowly and methodically, destroying. The Assassins of Persia were wiped out. 

Then came Baghdad. In January 1258 the army of Baghdad was annihilated; in 

February the city fell. The slaughter lasted forty days. Eighty thousand people were 

butchered. The Caliph was killed by being smothered in a carpet, but the Christians 

and their churches were left undisturbed. The Nestorian Patriarch was found and 

was presumably rather surprised to be given a royal palace as his church in the city 

of corpses. 

Louis’s dream was realized; the Christians rejoiced. If there had been any serious 

intention among the Latins to take Jerusalem, this was the moment to act. But the 

Europeans were embroiled in a civil war between Venetians and Genoese, which 

dredged up every quarrel in the whole society. 
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St Louis, shown with a halo, taken 

prisoner on his retreat from 

Mansurah to Damietta. Damietta 

was surrendered to the Mameluks in 

return for the King’s freedom. 

From a fifteentlvcentury manuscript, 

The Life and Miracles of St Louis. 
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The Mongols moved into Syria. Mosul, Aleppo and Damascus sent messages of 

submission. That did not protect them. Early in 1260 the Mongol army arrived at 

Aleppo. Aleppo tried to resist. That was a bigger mistake. The Moslems were killed; 

the Christians were spared. The army moved on to Antioch. 

Antioch was the one Latin state untouched by Saladin. It had never had a large 

population of European knights and lacked the constant flow of pilgrinvwarriors 

that maintained the Frankish colony in the Holy Land. Inevitably, Antioch had 

gradually been absorbed into the surrounding landscape, which was dominated by 

the Armenians. Its prince was the sondndaw of the King of Armenia, a man who 

had had the insight to understand the true nature ofMongol power and had personally 

gone to Mongolia to offer himself as a vassal in 1254. This demonstrated unique good 

sense; he was now in possession of a document from Hulagu’s brother saying that his 

person and kingdom were inviolate, that he was chief Christian adviser on matters 

concerning western Asia and, what’s more, that all Christian churches and mon/ 

asteries would be exempt from taxes. 

Now the Prince of Antioch made humble submission. His name was Bohemond. 

Hulagu, recognizing that the Greek Orthodox community was the largest in 

Antioch, insisted that the Latin Patriarch be replaced with a Greek one. Bohemond 

obeyed. The Franks at Acre, who seemed by now to understand very little, were 

bewildered and outraged at his subservience. Bohemond was excommunicated. It 

was gradually dawning on the Franks that the Mongols were not there to help them. 

Next came Damascus. The head of the occupying army was General Kitbuqa, 

who was a Nestorian Christian. With him came the King of Armenia and Bohemond 

of Antioch. A pagan power, with Christians carrying its banners, was carrying out 

the Crusade dream of destroying Islam. Moslem Syria no longer existed and the 

Frankish kingdom was safe - but only so long as it submitted to the Khan. This was 

not exactly what the barons of the kingdom had in mind. 

The Mameluks 

Che Franks would have inevitably been quickly devoured by the dragon they had 

been calling to for so long, but for a stroke of luck. The Great Khan died in 1259 

and Hulagu felt it prudent to move nearer to Mongolia during the inevitable succession 

crisis. General Kitbuqa was left to take care of things for a while, with only a fraction 

of the army. Before leaving, Hulagu sent an embassy to Egypt demanding that the 

Sultan become his vassal. 

< 2 3 4 > 



MONGOLS AND MAMELUKS 

<-> 

Hulagu’s ambassador to Cairo walked into a totally unexpected situation. Some' 

thing new had happened in Egypt. The Mongol ambassador met death at the hands 

of a new power that was afraid of nothing. The Mameluks had thrown off their 

masters and created a new kind of country. 

The Mameluks had been the military backbone of Egypt, men whose country was 

the army. They were Turkish slaves, bought as children in the steppes, knowing 

nothing but the life of a nomad. Once in Egypt they were educated in barracks under 

a Mameluk sergeant who became, in effect, their father. They were converted to Islam 

and given a name. Since they no longer had a real father they all bore the same 

patronym, Ibn Abdullah, ‘son of Abdullah’ (Mohammed’s father). They were freed 

when they reached arms'bearing age and then they could rise to any position (and 

expected senior posts). They could often hardly speak Arabic. They could marry, 

but their children could not be Mameluks. Their children were Moslems, and therefore 

not enslavable, but more importantly, they were unsuitable because they had not been 

weaned in the wild steppes and then removed from everything they knew. The 

Mameluk system needed a constant supply of freshly bought children. 

In the 1240s, when the Khorezmians were rampaging, the Egyptian Sultan 

had refined and developed the system; fearful of his relatives, he completely sur' 

rounded himself with Mameluk guards. In the world of Moslem politics, the 

Mameluks’ personal loyalty to their commander was a precious treasure. But it was 

such a very personal loyalty that when the Sultan died his Mameluks had to be 

replaced. 

The Sultan had died during the campaign against Louis. But before his successor 

could do the traditional thing and replace them, the Mameluks had realized that they 

were now numerous and powerful enough not to be replaced. They killed the new 

Sultan and took over. 

The Mameluks were a war machine running a kingdom. And now they had 

someone to fight. The Mongol ambassador was killed and the Mameluk army moved 

north. It was directed by the Mameluk Sultan, Kutuz ibn Abdullah, and in the van 

marched the man who had struck the first blow at the Ayubid Sultan, Baibars ibn 

Abdullah. In between there were thousands of them — all called Ibn Abdullah. 

The Franks decided to let the Mameluk army pass unmolested through their 

territory. They were going to enjoy being spectators in a struggle between Titans. The 

Mameluks went to Acre and when they heard that the Mongols had crossed the 

Jordan, they set out to meet them. The Mameluks had the greater numbers and most 

of them remained out of sight while Baibars attacked. When he retreated again. 
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the Mongol army pursued him and ran straight into the trap. The Mongols were 

obliterated. 

This battle, which took place at Ain Jalut, the Pools of Goliath, ended the Mongol 

threat to Islam. The Mongols had never before been defeated in a significant battle 

and as the Mameluks went on to take Damascus and Aleppo, they became a power 

that the Mongols would never be able to challenge successfully. And they were soon 

to be led by a leader every bit as ruthless as Jenghiz Khan. 

Opposite Jenghiz Khan’s army, shown here storming 

through the mountains into China, before turning its 

attentions westward. 

Below Even the Mongols were no match for the Mameluks — 

the slavey-warriors of Egypt. This fourteentlvcentury Mameluk 

manual on horsemanship belongs to an extensive Islamic 

literature on the science of warfare. European cavalry fought 

quite differently, with saddles that gripped the rider to 

sustain the shock of direct impact. 
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Sultan Baibars Saibars asked if he could be Governor of Aleppo and Sultan Kutuz said no. Baibars 

then killed him. When the Mameluk army returned to Cairo, it marched back 

under the command of Sultan Rukn ad^Din Baibars Bundukdari ibn Abdullah. 

The Mameluk state was a kind of military occupation. Only Mameluks could be 

Men of the Sword. Men of the Pen (the civil administration) and Men of the Turban 

(the religious and legal establishment) were nomMameluks and were subject to 

regular inspection. 

The Frankish kingdom was doomed. Lacking numbers, it had put its faith in 

thick walls. But the siege engines of the thirteenth century were not the puny objects 

of the First Crusade. They were now heavy artillery, hurling quarteMon missiles, 

and they were available in numbers. 

In 1265 it began. First was Caesarea. Baibars took it and dismantled it completely. 

Then Haifa. Those who did not escape were massacred and once more the town and 

citadel were taken apart. Arsuf was smashed; the commander surrendered on a 

promise that the survivors would go free. The promise was a lie. The Franks now 

held nothing south of Acre except for Jaffa (held by John oflbelin, who had excellent 

relations with the Moslems) and an immensely strong fort on the shore at Atlit. 

Baibars returned to Egypt. 

The next year it was the turn of Safed, the huge Templar castle that dominated 

upper Galilee. The Templars surrendered when they were told they could return 

safely to Acre. They were beheaded. Toron, on the coast, fell without resistance. 

Then Baibars marched south, killing every Christian he encountered. A second 

Mameluk army meanwhile moved into Cilicia. They returned to Aleppo with forty 

thousand prisoners, having removed Cilicia from the political map. 

In 1267 Baibars moved to Acre, but he had not brought enough siege equipment 

to break through the walls. When the Franks asked for a truce they arrived at the 

castle of Safed to find it completely encircled with the skulls of Christian prisoners. 

Baibars had a nasty sense of humour. 

In Europe, Louis 1 x tried to set up a rescue Crusade, while the good people of 

Acre returned to trying to kill each other in the hope of controlling the trade of the 

port. Much of that trade was, as you might guess, with Baibars. The Venetians were 

selling him military supplies (importing timber and iron from northern Europe for 

his siege machines), while the Genoese handled the slave trade. They were doing all 

this under licence from the High Court at Acre! 
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The End of the Kingdom 

In 1268 Baibars struck again. John of Ibelin had died and the Mameluks took Jaffa 

to pieces. The better bits of the castle became part of a new mosque in Cairo. Next 

was the castle ofBeaufort, where the Templars were enslaved, but women and children 

were allowed to retreat to Tyre. Was Baibars going soft? No. 

It was time to deal with Antioch. He split his army into three, one part taking the 

port of St Symeon, one covering the mountain pass to Cilicia and the third knocking 

down the wall and walking in. The gates of the city were then locked and everyone 

in it either killed or made prisoner and taken away. Antioch has never recovered. 

Bohemond was at Tripoli, so Baibars ordered his biographer, Ibn Abdazzahir, to 

drop him a note: 

Our purpose here is to give you news of what we have just done, to inform you of the utter 

catastrophe that has befallen you ... You would have seen your knights prostrate beneath the 

horses' hooves, your houses stormed by pillagers and ransacked by looters... You would have 

seen the crosses in your churches smashed, the pages of the false Testaments scattered, the 

Patriarch's tombs overturned. You would have seen your Moslem enemy trampling on the 

place where you celebrate the mass, cutting the throats of monks, priests and deacons upon 

the altars... Since no survivor has come forward to tell you what happened, we have informed 

you of it, and since no one is in a position to give you the good news that you have saved your 

life at the loss of everything else, we bring you the tidings in a personal letter. 

Years of Christian crusading had finally produced this monstrosity: a Moslem state 

run by ex/slaves who had learnt to be the mirror/image of the enemy they fought and 

whose pleasure in destruction and slaughter was the exact image of the delight the 

Crusaders themselves had once taken in butchering Moslems. 

Saladin may have been a model of Islamic moderation, and may have taught the 

West the meaning of chivalry. Baibars was a model of religious fanaticism and the 

Franks had been his teacher. He continued with his programme of demolition, now 

taking on the formidable fortifications of the Krak des Chevaliers. Modern siege/ 

engines made short work of it. 

Acre would survive until the Mameluk Sultan decided to destroy it. Baibars died 

in 1277 and the final attack did not come for fourteen years. When it did, the Sultan 

brought more siege/engines than had ever been gathered before at one place. The 

walls of Acre had been rebuilt. Women, children and old men were shipped off to 

Cyprus if they could afford the fare. Some thousand mounted men, fourteen thousand 

foot/soldiers and thirty thousand non/combatants prepared to meet their fate. 
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There were said to be one thousand Moslem engineers allocated to the destruction 

of each of the city’s towers. The final assault came six weeks after the siege began. 

Acre was smashed to pieces, so that it could never again be used as a Frankish base. 

Babies were killed; women who had surrendered were massacred; prisoners were 

beheaded. No/one knows how many died or were enslaved. 

By the middle of August 1291 there was not a single building in Palestine held by 

the Franks. Then the whole coast was completely stripped of buildings and vegetation. 

The Franks disappeared. And the native Christians, whose cause had been so trunv 

peted by Pope Urban in 1095 and whose tragedy had moved his hearers to go on 

Crusade, were now the victims of a Moslem religious zealotry that had not existed 

before. 

Six years after the fall of Acre the Pope declared that King Louis 1 x, who had 

died crusading to wipe Islam from the face of the earth, was a saint. Ten years later 

Dante Alighieri began writing the Divine Comedy; he placed Frederick 11, whose 

Crusade had won Jerusalem without a war, in Hell. 

In Mongolia, the terrible monsters who had spawned Jenghiz Khan, the selFstyled 

Wrath of God, turned their backs on the West and became Buddhist pacifists. They 

still are. 

Crusaders, their crosses stripped from them and trampled 

underfoot, are led away into captivity. 
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